OK1TXT_1.PM6

OKLAHOMA CITY
DAY ONE

'z .
e
=Y
l .

_@_ 7/29/96. 8:46 AM




2 & Oklahoma City: Day One

OK1TXT_1.PM& 2

®

PHOTO BY [OHN JENKINS

7/29/96, 8:46 AM



OKLAHOMA CITY

DAY ONE

A Detailed Account of the
Bombing of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
April 19, 1995

Michele Marie Moore

With a Foreword by
William Cooper

b
282
-

%E;.
l
Published by

The HarvestTrust
Eagar

OK1TXT_1.PM6 3 é 7/29/96, 8:47 AM




OKLAHOMA CITY: DAY ONE

A Detailed Account of the Bombing of the Alfred P Murrah Federal Building
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

April 19, 1995
by Michele Marie Moore, with a foreword by William Cooper

© Copyright 1996 by The Harvest Trust

FIRST EDITION

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted,
or translated in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, includ-
ing photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval
system, except for inclusion of brief quotations in a review, without permis-
sion in writing from the publisher.

This is number of a 500-copy limited and signed First Edition.

Editing by Margaret Pinyan
Typography and Design by Sara Benjamin-Rhodes

Published by
The Harvest Trust
PO. Box 1970
Eagar, Arizona 85925 USA

O
N

-
- -

%

ISBN 0-9653301-9-6 (acid-free paper)
Library of Congress Catalog Card Number 96-77483

Printed in the USA
with vegetable-based inks on acid-free recycled paper

OK1TXT1H.PM6 4 é 8/1/96, 4:25 PM




Another parable put he forth unto them, saying, The kingdom of
heaven is likened unto a man which sowed good seed in his field;

‘But while men slept, his enemy came and sowed tares among the
wheat, and went his way.

“But when the blade was sprung up, and brought forth fruit, then
appeared the tares also.

“So the servants of the houscholder came and said unto him, Sir;
didst not thou sow good seed in thy field? From whence then hath
it tares?

“He said unto them, An enenry hath done this. The servants said
unto him, Wilt thou then that we & and gathrr them up?

‘But he said, Nay; lest while ye gathcr up the tares, ye root up also
the wheat with them.

“Let both grow together until the harvest; and in the time of harvest
1 will say to the reapers, Gather ye together first the tares, and bind
them in bundles to burn them, but gather the wheat into my barn.”

— Matthew 13:24-30
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DEDICATION

This book is dedicated to the memory of my grandfather

JAMES ELTON WATKINS
December 14, 1895-October 29, 1990

a veteran of World War I
and the greatest patriot I have ever known.

He was never ashamed of loving and supporting his country
or of standing with and for his God.

Always aware of the true state of the nation,
he taught me about political realities when I was but a child
and strongly believed that a knowledge of history
would open many doors to understanding current events.

He was our family patriarch
and loved us unconditionally all his life.
I love him unconditionally to this day.

Because he would have instantly grasped
the meaning and consequence of this tragedy,
the bombing of the Alfred P Murrah Federal Building
would have irreparably broken his heart.

For that reason,
1 am thankful he did not live to see it.

w 13 ¢
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¥ FOREWORD

Oklaboma Cily: Day One has been a joint effort of many people directly
under the supervision of Major Michele Marie Moore. It is the initial results
of the investigation by the Intelligence Service of the Second Continental
Army of the Republic, Militia, of the bombing of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal
Building in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma on April 19, 1995.

The Intelligence Service does not wear uniforms, drill with firearms, or run
around in the woods. It is recommended that our people own and be pro-
ficient with firearms of all types. They must be prepared to fulfill their
mission under any and all situations, including—if necessary—Iliving on the
ground in the woods. No people can survive in this world unless they have
men and women who are prepared to give their lives, if necessary, in sup-
port of certain principles and ideals; and those people cannot survive
without timely and accurate information. Our mission is to gather, by any
and all legal and lawful means, information from all sources, and provide for
the free flow of information to the whole of the People, the Militia of the
several States of the Union.

Most of those who took great risks, contributed their own money, volun-
teered time and effort to seek out and gather the truth of the Murrah
Federal Building bombing cannot be identified. To do so would put them at
even greater risk; to do so would compromise their ability to function as
intelligence officers in any future endeavor. They have pledged their lives,
their fortunes, and their sacred honor in support of Freedom. Without them
this investigation would have produced nothing. Without them the master
of deceit might have been successful. Their service has been in the highest
tradition of all those who have gone before.

Michele Marie Moore is a remarkable woman. She entered my life through
e-mail asking if she could be of some help. No matter what I said or did, she
would not go away. Eventually I assigned her the task of transcribing tapes
of The Hour of the Time into text files for the online computer database. At
some point she became a member of the Intelligence Service, executed her
Oath of Allegiance, and was assigned to intelligence gathering. She excelled.
In the last two years she has risen from Lieutenant to Major and has been
recommended for a position on the command staff. Michele has demon-
strated that she is a natural leader, intelligent, loyal, dedicated, and very
talented. She is unassuming and sometimes shy. If you asked her to

W 17 @
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describe herself she will tell you that she is “just an opinionated female.” 1
have seldom found that to be true, although she will not budge on an issue
if she believes that she is right—a trait that I also possess.

It must be recognized that no matter how dedicated and resourceful Major
Moore has been, she could never have accomplished much without the
physical and emotional support of her husband and daughter. Her husband,
another Intelligence Service officer, has an uncanny ability to fulfill any
mission assigned. Some crucial data was obtained by him. He also func-
tions as security for his wife, who is one of our most valuable assets. Her
daughter has taken on many extra chores and readily accepted some hard-
ships to which she was not accustomed. In the midst of all this turmoil, the
Moore family has grown stronger and more supportive of each other than
ever before. They serve as a fine example for all of us to follow.

Oklaboma City: Day One is as complete as humanly possible. It is only
lacking in a historical perspective. That history must be provided for the
reader to fully understand the full meaning and consequences of the bomb-
ing of the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building.

Many centuries ago the Roman senator Cicero implemented a plan to
invoke the ultimate decree of the senate, a declaration of martial law which
would permit summary execution of “Outlaws” and the suspension of
provocatio, the ancient right of appeal to the people in capital cascs.

Cicero claimed Rome’s enemy was within. He used slogans such as: “The
plot against Liberty; pernicious designs of nefarious citizens; seditious plots
against the present form of government; passionate men, always disposed
for violence, ready for revolution.”

Cicero fostered “an atmosphere of prejudice and hysteria in which any pro-
posal for the reinforcement of constitutional rights would be denounced as
a cover for conspiracy” Rome’s constitutionists were assassinated or exiled;
the followers of the “most dangerous” were massacred. Cicero warned
against patriots and veterans who “would not excel as farmers” that might
take up arms against the senate. A law forbade anyone carrying arms
within the gates of Rome.

When no real subversives could be found, Cicero or his confederates would
hire thugs to attack and beat citizens. Those attacked were considered
sacrifices for the greater good of the Empire. If the political opposition was
particularly strong, a government building or a temple might be sacked and
burned. There was said to be a “new order”

The Romans were great propagandists, fooling themselves and their slaves
into believing Rome represented the defender of liberty, justice, and peace
for the world. Citizens of Rome felt they were an elite class of humanity.

Arthur Kahn wrote in his Julius Caesar,“Cicero adopted the prophetic
magniloquence of the newly popular eastern mystical cults which preached

OKITXT_1.PM6 18 $ 7/29/96, 8:47 AM




OK1TXT_1.PMé

Foreword % 19

an eternal war of ‘the armies of light against the forces of darkness' and
promised initiates eternal happiness after death through the grace of divine
redeemers.” Cicero, it appears, was “illumined.”

The German National Socialist Worker’s Party, or Nazis, promoted mysticism
and lectured about “the armies of light against the forces of darkness” The
5SS required the candidate be given an occult education at an isolated castle,
culminating in the officer’s initiation into the “new religion.”

When Herr Hitler could not muster enough votes to control Germany, he
burned the Reichstag, Germany’s congress. He labeled his political enemies
responsible and rounded up his opposition literally overnight. By this
method, Hitler seized power over all Germany.

Hitler spoke of a “new order of the world” To confidants he whispered of
spirit visitors. The Jews became the enemy within the gates. The Japanese
Ambassador, noting how well the “enemy within” worked upon the German
people, is said to have commented,”] wish we had some Jews in Japan.” The
1938 gun laws disarmed the German people. The Nazis were also masters
of propaganda.

The same scenario is presenting again. The ancient mystery religion has
risen like the Phoenix and taken wing in the so-called fraternal orders and
the New Age movement. President Clinton speaks of an eternal war of “the
armies of light against the forces of darkness.” Hillary was recently discov-
ered performing seances in the White House where she communicated
with “spirit guides.” There is a “new world order”

When the administration wanted an Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill, the
World Trade Center in New York City was bombed. The terrorists used fer-
tilizer and a Ryder rental truck. It was later revealed during their trial that
they were working for the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The FBI taught
them how to make the bomb. The FBI taught them how to drive the truck.
When the culprits wanted to substitute inert ingredients so as not to injure
or kill anyone, the FBI denied their request and insisted they use the real
thing. The FBI in their usual thorough fashion recorded everything on tape.
It was introduced at the trial and a transcript was printed verbatim in the
New York Times.

When the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill languished in Congress with no
hope of passage, the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City was
bombed. Those accused supposedly used a Ryder rental truck and a fertil-
izer bomb. The President spoke of “those who have sacrificed.” A year of
lies and propaganda followed, along with gun control legislation on a mas-
sive scale. It has been discovered that, before the bombing, the Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms was performing experiments blowing up
trucks in the New Mexico desert with fertilizer bombs.

The Antiterrorism legislation passed into law, giving government almost the
same powers Cicero sought and Hitler realized. Once again, a Republic is

19 é 7/29/96, 8:47 AM
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moving to oligarchy, then to dictatorship. The American people, as the
Romans, as the Germans, haven'’t a clue,

Michele Marie Moore didn't just write about this nightmare; she experi-
enced it, she lived it, and that fact will quickly become obvious to the
reader. She takes us upon a journey that we will never forget. She
untangles the web and guides us through wave after wave of horror and
deception, all the while never failing to deliver the truth. As Director of the
Intelligence Service, I know all that is included in the book and much more;
but even so I find myself unable to leave it. I read and reread incessantly.

I am no literary expert. The very best that I can think of to say about Okla-
homa City: Day One is that ... it is the truth. Omnia vincit veritas.

— William Cooper

Director, Intelligence Service

Second Continental Army of the Republic, Militia
Eagar, Arizona

June 25,1996
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Oath of Allegiance

I do affirm with free will and full knowledpe that 1 will
carry out 1o the best of my ablsty 21l legal and bwful
instructions of the Officers of the Intelligence Service
And thul | wall gather by any and all legal and tawful
means information from all saurces. 1 will provide for the
free flow of information to the whole of the People, the
Mititia of the several States of the Unton. IF required [ will
Protect and Defend the Constitution of my State, Execute
the Laws of the Uniom, suppress msamection, and repel
invasion. | will Proteet and Defend the Constitutson for
the United States of America from all enemies foresgn and
domestic. For the support of this cath, with a finm reliance
o the pratection af divine Frovidence, [ Pledge my life,
tey Fortuse, asd my Sacred Honos

Signed Dale
State/Republic
Caumty

Before me, the usdersipned, & notary public within and for
the said county and State, persomally appeared and sware
of affirmed this Oath in my presence. Witness nyy hand
anx notarial seal this day of 199

My Commission expires
Signature

w 21 @
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Oath of the Intelligence Service
Second Continental Army of the Republic, Militia

I do affirm with free will and full knowledge that I will carry
out to the best of my ability all legal and lawful instructions of
the Officers of the Intelligence Service. And that I will gather
by any and all legal and lawful means information from all
sources. I will provide for the free flow of information to the
whole of the People, the Militia of the several States of the
Union. If required I will Protect and Defend the Constitution of
my state, Execute the Laws of the Union, suppress insurrection,
and repel invasions. I will Protect and Defend the Constitution
of the United States of America from all enemies foreign or
domestic. For the support of this oath, with a firm reliance on
the protection of Divine Providence, I Pledge my life, my

Fortune, and my Sacred Honor.
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Aerial photograph taken April 26, 1995
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* INTRODUCTION ¢

“Human blood is heavy; the man that has shed it cannot run away”

Those words ... At first they had been nothing more than a quietly passing
thought, the barely discernible voicing of an ancient proverb. Initially, they
had served as the dismal acceptance of the overwhelming events of that
day, an acknowledgment of the evil that had come upon us.

But now the day was over. Long over. Hours before, midnight had come
and gone, a chill had settled, and the air was unnaturally damp and oppres-
sive. The sticky heat of the afternoon had been swept away by a sharp,
bone-chilling northern blast that rushed through the city shortly before sun-
set, bringing unwanted rain and high winds. Threatening clouds, hanging
low and thick in the southwest, and distant lightning had warned of contin-
ued gloom.

The whole world seemed to shudder that night. But how could you avoid
it? After all, human blood is heavy ...

That night should have been the first vibrant blush of wild prairie spring.
Oklahoma April! It should have been a time both tranquil and fragrant with
the scent of newly blooming iris and daffodils, a peaceful hour that should
have carried the fragile perfume of honeysuckle on the prevailing southern
breeze. It should have been a night for throwing open the windows after
the bundling of winter and drifting sleepily into the late hours on thoughts
of starlight and beauty.

But you see, human blood is heavy ...

It had been eighteen hours since the Alfred P Murrah Federal Building in
Oklahoma City had exploded in an instant of carefully orchestrated horror
and terror. Already it was evident that deceptions deliberately and meticu-
lously rehearsed were being given their first performances for an
unsuspecting, shocked, and numbed audience. Already a multitude of con-
tradictions had been revealed, altered, denied, and disguised. Already a
quickly manufactured blanket of disinformation had been thrown over the
disaster by players who did not even realize they were performing in the
drama. And from some inner place of spiritual strength and personal con-
viction, I knew that this situation could not be allowed to stand
unchallenged. Human blood is heavy; the man that has shed it cannot run
away.
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Those words ... Throughout the day, those words had increased in intensity
and fervor in my mind, and just then, in that cold darkness between days, [
was hearing them at full volume. No longer were they merely the miserable
acquiescence of helplessness in the face of so great a trauma and disaster.
No longer were they the impotent sigh of hope against hope that someday
someone might solve the mystery of who was responsible for these mul-
tiple acts of wanton murder. No longer was I content to remain silent and
motionless while my homeland became the sacrificial altar and my country-
men the hapless victims in a highly ritualized political execution.

Those words had become my force of will.
w\¢ ¢\

There was no contemplative silence that night. For many hours, the atmo-
sphere of my home had been a confused jumble of sounds. Television, local
radio, police-scanner reports, and shortwave broadcasts were all simulta-
neously transmitting the news of the same event. Every available audio
cassette deck was in use. Every boombox was recording a different local
radio station, isolated in a closed bedroom or closet. The video recorder
was rolling tape, preserving information from different visual news sources.
The fax machine was in operation, the computer word processor was never
far from my fingertips, and always there was the ringing telephone, even
into that late and desperate hour.

At that moment, exhausted and shivering in the unseasonable coldness, belt-
ing back yet another cup of coffee, I knew that the possibility of sleep was
out of the question. I was not so much sleepy as emotionally drained. My
husband and I continued working throughout the night and into the next
day, planning for an uncertain future and collecting the initial information
that would later assist in the separation of truth from the official story.

So much vital and revealing information was broadcast during the first
thirty-six hours after the explosions—information that might consist of
nothing more than a passing glance at a significant piece of the rubble of
the building, a full-face shot that identified an individual walking before the
camera who should not have been there, or an unintentionally telling
remark made by a witness or an expert. Important audio information was
recorded from reports made by eyewitnesses at the scene, much of which
would later be vigorously denied by federal officials. Some of that informa-
tion would vanish completely alter the first day, never again to be repeated
over the airwaves. In later stages of the investigation some of the witnesses
and journalists who broadcast those reports denied ever making the state-
ments that had been recorded in their own voices.

But all of these minute details would have to wait for another day of sorting
and careful thought. The important thing at that particular moment was to
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stay totally focused on the collection of information of local origination. It
required intense concentration due to the large number of sources being
recorded simultaneously, but more importantly, it required me to be fully
conscious—and my eyes were burning with fatigue. I poured another cup
of coffee, cut the bitterness with a generous dollop of milk, stretched long
and hard in the hope of forcing wakefulness into my bones, and returned to
the living room to monitor the course of events.

The need to focus inwardly and grieve was not to be given rein at this time.

The intense desire to shut out the noise and withdraw into my own private

haven of safety and security could not be indulged. Human blood is heavy
. and its weight is a call to service.

As a member of the Intelligence Service of the Militia of the Second Conti-
nental Army of the Republic, I had a clearly defined duty to perform, the
importance of which could not be underestimated. I was sworn upon my
sacred oath to “gather by any and all legal and lawful means information
from all sources ... [to] provide for the free flow of information to the
whole of the People, the Militia of the several States of the Union.” This was
my responsibility, and I would perform it to the best of my ability, to my last
dying breath.

While tracking the video tapes, flipping the audio cassettes, and monitoring
the police scanner with my husband, I reviewed in my mind the fearsome
facts of that first day: April 19, 1995.
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Chapter 1 —

MORE THAN THE WISEST MAN CAN
ANSWER

April 19, 1995: A Shock to America’s Heartland

I first heard about the explosions that destroyed the Alfred P. Murrah Federal
Building while drinking my morning coffee. A friend had telephoned to
make certain that my husband was not working in downtown Oklahoma
City that Wednesday morning. I assured him that my husband was right
there in the house,and asked why he was so concerned. It was then that he
told me what had happened. Finding himself unable to adequately describe
what had occurred or to answer the barrage of questions I asked, he finally,
with an odd resignation in his voice, told me to turn on the television for
full coverage of the disaster. He said it was the only way I was going to
understand. His utterly serious tone and uncharacteristic speechlessness
about the details was enough to alarm me. He encouraged us to pray.

Before the telephone receiver ever left my hand, I called frantically to my
husband to quickly turn on the television so we could see what was going
on. Rushing into the living room to see for myself, I stopped dead in my
tracks at the scene before me. A single glance sent me bounding back to my
desk to telephone a report to my commanding officer, William Cooper (See
Appendix A).

I knew it was still quite early in Arizona where he lived—two hours earlier
than in Oklahoma—but this was a situation of such magnitude and with so
many potentially dangerous consequences that I decided not to wait until a
more reasonable hour to break the news. I was shaking as I dialed the num-
ber. During my telephone conversation my husband continued monitoring
the television news reports.
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The telephone in Arizona rang only twice, and Mr. Cooper’s wife Annie
answered. I identified myself, asked for Bill, and told her it was an emer-
gency. In the background I could hear her urgently rousing him from sleep.
Bill took the receiver and at first sounded a bit groggy, still half asleep; but
the instant he knew what had happened, he became fully alert and gave me
his undivided attention. I again identified mysclf, apologizing for calling so
early in the morning, and told him I thought he should know what had
occurred here. Much like the friend who had first notified me, I suddenly
found myself incapable of fully describing the event. I glanced once more
at the pictures on the television screen. How could such gut-wrenching
information be conveyed? My shocked mind was going into a verbal shut-
down, and after a moment of struggling to find any words at all, I blurted
out,“Bill, somebody just blew up the Federal Building in Oklahoma City. The
building looks like the whole front of it has been sliced off and a big chunk
cut out. A lot of people have been injured and probably many are dead. Just
go turn on your TV. Get something on the satellite feed. The coverage is
live everywhere.” I'm sure I sounded a bit hysterical—I was a bit hysterical.

There had been multiple explosions. The video reports of the disaster
showed extreme asymmetrical damage: the front of the building, facing
north, had been blown outward and at the far east end a large, rounded
section of the interior, which had collapsed vertically upon itself, was now
nothing more than a confused pile of rubble, dust, debris, and blood two
stories high.

At first there were two columns of smoke, one coming from the building,
and the other, larger column of black smoke boiled upward from the park-
ing lot across the street on the north side of NW 5™ Street, where many
automobiles were burning. Several eyewitnesses would later report seeing
a mushroom cloud of smoke rising from the building. There was not yet any
information about the number of dead or injured, only frightened and
shocked speculations offered by the news media.

Firefighters were already on the scene, extinguishing the burning cars and
initiating the rescue operation. The streets were filling with the dazed and
bloodied walking wounded, who staggered out of the rubble of the Federal
Building and the wreckage of other damaged buildings in the area.

Friends and relatives of government and civilian workers in the Murrah
Building came running from their offices nearby. Some were crying
hysterically as they scarched for their loved ones; others rushed into the
dangerously unstable remains of the building and began extracting the
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Medical personnel began pouring into the area, and many unnamed civilian
heroes joined the medical, police, and fire-rescue workers to save as many
of those still living as was humanly possible. The scene on television was
graphically tragic and violent, dreadful and compelling. It was painful to
watch, yet it was impossible to look away.

All of this information was streaming into my living room as I made my
sketchy report to Cooper. At that moment nothing conclusive could be
relayed other than that the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma
City was, quite simply, gone.
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PHOTO BY JOHN JENKINS
Murrah Building as photographed from above and behind the damaged roof of the Athenian
Restaurant and the Water Resources Board Building. Note shock-wave structural damage to
the corner of WRB Building, lower center of the photograph, to the right of the traffic signal.

The Building’s Namesake

The Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building, located at 200 NW 5™ Street, was
originally called the GSA Building and was later named for a circuit court
judge of distinguished reputation.

Alfred Paul Murrah had been born in Johnston County, Oklahoma, on Octo-
ber 27, 1904. The son of George Washington and Nora (Simmons) Murrah,
Alfred received his LL.B. from the University of Oklahoma in 1927. He
became a member of the Oklahoma Bar in 1928 and married Agnes Milam
on June 29, 1930. Together they had three children: Ann, Paul, and Sue.
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During the 1930s, Alfred Murrah was active in Democratic Party politics
and helped coordinate the Young Democrats Organization. With his school
buddies, Luther Bohannon and Roy Savage (known together as “the Rover
Boys™, Murrah helped engineer the triumphal 1936 United States Senate
campaign of Joshua Bryan Lee, his former speech professor at the University
of Oklahoma.

From 1937 to 1940 Murrah served as a U.S. District Court judge,and in 1940
became a judge for the U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals, 10" Judicial Circuit,
where he served for many years, later as Chief Judge. He earned his LL.D.
from Oklahoma City University in 1954.

In 1947, as one of a three-judge panel ruling on an appeals case, Murrah
helped open the doors of Oklahoma University to black students when he
ordered that George W. McLaurin, whose law-school application had been
denied solely on the basis of race, be allowed to attend classes at the
Oklahoma University College of Law.

Always active in civil-rights cases, Murrah found himself again working with
his long-time school friend Luther Bohannon, who had become a federal
judge in his own right. When the school busing issue came before the
courts, it was Judge Bohannon's ruling that changed Oklahoma City public
schools from the neighborhood concept and brought about the policy of
busing students to achieve integration and racial balance—a decision that
remained controversial for decades.

Judge Murrah, a Methodist, served as a trustee for Southern Methodist
University in Texas, and in 1954 received the Distinguished Service Citation
from Oklahoma City University and the Hattom W. Summers Award. In his
later years he served as the executive director of the administration office
of the Federal Judicial Center in Oklahoma City.

Murrah was a member of the American Bar Association, the Oklahoma Bar
Association, the Order of the Coif, Lambda Chi, Phi Alpha Delta, and was a
32™ Degree Freemason of the Southern Jurisdiction of the Scottish Rite.
Murrah passed away in 1975 and is buried in the northwest corner of the
Fairlawn Cemetery located at 2700 N. Shartel in Oklahoma City.

The Building’s Occupants and Description

The building that would eventually bear Murrah’s name had been designed
under the direction of James Loftis and had been a joint architectural ven-
ture between the firms of Shaw Associates and Locke, Wright and Foster.
The structural engineer was Ed Kirkpatrick. The building was designed in
the late 1960s and early '70s, and the ground-breaking ceremony took place
in 1974. Construction, completed in March 1977, had taken eighteen
months and had cost $13.2 million. The building was dedicated the follow-
ing October.

Within the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building were the offices for the follow-
ing government agencies and departments:
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the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms [BATF];
the Defense Department Investigative Service Field Office;

the Department of the Army Oklahoma City Recruiting Company
Headquarters;

the Drug Enforcement Administration [DEA];

the Federal Employees Credit Union;

the General Accounting Office [GAO];

the General Services Administration [GSA];

the Social Security Administration;

the U.S.Air Force [USAF];

the U.S. Customs Service;

the U.S. Department of Agriculture;

the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development [HUD];
the U.S. Department Lab;

the U.S. Department of the Treasury, Secret Service;

the U.S. Government Department of Transportation, Federal Highway
Administration;

the U.S. Government Office of Health and Human Services;

the U.S. Government Office of Personnel Management;

the U.S. Labor Department Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training;
the U.S. Marine Corps Recruiting Station and Officer Selection Office;
the U.S. Small Business Administration;

the Veterans Administration [VA];

the offices of several federal judges; and

the America’s Kids Day Care Center.

Although the Murrah Federal Building was described by the media as a
nine-story structure, it actually had thirteen stories—four of which were
underground—and included several levels of underground parking.
According to James Loftis, head of the building’s design team, two-thirds of
its square footage was underground. It had 107,000 square feet of office
space, 196,000 square feet of storage, and 11,750 square feet of “special
space,” which included bathrooms and a cafeteria—for a total of 315,000
square feet. Originally, the underground parking garage had been built with
a 10,000-gallon gasoline reservoir and pump, but fortunately, the reservoir
had been filled with sand.

Following the explosions, all that remained of the exterior, aboveground
structure were the shattered east, south, and west walls. The north front
wall—a curtain wall constructed primarily of steel-reinforced concrete,
glass, and aluminum—had been blown fifty yards to the north across NW 5%
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Street. The flying rubble had crashed into the south side of the Journal
Record Building, falling into a mangled heap piled onto the sidewalk and
parking lot.

PHOTO BY JOHN JENKINS
Damage to the southeast corner of the Journal Record Building. Note deformation of heavy

steel purlins disposed horizontally across the roof, over the rafters.

The Surrounding Properties

The Journal Record Building had been constructed in 1923 by the Masonic
Temple Building Association of Oklahoma Lodge Number Thirty-Six, and for
fourteen years its auditorium played host to many illustrious entertainers.
The Masons and the India Temple Shrine used the new Masonic Temple as
their principal place of business for seven years until 1930, when both orga-
nizations moved to other locations. After the explosions of April 19, 1995,
the ornate columns and symbolic temple architecture adorning the east
side of the Journal Record Building was all that remained unscathed. The
rest of the building, inside and out, was a wreck. .

Many of the properties in the immediate vicinity of the Murrah Building had
originally been owned by the Oklahoma Masonic Lodge Number Thirty-Six,
the India Temple Shrine, the Benevolent and Protective Order of Elks, and
the Knights of Columbus. For almost fifty years following the Oklahoma
Land Run of 1889, these four organizations had leased, borrowed, bought,
and traded the properties among themselves.
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PHTO BY JOHN |ENKINS
South side of the Journal Record Building. The tree in the photograph, now known as the
"Survivor Elm,” remained leafy and sturdy on the day of the explosion in spite of its scarred
trunk and branches. The Survivor Elm was directly in the path of the Murrah Building's flying
fascia.

Most of those fraternal organizations lost their downtown property hold-
ings during the Great Depression of the 1930s. These properties included
land on which would eventually be built the Myriad Convention Center, the
BancFirst Building, the Wright Building, the Kerr McGee Complex, the
Colcord Building, the Internal Revenue Service Office Complex, the Federal
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Courthouse Building, the Oklahoma Natural Gas Building, the Oklahoma
City City Hall, the Maney Building, the YMCA Parking Annex, Liberty Bank
Tower, Trigen of Oklahoma, the White Temple, the Journal Record Building,
and the Murrah Building.

In November 1995, as federal prosecutors were preparing the Oklahoma
City bombing case, it was discovered that the Murrah Building had been
built upon a piece of property known as Block 39. Much mystery still sur-
rounds the property, and as of this writing the issue has not yet been
resolved. It seems that the Murrah Building itself was owned by the federal
government; however, there was no documentation in any of the real-estate
records that indicated that the government had ever taken possession of
the land upon which the building stood. In the absence of that vital posses-
sion document, it was ruled that both the federal and local governments
had concurrent jurisdiction in the case against the men accused of the
bombing, and thus murder charges could be brought against the suspects at
every court level.

The Outer Damage

Across the street from the Journal Record Building, the entire side of the
Alfred P Murrah Federal Building was severely damaged, but the west end

PHOTO BY JOHN JENKINS
The Journal Record Building as viewed from the east side. The temple architecture remained
relatively undamaged, although windows were broken throughout the building.
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PHOTO BY JOHN JENKINS
The Journal Record Building as viewed from the east side. The temple architecture remained
relatively undamaged, although windows were broken throughout the building.

was not as structurally devastated as the east end. The outer measurements
of the building were approximately 70 feet deep (north to south) by 200
feet long (east to west). In only four portions of the building’s interior did
the support columns remain standing:

.,
"

A section at the west end that measured approximately 70 feet
(north to south) by 40 feet (east to west). This was the single larg-
est interior area still standing.

To the east of that section, a middle section of the interior
remained that was approximately 35 feet (north to south) by 60
feet (east to west). A section of equal size, which comprised the
entire north half of the building, had been blown outward at this
location.

To the east of the middle section, a portion of the building approxi-
mately 60 feet by 60 feet had been gouged out of the structure,
leaving only ten feet of flooring material still attached to the south
wall.

The very small southeast corner section remained standing,
measuring approximately 50 feet (north to south) by 20 feet (east
to west).

The interior of the building was completely, totally gutted.
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As I spoke to Bill Cooper on the telephone the morning of April 19,1 could
hear Oklahoma City Mayor Ron Norick (See Appendix A) on the television
reporting to the media that there had been an estimated 590 workers and
possibly another 400 citizens conducting morning business in the building
at the time of the explosions. We were suddenly faced with the first specu-
lation of the day: that there might have been almost 1000 people in the
Murrah Building when the explosions occurred.

The information being reported was so horrific as to be unbelievable. This
sort of event happened in places like Beirut, Lima, Bogota, or New York
City—anywhere but here. Like everyone else, I felt totally out of my ele-
ment. This could not have happened in Oklahoma—in my state, in my city.

I felt myself hovering near panic. Thousands of possible imminent scenarios
were passing through my mind. It seemed to me a foregone conclusion that
before the day was over, martial law would be declared. What would that
mean in the practical reality of daily living? Having no information yet
about possible suspects, but knowing that escalating terrorism and inner-
city violence had long been used to manipulate the American people
politically, the immediate future looked very bleak indeed. I was uncertain
what plan of action to take in response to the bombing, and that indecisive-
ness had a paralyzing effect upon my thinking.

Cooper calmly took matters in hand and brought some focus to the situa-
tion. I was instructed to try to find out what was going on. That sounded
simple enough, and I thought my husband and I would be able to assemble
some kind of a report on the situation before the day was through. I told
Bill we would do our best and [ would get back to him late in the afternoon.
But as the day progressed, my husband and I discovered that it was going to
be a far more complex assignment than we could have ever imagined.

Initial Suspicions of Middle East Terrorism

As Cooper and I conversed, my husband reported that former Oklahoma
Congressman Dave McCurdy was speaking via telephone to KWTV Channel
9 news anchors Kelly Ogle and Jenifer Reynolds. Although the bombing
had just occurred, McCurdy was already certain that Islamic fundamentalists
were the parties responsible for the tragedy.

McCurdy stated that there was a “false sense of security in the heartland”
that made it more vulnerable to terrorist attack. He further remarked that a
“lax security environment” existed in places like Oklahoma City and that
terrorists “operate more freely in that environment.” Using his position as
former Chairman of the House Intelligence Committee as his foundation for
expertise, McCurdy said he was aware that “extreme radical supporters of
terrorism in the Middle East” had spoken to groups in Oklahoma City, and
stated that he believed that Islamic fundamentalist involvement was “a very
real possibility.”
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Having just impugned those of Middle Eastern descent specifically and
Muslims generally, without any evidence whatsoever of their participation
in this disaster, McCurdy further speculated that the bombing might
otherwise have been the work of “some extreme, right-wing militant anti-
government” group. His reasoning centered on the fact that Wednesday,
April 19, was the second anniversary of the government raid on the Branch
Davidian church in Waco, Texas.

Dave McCurdy was not the only official personage offering public specula-
tion and innuendo. U.S. Congresswoman Ileana Ros-Lehtinen from Miami,
Florida, told the press that she had notified the FBI of testimony before her
subcommittee in Washington. She stated that Steven Emerson, who had
produced the PBS documentary entitled “Jihad in America,” had described
witnessing a meeting in Oklahoma City attended by 3000 “Islamic funda-
mentalists.”

According to Lehtinen'’s press conference, Emerson had testified that a“mili-
tant Islamic leader based in Pakistan,” Kamal Kelbawi, had addressed the
group, saying, “O brothers, the Palestine cause is not a conflict of borders
and land only. It is not even a conflict over human ideology. And not over
peace. Rather it is an absolute clash of civilizations, between truth and
falsehood, between two conducts: one satanic, headed by Jews and their
conspirators; and the other religious, carried by Hamas, the Islamic people
in general, and the Islamic movement in particular” Emerson’s PBS special
had aired on educational television in November 1994.

This thirdhand information, in tandem with Dave McCurdy’s secondhand
information, was used by the media to fuel anti-Islamic sentiment that
would endanger the lives of respectable citizens and result in at least one
death in the Islamic community before the madness changed direction and
fingers began pointing at other bombing suspects.

A warning light went off in my head as I felt the wheels of the national
propaganda machine beginning to roll into motion. It was going to be a day
of rumor and speculation,and it would be critical to keep track of what was
said, when it was said, by whom, to whom, and to what it was responding.
One thing was certain: the Middle East rumors were originating with the
Washington bureaucrats.

Later reports of Middle Eastern participants were obtained by the news
media from eyewitnesses in the downtown area. However, by that time the
government and federal law-enforcement agencies had targeted American
patriot groups, vigorously denying all of the rumors they had previously
encouraged. Additionally, some of the witnesses who had seen men of
Middle Eastern appearance in the area of the Murrah Building on the morn-
ing of April 19 stated that they had been threatened and harassed by federal
law-enforcement agents to keep quiet and say nothing about what they had
scen.
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That persons of Middle Eastern appearance were observed in the area was
not surprising. As the evidence began to pile up, it was apparent that these
men were deliberately in place and were intended to be seen by the public.
It also became clear that they were not acting on the instructions of some
Muslim fundamentalist terrorist leader or group, but were under the direc-
tion and control of federal agencies who had planned a sting operation for
the night of April 18 that had gone tragically awry. It was also never estab-
lished that these men who were meant to be seen were Middle Eastern
nationals; they were probably American citizens of Middle Eastern descent.

Bill Cooper had warned me to observe a pattern that would soon emerge.
He predicted that Islamic fundamentalists would initially be blamed for the
disaster, but that within a few days charges would be leveled against militia
groups in the United States. I filed that information into the back of my
mind for future reference.

In only fifty-one hours Cooper’s prediction came to pass, and by that time I
fully understood how he could anticipate it so accurately. By then the
disinformation campaign was in full swing. Evidence of a major cover-up by
federal authorities was already well-documented and obvious to anyone
who could break through the mass hysteria produced by the media’s
bombardment of the public consciousness. It was going to be treacher-
ously difficult to keep one’s footing on firm, logical ground in the face of
what occurred over the following days.

In the meantime, Ms. Lee Evans of KFOR Channel 4 Television received a
telephone call at 9:45 a.m. from an unidentified male who claimed to be a
member of the Nation of Islam. The caller stated that the Nation of Islam
claimed responsibility for the bombing and that such a thing could happen
again in other buildings in the area. The caller immediately hung up.

Ms. Evans contacted the Nation of Islam headquarters in Chicago, Illinois,
hoping to speak with Minister Louis Farrakhan to ask him to confirm or
deny the claim. She was told by Nation of Islam representatives that the
organization would hold a press conference in the afternoon to comment
on the matter, but at that time they had nothing to say in response.

Later that afternoon, shortly before 2:30 p.m., the Nation of Islam national
headquarters released a statement denying any involvement in the Okla-
homa City bombing, saying,“Nation of Islam officials emphatically deny any
connection with the terrible act and, along with the entire country, pray for
the success of public officials, rescue workers, and all those working to save
lives and property.” The Chicago headquarters announced that an official
press conference would be held at 3:00 p.m., and further statements would
be made at that time. That press conference was not broadcast in the
Oklahoma City area.

The rumors, claims, counterclaims, and denials about Middle Eastern perpe-
trators continued at full strength for two-and-a-half days and would later
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reappear as other “independent” investigations (directed by the local news
media) got under way. Only once was any effort made by the news media
to discern and publicize the difference between the Nation of Islam and the
Middle Eastern practitioners of the Islamic religion. That there was a
substantial difference between the two groups—to say nothing of the
differences between Muslims and Muslim fundamentalists—was never fully
explained to the public. The general public was thus encouraged to believe
they were all the same thing, and this ignorant and prejudicial view caused
great tension in the Islamic communities of Oklahoma City, Norman, and
Edmond.

Dr. M.A. Shakir, a cardiologist and president of the American Muslim Associa-
tion in Oklahoma City, addressed the situation in the newspapers. He had
spent hours working at the bomb site helping the rescuers and providing
treatment to the injured. Dr. Shakir’s wife, an anesthesiologist at St. Anthony
Hospital, had worked a seven-hour shift aiding the wounded until the hospi-
tal began to send medical personnel home when it became apparent that
there were going to be few if any additional survivors. Said Dr. Shakir,
“There is an element of concern in the [Muslim] community—until they
find whoever did it—that there might be a backlash. As a doctor, as a par-
ent, I can feel the tragedy. Nobody in the Muslim association in any way
condones the crime, and everyone hopes the criminals, whoever they are,
will be punished.”

The media was asked to remain objective and calm and to act with restraint.
In the late afternoon Ibrahim Hooper, National Communications Director
for the Council on American-Islamic Relations in Washington, D.C., stated
that the possibility of a Middle Eastern suspect did not mean that the
suspect was necessarily a Muslim.

“This is what happens in these situations,” Hooper said. “But there are no
suspects. Why people jump to those conclusions that this was done by
Muslims, I don’t know. The thing is, members of the Muslim community
hesitate to even discuss this because even in condemning it, we're associat-
ing ourselves with it.”

The Council on American-Islamic Relations, in conjunction with other
American Muslim groups, issued a formal statement condemning the bomb-
ing attack as “a criminal and immoral act.” The statement also said,“To link
this attack with the religion of Islam places millions of responsible Ameri-
can Muslims at risk.” The sentiment of most Muslims in the Oklahoma City
area was summed up by one gentleman who asked to remain anonymous
for fear of retaliation: “We are just like any other Americans here. We
condemn it as much as anybody else.”

That there are people of Middle Eastern descent in the Oklahoma City area
should not have come as a surprise to anyone. There is a large, peaceful, and
well-respected Middle Eastern Islamic population in the metropolitan area,
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estimated at from 6,000 to 10,000 people. For at least two decades the
University of Oklahoma in Norman had attracted large numbers of students
from the Middle East because of its excellent petroleum engineering and
land-management degree programs. The Oklahoma City area was home to
many wonderful business and professional people of Middle Eastern
descent, and the city of Edmond, located fifteen miles north of Oklahoma
City, had recently erected a mosque in which Islamic worshippers practiced
their religion.

The aspersions cast upon those from the Middle East—all of whom were
automatically and incorrectly assumed to be of the Islamic faith—were
racist, prejudicial, and predictable. Many local citizens assumed that, given
the violent nature of the war in the Middle East and the terrorist bombing
of the World Trade Center in New York City, it was only logical that Muslim
fundamentalists must have been responsible for the bombing in Oklahoma
City as well.

During the broadcast of ABC World News Now, John McWethy, reporting
from the Pentagon, speculated:“The fact that it was such a powerful bomb
in Oklahoma City immediately drew investigators to consider deadly paral-
lels that all have roots in the Middle East. The car bomb has been a weapon
of choice there for decades, and in recent years the skillful bomb makers
have exported their skills and often their extremist hatreds all over the
world. The first horrible evidence of that in the United States was the World
Trade Center bombing in 1993

Few local people, if any, realized that court documents filed in May
following the World Trade Center event revealed that the Federal Bureau of
Investigation had been implicated in the World Trade Center bombing; that
it had supervised the building of the bomb; that it had planned and directed
the event; and that an FBI employee even instructed accused bomber
Mohammed Salameh how to drive the infamous Ryder rental van two days
before the explosion occurred.

In addition to the court documents, the New York Times and the Los
Angeles Times had published transcripts of tapes made between an FBI
informant and his federal government handlers that clearly documented
and demonstrated the degree of involvement of the FBI in the World Trade
Center Bombing—a disaster designed to achieve a specific political end.

That the manipulated suspects in the New York tragedy were of Middle
Fastern descent and were considered “Islamic fundamentalists” was very
convenient indeed for providing ready-made scapegoats in the Oklahoma
City bombing. A similar and at times identical scenario would play itself out
in the local and federal investigations that followed.

The Evidence of Multiple Explosions

The rumors of Middle East terrorists were but the first of many speculations
and false assumptions that would rule the day. Of even greater import were
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the rumors that only one explosion had occurred on the morning of April
19. There has always been an overwhelming amount of direct evidence
indicating multiple blasts, but for some reason federal officials denied
then—and continue to deny today—that more than one explosion
occurred.

The first call for help was received by the Oklahoma City Fire Department
within three seconds of the blasts. The emergency tapes reveal that the
initial report described more than one explosion: “We have a large column
of smoke to the south of this address ... we just heard some loud explo-
sions ... ”

The earliest eyewitness reports of the bombing indicated that people had
heard the sounds of two distinct and separate explosions. Evidence would
later indicate that there had actually been several explosions, occurring so
closely in time as to sound to the ear like one detonation, in conjunction
with the detonation of the cover-up bomb—the proverbial yellow Ryder
rental truck supposedly filled with many blue 55-gallon barrels of ammo-
nium nitrate fertilizer mixed with fuel oil. To the ears of witnesses within a
few miles of the scene, there were unmistakably two concussions followed
by the long, low rumbling of the collapse of the Murrah Federal Building.

Brett Wooley, who lives approximately three miles northwest of the Murrah
Building, was in his front yard working on his car and listening to his scan-
ner radio at the time of the explosions. He reported hearing two very loud
“staccato-like” explosions separated in time by five to eight seconds and
followed by “a long, diminishing rumbling sound, like rolling thunder and
lower in pitch than the two explosions.”

Mr. Wooley stated that he first thought that the railroad cars at NW 36
Street and Broadway Extension had blown up or that a natural gas explo-
sion had occurred. Immediately thereafter, he reported the scanner radio
“went nuts” as rescue workers began arriving at the scene.

Jim Ferguson, one of the assistant building managers and the electrician and
air-conditioning foreman for the Murrah Building, stated,“Everyone in town,
everybody who was there, knows there were two blasts.” At the time of the
explosions he was in an office at the U.S. Federal Courthouse just south of
the Murrah Building. He firmly declares that he heard two distinct and
separate explosions.

Mr. Ferguson’s wife was shopping a mile and a half away when the explo-
sions occurred. She reported hearing two blasts about five to eight seconds
apart and said she saw two separate clouds of dust and smoke rising from
the building.

Two blocks from the Murrah Building, P. G. Wilson had been starting his
day’s work at the Investors Capital Building when the explosions occurred.
He said,“The walls seemed to bulge out as if pulled by a strong wind, and
debris fell from the ceiling and walls. A second explosion came after the
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first one and shards of glass began flying in the office. The office employees
ran from inside the building. The odor of sulphur was very strong.”

Two attorneys with offices in downtown Oklahoma City were both dictat-
ing correspondence at the time of the explosions. The taped records of the
two explosive events and the rumbling of the collapse of the Murrah
Building are clearly discernible on their audio cassettes.

Michael Hinton lived in the YMCA building located a half-block diagonally
northeast of the Murrah Building. He was standing on the corner of NW 5t
Street at 8:50 a.m. on the morning of April 19. Because he had missed the
first bus that would have taken him to work, Hinton ran east another block
to the corner of Broadway to catch another bus at 8:55 a.m. He remarked
how thankful he was that he had chosen to catch the Broadway bus. His
initial thought had been to catch the 9:05 a.m. bus that stopped directly in
front of the Murrah Federal Building.

After boarding the Broadway bus, Mr. Hinton seated himself next to the bus
driver and rode to the transfer terminal to connect with the bus he would
take to the State Capitol. He stated:“I had just climbed aboard the bus and
sat down when I heard this very violent rumble under the bus. It was a
pushing-type motion. It actually raised that bus up on its side. About six or
seven seconds later, another one which was more violent than the first
pushed the bus again, and I thought the second time the bus was going to
turn over.”

The driver threw the bus into gear and beat a hasty retreat from the area.
The passengers on the bus, all of whom distinctly heard and felt the two
explosions, learned later that the Federal Building had been destroyed as
they saw the streets filling with emergency vehicles.

Just prior to the explosions, a staff meeting was under way at the Oklahoma
Water Resources Board Building located on NW 5" Street opposite the
westernmost front of the Murrah Building. The audio tape of the staff meet-
ing clearly recorded two separate explosions, the rumbling collapse of the
building, and the panicked escape of the staff employees as they picked
their way through the falling ceilings, flying glass, and collapsing walls of
their building.

Lt. Col. George Wallace had had much experience with explosives. He had
served in Vietnam and was a retired Air Force fighter pilot with twenty-six
years in the service. From his home nine miles northwest of the Federal
Building, Wallace was pouring a cup of coffee when “I saw it jiggle and
shake. I immediately ran outside.” As an experienced combat pilot, he
stated that the explosions sounded like a succession of bombs being
dropped in the distance—an unmistakable sound he had heard often in
Vietnam.

Dr. Charles J. Mankin (See Appendix A) of the Oklahoma Geological Survey
located in the Sarkeys Energy Building on the University of Oklahoma
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campus in Norman, Oklahoma, granted an extensive interview about the
interpretation of the seismic records of the events. Dr. Mankin stated,“We
had originally heard there were two [explosions]. That was what came over
the radio. And so when we heard there were two and we saw these two
events [on the seismic record], the logical conclusion was to say, well, the
first one looks about right for the time, and so apparently the second one
relates to the second blast. That was a hell of a blast! (See Appendix B.)

“All T can tell you is that there were two events. They look very similar.
We've done every analysis we can think of. We know it's not the air blast.
There’s no question about that. The time is dead wrong. Everybody is
agreed to that. While we can’t rule out a refraction [an echo], everybody
that has looked at the signal has said a refraction would really be strange
because there’s absolutely no loss of energy in the recorded seismic signal.
The second event has the same amplitude as the first. So if you get a refrac-
tion—like an echo off of a building—a refracted wave, you're going to have
a loss of energy. You'll lose a part of the energy in the process. And so the
fact that the two events are of equal intensity suggests ... well, that makes it
difficult.

“Secondly, the arrival time is wrong for a refracted wave. You're going to
have to take it [the refraction] off the mantle or off of basement rocks or
something. The problem with the shallow section of the earth’s crust
between here and Oklahoma City is that we've got a pile of rather discon-
tinuous sandstone and shale, a big delta called the Garber Delta. That's
where we get our water. It's a big delta consisting of channels of sand that
go from east to west, and they’re irregularly scattered through this pile of
material. There aren’t coherent layers from which you could get a reflec-
tion until you get some depth. And if you try to calculate the travel time
down and back up, the time is wrong, and it still wouldn’t be the same in-
tensity.

“So we've ruled out reflections, refractions, and the air blast. The thing I
can’t rule out is that there could have fortuitously been an earthquake
somewhere. But we didn’t pick up anything like an earthquake. So we
determined it was a local phenomenon. From an earthquake, you pick up
surface waves some distance away.

“But here, we knew the building was blasted. We knew where it was. We
had the seismometer. We got this record and said, Okay, if it was this build-
ing, then this first event would have occurred at 9:02 plus some seconds.
And if you look at the signal, it looks very much like a quarry blast, very
much like some of the information you would expect. So our interpretation
of this event is that these signals on the seismic record are the building
being blown up.

“Now, that interpretation was confirmed in an indirect way by the
Omniplex seismometer sitting up in Oklahoma City. It picked up two
events. Unfortunately, their clock was malfunctioning so we couldn’t get an
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absolute [time] number. But we saw the two events on our seismogram,
and we saw the two events on their seismogram. We said, the Omniplex
was closer to the event, so it should have higher amplitude. It did. There
should be two events if we are both recording the same thing. The
Omniplex had two events and we had two events. We determined that
these two records of these two events corroborate our interpretation that
there were two explosions.”

Although we did not realize it at the time, the witnesses who reported hear-
ing two separate explosions would not be heard from again that day or for
many days to come. When their stories began to be told weeks later, few
would be willing to allow their names to be used for fear of government
harassment. Their stories were, for some unknown reason, being dis-
counted or completely suppressed. None of the witnesses who had initially
told radio news reporters of hearing two explosions were ever interviewed
a second time. No account of the two explosions was recorded in the
newspapers that hit the stands later that Wednesday afternoon. None of the
newspapers published the next morning mentioned two explosions. As far
as the mainstream media was concerned, only one explosion occurred. In
daily press conferences the representatives of the media were told by fed-
eral officials what to say and how to explain the event to the public,and the
media obeyed.

Taking it a step further, approximately two months after the bombing, ABC
National News claimed that it had just acquired the audio tape from the
staff meeting at the Oklahoma Water Resources Board building, and a
heavily edited version was aired on television. The televised version of the
tape revealed only the first explosion, followed by very poorly executed
and obvious audio edits leading directly to the panic-stricken escape sec-
tion of the tape. The sounds of the second explosion and the collapse of
the Murrah Building had been completely removed from the televised ver-
sion of the Water Resources Board tape! One must assume that the sloppy
editing had been done under the direction of ABC News. One has to ask:
who ordered ABC News to edit the tape prior to national broadcast, and
why was it so important to remove all evidence of the secondary explo-
sion? Who or what was being protected by those audio edits? Why was the
evidence being altered?

The nature of the injuries that resulted from the bombing, the bodies of the
dead, and the remains of the building itself all told a story that contradicted
the official reports. Those official reports began taking over the airwaves by
the afternoon of the day of the bombing. The building had been destroyed
from both within and without. The fact that the entire north face of the
Murrah Building had been blown fifty yards away to smash into the Journal
Record Building was the clearest indication that at least one explosion must
have occurred within the building itself.
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The children in the second-floor day-care center had been eating breakfast
at the side of the room at approximately 9:00 a.m. The north wall of the
day-care center, which faced NW 5" Street, had been blown outward, and
the inner wall that buried the children had also been blown outward from
the inside of the building, crushing them where they sat at the breakfast
table.

Later in the investigation, the spokesman for the Medical Examiner’s Office,
Ray Blakeney, would report that the bodies of some victims had been blown
outward from the building through concrete walls and into the street.

One rescue worker on the scene commented about the instability of the
building. Oklahoma Highway Patrol Trooper Kyle Greenfield left the build-
ing, saying, “That building could go at any minute. It's totally shook off its
foundation.” But the building stretched four stories deep into the earth. A
single car bomb located fifteen to twenty feet from the building at street
level would not have greatly affected the underground structure. Only
explosive devices placed within the building on the support columns
could have shaken the building from its underground foundation.

Jim Hargrove worked in the office of the Inspector General for the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services. His office was located on the
south side of the building. Mr. Hargrove said,“The most disconcerting thing
about my office is, there is an office to the right of me and an office to the
left of me, and after the explosion there was just nothing there. It was bare.
I looked out from my office, which was on the south side, and normally I
couldn’t see anything except the other offices, and there was nothing there
at all. No offices. Instead, I could see my car out in the parking lot on fire.
We tied curtains together and lowered ourselves through the window of
the third floor to escape.”

Something was terribly wrong with the big picture. If the bomb had been
in the street, why wasn'’t the front of the building blown #nfo the building?
Why was the damage so asymmetrical? Why was so much of the building
destroyed? Why had the columns in the building collapsed vertically, as if
they had been sliced away from the foundation?

Within a few hours of the event, members of the news media suddenly
began stressing, with much repetition, that there had been only one explo-
sion. They all stated too emphatically too many times that the one
explosion alone had done all of the damage that we were seeing on televi-
s10n.

I silently wondered about these strange contradictions. I wondered why
the media had stopped airing the interviews of the witnesses who had
heard two explosions, who had seen two pillars of smoke, who had felt two
concussions. Right before my very eyes, within only a few hours after the
explosions, the official story of the event was being carefully crafted,
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cautiously molded, and delicately manipulated away from the testimony of
witnesses to become something else entirely—some fiction that had virtu-
ally nothing to do with what had actually occurred. I wondered who was
doing it and why. But most of all,I wondered why no one else seemed to be
asking any questions.

Examinations are formidable even to the best prepared,
Sor the greatest fool may ask
more than the wisest man can answer.
— Charles Caleb Colton
Lacon, 1825
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ONE VERY LONG MOMENT

The Immediate Response

Barely an hour had passed since the explosions. The television stations
were endlessly rerunning the aerial shots of the Federal Building taken
moments after the bombing by video cameras mounted in their helicopters.
Anchor-desk personnel tried in vain to find the appropriate words to
explain to the viewing public what had happened. But on the scanner
radios there was no poetic explanation, no Pulitzer prize-winning prose.
There was no one to translate the information coming across that medium,
and there was no way to wrap the event in a nice newsroom package. It
was raw, and it was happening right then.

The first call for emergency help had been received by the Oklahoma City
Fire Department three seconds after the explosions: “We have a large col-
umn of smoke to the south of this address ... we just heard some loud
explosions ... "Within seconds of that call for assistance, reports of injuries
at the scene began pouring over the scanner. “We have several injuries
downtown on an explosion at the YMCA on 5" ... there's injuries all over
the place downtown ... ”

Oklahoma City firefighter Monte Baxter, arriving at the disaster at 9:03 a.m.,
was the first fireman on the scene. He radioed back to fire department
headquarters,“This explosion is at the corner of 5" Street and Robinson ...
we have multiple injuries” Other fire trucks began to arrive, driving into
the dense black smoke. From the scanner we heard, “We need to get a
pumper over here on Robinson. We could put out these car fires and cut
down on your black smoke a little bit.”
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As one group of firefighters concentrated on putting out the fires in the
parking lot across the street from the Murrah Building, others began trying
to assess the number and nature of the injuries. Said Sgt. Eric Thompson,
“There were people crawling, just stumbling out to the street. Several
people were bleeding. There was debris everywhere. There was still stuff
falling out of the air”

Within minutes medical personnel began arriving at the scene in great num-
bers. Paramedic Mark Robinson stated,“I and my partner and five other
paramedics in plainclothes all piled in the back of one of the ambulances at
headquarters and we headed down to the scene immediately.”

Many medics came rushing from area hospitals, some drove downtown
from their homes, and some drove miles from out of town to assist in any
way possible. One hospital later reported receiving telephone calls from as
far away as Illinois, asking if any additional help was needed. Within the first
hour, volunteers had arrived at all Oklahoma City hospitals in such great
numbers that there was a doctor available for every injured person needing
treatment and at least one nurse, sometimes two or more, to assist every
doctor.

Upon arriving at the bomb site, emergency medical technician Scott Moore
stated,“We were immediately swarmed by about twenty or thirty people, all
with lacerations to the face. Some had chest injuries, some were pale,
apparently in shock, all saying,'Can you do something?’ and ‘Can you help
us?’”

Within those early moments the scope of the disaster became apparent
from the scanner reports: “We're reporting multiple incidents inside the
county courthouse and the YMCA building. Mass-casualty incident at that
location over a six-block area. We're not sure what the center of the explo-
sion was at this time."

At 9:08 a.m. witnesses monitoring the scanners knew exactly where this
disaster had occurred, and from that source the news media went into
action informing the world. The words of the firefighter reporting what he
saw sent waves of shock through everyone listening: “The whole front of
the Federal Building is gone, all floors to the roof!”

The blasts had not only devastated the Murrah Federal Building, but had also
destroyed cars, tossed a tractor-trailer rig through a fence, crushed brick
walls, collapsed smaller concrete buildings in the area, caused foundations
to shift in the larger buildings nearby, and shattered windows for miles
around. Eventually, many other buildings in the area would be searched for
possible victims and assessed for structural damage. The final toll of dam-
aged buildings would exceed 200.

Responding to the urgent requests for assistance, the Norman Police
Department sent two medical crews of six people along with Captain Phil
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Cotten and the Emergency Medical Service Disaster Bus, which could be
used as a triage center capable of treating a large number of injured. The
Disaster Bus was then stationed at the corner of NW 6™ and Robinson Street
to handle triage from that location.

The purpose of a triage station in a mass-casualty incident is to sort the
merely injured from the dying and the dead, to prioritize the needs for
medical treatment. Scott Moore explained the triage function in more
detail:*The unresponsive patients, the patients with mortal injuries like the
tracheal lacerations, the woman with the portion of the filing cabinet
impaled into her chest, still stuck there—those people went out first. Ones
that had severe injuries were set in another section. They were also laying
down. Then we had a section for the walking wounded. Those were the
people there that had glass cuts that looked severe but really weren't
severe.

Said paramedic Don Carter,”We couldn’t tie up our complete attention for
those that were still able to walk. There were more critical patients that
needed our attention that were either unconscious or couldn’t walk due to
their injuries.”

Calls for medical help dominated the scanner traffic:“We've got a lot of vic-
tims here at ... what the hell is that? ... Sixth and Robinson ... ”

“I'm at 5™ and Harvey. We've got quite a few injured right here. We need
some help.”

“I need at least three ambulances at the corner of 5™ and Hudson. I've got
three patients that are in critical condition ... ”

“We've got about four or five criticals right now and about a hundred walk-
ing wounded.”

“We've got two critical at 10" and Hudson. We need a unit”
“I'm at 4™ and Harvey. I need a hospital. I've got one critical head and eye”

“We’re getting ready to depart. We've got two critical and one walking
wounded. Can you advise which hospital?”

“We're starting to run into equipment shortages. The squad that is stationed
at Station One, have them gather up the medical supplies and run down to
NW 5" and Robinson.”

Norman Regional Hospital sent fifteen medical staff members and many
supplies to aid in the rescue operation. Paramedic instructors from the
Moore-Norman Vocational Technical Center coordinated the staffing of the
EMS Disaster Bus. Said one medical technician,“We had approximately fif-
teen to twenty people laying on the ground with various types of injuries.
There was enough blood covering each person that I didn’t know who was
injured and who wasn’t injured. You literally just had to go up and ask them,
‘Are you hurt?"”
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Additional triage units were quickly established on the east and south sides
of the Murrah Building, often moving from place to place wherever triage
was needed at the time. The Old Post Office Building located south of the
Federal Courthouse on Dean A. McGee Street was transformed into a tem-
porary hospital.

Television cameras captured the scene of a double line of fourteen ambu-
lances removing the injured. In the early moments after the explosions,
ambulance service provider EMSA had requested that the Norman ambu-
lances provide coverage to the Moore and South Oklahoma City areas. But
within a half-hour of making that request, EMSA summoned all available
ambulances in the surrounding metropolitan areas to the scene of the
disaster.

When all of the statistics were compiled several months later, we learned
that there had been 66 emergency medical units involved in the rescue
operation: 34 from Oklahoma City, 29 from Mutual Aid (surrounding com-
munities), and 3 from Tulsa. The number of people transported by these
medical units was 215: 95 by EMSA, 44 by Mutual Aid, and 76 by other
means (bus or police vehicle). An unknown number of patients were trans-
ported by private civilian vehicles.

Two command units were on the scene within two minutes of the explo-
sions, and three life-support units were placed on twenty-four-hour standby.
The response to the bombing utilized 165 EMSA employees, and the heli-
copters involved in the rescue operation came from Mediflight Oklahoma
and Fort Sill MAST Flights.

Other emergency medical service agencies involved in the rescue opera-
tions came from Anadarko, Ardmore, Carnegie, McClain County, Purcell,
Sinor, Stephens County, Stillwater, Watonga, Wellston, Empact EMS, EMSA
Eastern Division, Life EMS, and Lifesat EMs.

Emergency personnel associated with EMS agencies were supplemented by
more than twice as many medically trained volunteers who assisted in the
rescue operation. In spite of the fact that their numbers can be estimated
but not accurately calculated, their service was needed, appreciated, and
invaluable.

We will also never know how many of the injured were taken to area hos-
pitals in the vehicles of private civilians. A large number of emergency
vehicles was available at the scene, but the number of injured far exceeded
the capacity of those vehicles. Without the willingness of private citizens to
transport the wounded to area hospitals in their own cars, trucks, or vans,
the death toll might have been much greater. That willingness of heart to
serve in whatever capacity needed made the difference between life and
death for many of the injured.

Within the first hour after the bombing, St. Anthony Hospital sent out an
emergency call for blood and requested that all off-duty medical employees
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report to the hospital. Similar calls for medical personnel went out from all
metro-area hospitals. It was called Condition Black—a state of total
emergency that required every available medic to be on hand in a state of
readiness.

The Cleveland County (Norman) Red Cross announced that the disaster had
placed a tremendous drain on the blood supply, and asked everyone who
was at least seventeen years old, in good health, and who weighed at least
110 pounds to come to the Red Cross Blood Center at Max Westheimer Air
Field, located in north-central Norman. Within thirty minutes of the
announcement, the Blood Donation Center was overwhelmed with donors.
The parking lot was filled to capacity and cars were parked for hundreds of
yards along the roadway and in the grassy fields surrounding the Center.

Within two hours the Norman Red Cross announced that they could take
no further donors at the Westheimer location because the response to the
call had been so generous. A secondary blood donation center was hastily
set up on Haley Drive near the University of Oklahoma campus in the Delta
Gamma House. It also rapidly filled to capacity with volunteer donors.

The Oklahoma Blood Institute’s Sylvia N. Goldman Center, located within
five miles of the Murrah Building, put out a call for donors. Within minutes
its parking lot was filled and cars were parked on the street, on the side-
walks, in the center medians of the roadway, and on the grass for blocks
surrounding the Blood Institute, creating an incredible tangle of traffic in
the downtown area. The line of donors quickly filled the lobby and spilled
onto the lawn.

In order to accommodate the number of blood donors, secondary donor
centers were set up at the nearby Clarion Hotel and at Tinker Air Force
Base. Soon word came that the University Hospital Mobile Blood Donation
Unit was filled to capacity. The Edmond Blood Institute north of Oklahoma
City was also full and secondary sites were established in that community
to accommodate donors.

For the volunteer donors waiting in line, some of whom waited for many
hours, it was all they could do to help. Everyone wanted to assist in some
way, and the public response to the calls for blood was instant and over-
whelming.

The Red Cross set up a large supply depot and triage unit in the Oklahoma
Publishing Company warehouse located at NW 5™ and Oklahoma Street. As
the rescue operation progressed, this warchousc would also serve first as a
triage unit and later as a temporary morgue. There were 250 Red Cross vol-
unteers dispatched and another 200 who signed up for relief duty.

Also arriving at the Red Cross supply depot were many uniformed men and
women from Tinker Air Force Base’s 38" Engineering Installation Wing
Headquarters, which specializes in communications. They had come to
assist in coordinating the communications between the different medical
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units on the scene, law-enforcement personnel, firefighters, and the other
specialized rescue teams that were arriving.

Dozens of counselors, psychologists, mental-health workers, ministers, and
priests arrived to aid the wounded and to comfort and counsel the family
members who had loved ones trapped inside the Murrah Building. Later in
the day, specialized counseling (called Critical-Incident Stress Debriefing)
was made immediately available for every worker who came out of the
Murrah Building because of the extremely disturbing and emotionally
wrenching situation with which these rescuers were confronted.

Food and supplies donated by the public began pouring into the Red Cross
depot in such quantities that storage space was at a premium. The Red
Cross issued an announcement that they would ask for specific items when
it was known exactly what was needed, and graciously asked the generous
public to wait before driving into the downtown area. Traffic for miles
around the blast site was at a complete standstill at that moment, and it was
too early to know what more was going to be required. Everyone was
urgently searching for some way to help, and the only way to know what
was needed was to stay tuned to the television and the local news radio
stations.

The scenes on television were extremely graphic, raw, and, for the most
part, unedited. Time and again viewers were warned about the explicit,
violent nature of the broadcasts for the sake of any children who might
become upset by what they saw. That warning could have been issued for
viewers of any age or experience. We were seeing a bloodbath. As one
news anchorman defined it:*This is a disaster of international proportions.”

The people who came stumbling out of the ruins of the buildings had had
their clothing torn off or ripped to shreds by flying glass. One man
removed his own clothing to cover a bleeding victim lying in shock on a
stretcher in the street. A rescue volunteer who ran to the scene from the
Kerr-McGee Corporation complex wrapped a small boy in his own dress
shirt and stayed with the child, warming him and speaking tenderly to him,
until the child could be transported to a local hospital for treatment. U.S.
District Judge Gary Purcell, who had come running from his courtroom in
the Federal Courthouse behind the Murrah Building, wrapped one of the
injured in his judge’s robe.

The walking wounded carried the more seriously injured out of area build-
ings, often assisted by unknown civilian volunteers. Two men carried a
woman with a profusely bleeding leg wound to volunteer medics by using
an office chair as a litter. Other civilians loaded the injured into their own
cars or laid them in the beds of pickup trucks to transport them to area
hospitals.

So many volunteers helped so many victims. Some of the injured would
never know the names of the persons who helped save their lives; some

OKITXT_1.PM8 56 $ 7/29/96, 8:52 AM




OK1TXT_1.PM6E

One Vfry Lang Moment @ 57

would later be reunited with their rescuers and, with grateful tears,
embrace one another as if they were family members meeting after many
years’absence. A volunteer carrying a small boy to the medics for treatment
was asked by a television reporter,“Do you know who that is you are carry-
ing?” He replied,*No.

That was so often the story. Those who could walk helped those who could
not, and this selfless gift of assistance to strangers was given over and over
again by hundreds of people throughout the morning. It was simply the
right thing to do, and no one ever gave it a second thought.

Reporters from every local media source had converged on the area, col-
lecting curb-side interviews with victims, civilian volunteers, local business
owners, rescue workers, hospital personnel, and later, from federal officials.
It would be midafternoon before members of the national news media
descended on Oklahoma City in droves. During the earliest hours of cover-
age, the local media struggled to convey to the rest of the world the scope
of the disaster that had occurred in our capital city, in what would be for-
ever after called “the Heartland.”

To the television audience, the sight of the Murrah Building defied descrip-
tion, but the details of the experience and the aftermath were
unimaginable. Gradually, the accounts of the survivors and eyewitnesses
began to emerge and the emotional horror of the event was given voice.
The interviews were disturbing and shocking. The people interviewed
were themselves in shock. Many had barely escaped with their lives, and
some were bleeding and trembling, answering reporters’ questions as med-
ics cleaned and bandaged their wounds. We were about to get our first taste
of what would eventually become over a thousand personal accounts of the
bombing of the Alfred P Murrah Federal Building.

David Sykes, a mail carrier, was in the mail room in the basement of the Fed-
eral Building when the explosions occurred. He stated that at first he
thought it was a boiler explosion. He and several other mail carriers ran
into the hallway and found it destroyed and in flames. Sykes said, “There
was glass and fire everywhere. We just got out of there.” But upon reaching
the street level, the sight of what had happened stunned Sykes completely.
He instantly realized it had not been a boiler explosion.

“Man, it must have been a bomb. I know it was a bomb,” he said. “And T’ll
tell you what was really weird: when we got out, there were cop cars and
ambulances everywhere, and it took us only about forty seconds to get out
of the basement”

Of even greater interest was the fact that Sykes reported fire in the base-
ment level of the building, supposedly caused by an explosion that
occurred outside the building up at the street level.

Third-year nursing student and member of the Oklahoma Air National
Guard, Donna Trimble was hurrying to class at the University Health
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Sciences Center. She was going to be late to class because of a flat tire,
which had delayed her arrival. Trimble was about six blocks away from the
Murrah Building when the force of the explosions slammed into her car.

“At first I thought I'd had a wreck,” Trimble said, explaining that the jolt had
caused her head to hit the windshield. “And then, when I realized I didn’t
have a wreck, I thought it was maybe some sort of building demolition
downtown.” Seeing an Oklahoma City Fire Department truck rushing past
her into the downtown area, Trimble followed it.

Then she saw the building. “It was the worst thing I've ever seen. There
was a lot of confusion.” Abandoning her car and rushing into the scene on
foot, Trimble ran through the thick black smoke rising from the parking lot
full of burning vehicles and helped remove an injured woman from a
crushed car. When the woman had been safely placed in the hands of other
medics, Trimble hurried toward the building.

“Water was gushing into the lower levels of the building and people were
yelling for someone to shut off the power and the water. I saw one man
sitting in his office. I could tell from where I was standing that he was dead.
The whole wall of his office was gone.” Trimble continued working
throughout the morning in the triage units around the Murrah Building,
helping in whatever way she could.

Sam Patterson was employed in the office of the U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services located on the south side of the third floor of the
Murrah Building. He described his experience:“It wasn’t really loud. It was
more of a muffled noise. But immediately after the explosion, I could see
clear through the building and out the other side. I could see the parking
lot across the street and all the cars looked like they were on fire.” The ceil-
ing of Patterson’s office had collapsed, but fortunately the floor beneath
him held firm. Everyone from Patterson’s office made it safely out of the
building with only a few minor injuries.

Witnesses saw two employees from the ninth-floor office of the Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms staggering around without shirts, the torn
rags of their trousers bloody. Jim Staggs, bleeding profusely from the head
and chest, told the media that he had been talking on the phone in the
BATF office when he heard the explosions.

“We were just trying to get out of there,” he said as a medic cleaned and
bandaged his wounds. “The doors were locked. We couldn't get out. We
were just trying to find a way out. Debris was everywhere.”

The second BATF employee,Vernon Buster, was covered with glass cuts. He
described the scene within the building as “frantic.” He said, “I felt the
explosion come from my left, and then there was this force of pressure, and
debris started falling and glass flying.” Immediately after making this state-
ment to the press, Buster laid down on the street, weak and white with
shock.
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Captain Henderson Baker was not sitting at his desk at the time of the
explosions. Baker worked in the Department of the Army’s Oklahoma City
Recruiting Company Headquarters. He stated that he was standing talking
to a co-worker when suddenly he began falling. The portion of the fourth-
floor office in which his desk was located had disappeared into the dust,
smoke, and crashing concrete. “I just didn’t know what was going on. I was
surrounded by black smoke. It was dark, black, and I was falling. I landed
on the first floor and saw a light ahead. I just walked toward it.”

Dazed and shaken, Baker miraculously managed to walk directly out onto
NW 5% Street. With blood flowing down his face, internal injuries, abra-
sions, an injured arm, and multiple bruises, Baker then went back inside the
building to search for his co-workers, but after the first hour six were still
missing. Henderson was eventually taken to Mercy Health Center for medi-
cal treatment.

One man, who did not identify himself, told reporters,“I had a meeting with
the building manager, and he and I had just left the meeting. We walked out
to the elevator shaft. We were out by the elevator when all of a sudden I
heard a big boom, and everything went black and things were falling in on
us. There was thick dust everywhere. You could hardly breathe. So I yelled
for the building manager and I finally heard him answer me. Although he
had been standing right next to me when the blast took place, I couldn’t
find him afterward. Finally we connected and he and I tried going out
together. We found a couple of ladies caught in the debris. We helped get
them out. All of us went out together. We finally found an exit. I thought I
was going out the front door but somehow ended up going out a side door.
Everything was just debris and rubble. The building had collapsed around
us. It was so dark and dusty you could hardly breathe. You just had to sur-
vive to get out.”

Deputy County Assessor Tim Gilbert had run from his office a block away
when he felt the force of the explosions. Upon reaching the Murrah Build-
ing, he was stunned by what he saw. “It was like a big concrete tomb. It
was incredible. Everything was collapsing down on everything.” He heard
a call for help under a pile of concrete, but when he reached the pile of
rubble, the call for help had stopped. Then he found a woman's hand. “We
dug down to her and I saw the wedding ring on her finger. I felt her pulse
and she was dead. She was pregnant. I couldn’t get her out by myself. I
thought maybe if we got her out, we could save the baby, but we couldn’t
do it alone’”

The vertical collapse of the support columns and the subsequent pancaking
of the floors of the Murrah Building resulted in a pile of rubble some
twenty-five-feet high. The angle of the collapsed floors had created a chute
down which workers, office furniture, fixtures, and building debris had
fallen. Tim Gilbert climbed on the two-story pile of debris and, with five
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other men, formed a human chain. Together they worked feverishly to pull
people out of a sinkhole in the middle of the building.

“They were lifting people out and we would grab them. There were people
yelling,'Over here! Help me!” I don’t know what happened to those voices.
The last five minutes we were in there, we couldn't hear them anymore. We
got seven people out, two adults and five kids.” When asked if he felt like a
hero, Gilbert said,"No,I'm not a hero. They needed help. Everyone was try-
ing to do what they could.”

An employee from the fifth floor of the Murrah Building described how he
survived the explosions. “I went under the table when the ceiling started to
cave in. That saved me, I guess.” Others had a similar story. One man
claimed,“When I crawled out from under the desk, there wasn't any build-
ing left around us. Our whole office area was gone. My floor was okay and
the ceiling had come down, but there was still concrete above, so it was just
the corner of the office that was left that we were in. Everybody else that
we work with is gone.”

Dr. Brian Espe, a veterinarian for the U.S. Department of Agriculture, sur-
vived the bombing and said he never dreamed the building in which he had
worked for six years would be the target of a terrorist attack. In a statement
released to the press in the late morning, Dr. Espe said his entire staff of
seven people was gone, lost somewhere in the rubble of the building. All
but a few of the offices in his area of the building’s fifth floor disappeared
in the rumbling collapse.

Fellow Agricultural Department employee Jack Gobin said that at first he
thought it was an earthquake. He felt the force first and then the windows
blew into his office. Gobin said he got under his desk and was not hurt.
Both Gobin and Espe said they feel very lucky to be alive. Many of their co-
workers did not escape the disaster.

Registered nurse Toni Garrett worked all day and into the night up until the
time the FBI took over the medical operations. Toni stated,“When we went
over to the south side of the building, I had noticed several citizens, police
officers, and firemen who were trying to dig at the rubble, trying to get the
people out. And on the upper floors there were people that were sitting at
their desks that, when you first looked at them, you really didn’'t know that
they were dead. But when you got a closer look, you saw that there was no
way they could be sitting there alive with metal fragments through their
bodies. It secemed like there were people just sitting at their desks waiting
for someone to come and get them.”

Television reporters conducted an interview with an unidentified male
who had escaped from the building but then tried to go back inside to res-
cue his co-workers. The man was shaken and stunned. “We couldn’t get
back there. Stuff was falling down, and we started throwing stuff out, look-
ing for people. We couldn’t find anybody. We were hollering. We went
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around on the north side of the building and then that's when I saw it. [
cannot believe it. You could see the crater. It looked like a car or something
had been parked directly in front of the glass doors at the street. The crater

it did make a hole in the ground, but you could see everything. There
was rebar as big around as my arm bent over like a pretzel. You could see
where the blast was.”

There was definitely a crater in the street in front of the Murrah Building,
but neither witnesses nor officials could ever seem to agree upon its size.
Some said it was thirty feet wide; others said twenty. The general consensus
was that the crater’s depth was eight feet, although one member of the
National Guard stated it was twelve feet. It was difficult to estimate depth
because of the amount of debris piled everywhere, and at no time was the
public informed that anyone had measured the depth or diameter of the
crater.

Published aerial AP laserphotos clearly show the crater from different
angles. The diameter of the crater can be estimated relative to the size of
vehicles located on a plane parallel to the crater. Such estimates indicate
that the diameter was probably not in excess of twenty-five feet.

There is a more accurate estimate available. Published in this volume is a
photograph of the crater taken by Oscar Johnson (page 62). Near the crater
are several five-gallon buckets that were used for debris removal. The buck-
ets are fourteen inches tall. Using that measurement as a reference, it
appears that the crater is approximately twenty to twenty-three feet in
diameter. The depth appears to be approximately four feet.

Early in the rescue operation we were told that the crater was covered with
plywood to protect the rescue workers while going into and out of the
building. However, closeup photographic evidence indicates that the cra-
ter—which was actually very small—was filled during the
search-and-recovery period. The plywood appears to cover uneven debris,
but is located to the right of the crater. The crater was always visible after
it was filled, yet we were told there was a huge crater beneath the plywood.
The plywood ramps remained in place until the independent investigation
conducted by defense attorney Stephen Jones (See Appendix A) and his
team of experts. The investigators who accompanied the defense team into
the ground-zero area were shocked to discover that the alleged “huge cra-
ter” had been filled prior to their inspection, and Jones was later quoted as
saying, “I don't know when they filled it. If they filled it after I filed my
motion, I frankly would find that disturbing.” Jones also said that his explo-
sives expert from the State of Washington, Sid Woodcock, would have
learned more from the inspection “if they hadn't filled in the pit area” No
one seemed to notice that the actual bomb crater was very small and had
been filled for quite some time.

No one is willing to specify who authorized the filling of the crater, nor has
any explanation been forthcoming as to why the crater—itself a vital piece
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of evidence in the bombing—was irreparably altered before it could be
studied and assessed by nongovernment experts. Whether or not this tam-
pering with the crater evidence constitutes obstruction of justice remains
to be determined.

New American reporter William E Jasper brought one particular incident
to light in his overview of the evidence of internal explosions provided by
Brig. Gen. Benton K. Partin (See Appendices A and C). Wrote Jasper:“One of
the more interesting examples of the general’s vindication can be found in
the ‘official commemorative volume’ of the Oklahoma City tragedy, In Their
Narme...

“In the middle of the book is a large illustration of the Murrah Building
spanning two pages (pages 86-87) and detailing the damage caused by the
April 19" blast. What is quite striking about the illustration is that the artist
has obviously moved the bomb crater to the left, so that it is aligned with
the deep blast cavity that extends into the building ...

“What this episode demonstrates is that—whether consciously or uncon-
sciously—the illustrator (and/or the book’s producers) have attempted to
reconcile the conspicuously conflicting data by altering the evidence to fit
the official story.”

PHOTO BY OSCAR JOHNSON
Crater allegedly caused by the bomb vehicle. The five-gallon bucket seen at the center of the
bottom edge of the photo is fourteen inches high. Using that measurement as a reference,
the diameter of the crater can be calculated.
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Mr. Jasper’s assertions, while intriguing, do not fit the photographic evi-
dence. General Partin’s best estimates placed the crater approximately four
feet to the right of column A4 (See Appendix C). However, it appears from
the aerial photos that the crater is actually about four feet to the left of A4.
While this placement concurs with the drawings on pages 86-87 of In
Their Name, a closer examination of pages 82-83 does place the crater to
the left of A4. There does not appear to have been any deliberate attempt
to alter the evidence in this matter.

Far from hurting Partin’s conclusions, this placement actually renders his
report more devastating by moving the alleged source of the explosion far-
ther from the collapsed column A8. Mr. Jasper’s concerns were based on
General Partin’s placement of the crater, but Partin erred in his assessment
by eight feet. Given the tiny size of the crater, even if the bomb vehicle had
been placed directly in front of the deep blast cavity, it would not have
caused the damage done to the building, and most assuredly would not
have brought down column AS.

Behind the Murrah Building on the south side sits the Federal Courthouse.
At nine o’clock in the morning, U.S. District Judge Gary Purcell was almost
ready to call his court to order. Suddenly the building began to sway and
rock, and Judge Purcell said he felt like his eardrums might burst. “There
was a terribly loud noise, and it kind of knocked me forward into the bench.
I caught myself, and someone said, ‘It’s an earthquake. I said,‘No,it’s a
bomb! Everybody get out!’”

Forcing open the courtroom door, Purcell and about twenty others escaped
from the building. Said Purcell, “It was utter chaos. There was smoke and
heat and screaming. At first we thought it was our building, but once we
were outside, we could see the smoke coming from the Murrah Building”
Glass had shattered throughout the courthouse, but not on the floor of
Judge Purcell’s courtroom and office. Bulletproof glass had been installed
on Judge Purcell’s floor the previous week.

Oklahoma City attorney Jack Pointer had also been in the Federal Court-
house that Wednesday morning. “All the windows blew out,” he said. “We
ran outside. When I saw the smoke, I thought it was the courthouse and I
started running toward it.” But Pointer soon realized the smoke was coming
from the Murrah Building. As he approached it from the south, he couldn’t
see the devastation that had occurred on the opposite side of the building.

A woman, screaming hysterically, ran up to Pointer, saying, “My baby! My
baby is in there!” Other women joined her, all crying about their children.
It was then that Pointer learned that there had been a day-care center
located on the second floor of the Murrah Building. Pointer tried to calm
the women and said that he would go and check on the children.

Just then a policewoman arrived and told them to “get out of here!” Pointer
told her,“We're going to check on these women’s babies on the second
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floor” The policewoman replied somberly, “There is no second floor.”
Pointer could then see where the building dropped away to nothing but
rubble. The staircase leading to the day-care center and the door of the cen-
ter were standing, but beyond that point the center no longer existed.

With the realization that there had been a day-care center in the building,
firefighters began making other urgent demands heard on the scanners:“Is
there a possibility we can get the police department dogs to help us with
locations? We're supposed to have at least twenty-five to thirty children in
this area and we've only found about four or five. Can we get heat sensors
or police dogs, please?”

Firefighter Monte Baxter, working with his partner in the area that had once
been the day-care center, started calling out to the children. Said Baxter,
“Danny went left and I went straight and kind of to the right, hollering out,
‘Please say something! Holler at us! We're firefighters! Is there anybody
here? You've got to make noise. We can't see you!” Probably within thirty
minutes, we had three children out, freed up, and we handed them over to
somebody else” Of the many children present in the day-care center that
morning, only six would survive.

As the day progressed, the removal of the dead would begin. Some of the
bodies were taken first to the children’s playground area on south side of
the Federal Building, and later to the temporary morgue set up in a ware-
house at the corner of NW 5™ and Oklahoma Street. Tearful medical
personnel remarked how tragically ironic it was that the dead children
should be laid in their own playground, a place in which they would never
again play.

In 1989 when the day-care center had first been built, it was called Uncle
Sam'’s Kids Corner. Under the leadership of then-Governor Henry Bellmon,
the General Services Administration had spent $48,000 on sod, fences, and
other improvements to provide a scenic, safe outdoor place for the children
to play while their parents worked nearby. At that time, only six years pre-
viously, the provision of on-site child-care services was considered an
excellent employee benefit. After the Oklahoma City bombing, many who
had fought hard to win on-site child care were reconsidering the wisdom of
keeping children near any federal office. It is an issue still being hotly
debated and remains unresolved.

On this day—April 19—the fencing materials, which had previously pro-
vided safe boundaries for the children at play, were being used as ladders
with which to reach and extract the injured from the Federal Building. Sur-
rounded by the tiny, often unidentifiable bodies of the children wrapped in
small blankets and laid side by side in the south playground area, the Rev.
George Miley of the Anglican Church of the Holy Cross walked among the
dead, praying as he carried his open Bible, “I am asking God to receive
them,” Miley said. It was the last intercessory act he felt he could perform—
an act of peace in the midst of the confusion and turmoil all around him.
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According to rescue workers inside the Federal Building, bodies and sev-
ered body parts were scattered everywhere. Those still living were trapped
and crying out for help. Medical workers who had set up triage centers in
the area and makeshift hospitals were hanging IVs on portable metal racks.
Victims were resting on blankets spread out on the concrete. It was a grue-
some scene. Mike Taylor, Director of Cardiopulmonary Services at Norman
Regional Hospital, was quoted as saying, “They’re having to cut off body
parts to get them out of there. One worker came out with a medical back-
pack and just collapsed from the intensity of the scene’

In spite of the fact that the rescue workers were being sent into the build-
ing for only thirty- to forty-five-minute shifts, many were completely
overcome by what they saw inside and by what they had to do while there.
In one unforgettable moment of many that day, television viewers watched
in grief as a police officer, stumbling trancelike from the building, stopped
by the street curb near a parked patrol car. Overcome with the emotional
stress and tragedy of the event, the officer folded his arms around his face as
if to blot out all he had seen, bowed himself over the hood of the vehicle,
and wept openly. We all wept with him.

Moments later a fellow officer approached, placed a comforting hand on
the man’s shoulder, and together they helped each other leave the horror of
their first shift of duty in the Murrah Building bomb site. It was going to be
like that for days and weeks to come—people helping each other cope.
The wounds of that day were not all visible, and many would take far longer
to heal than injuries to the physical body. These were wounds of the heart.

Shock and disbelief were the order of the day. Medical workers treated a
man wandering from the building in a daze, with cuts and broken bones.
He had lost both arms in the explosion but seemed strangely unaware of his
condition. A man’s body was discovered about a block away to the north-
west of the Federal Building in an alley behind the Post Office Resource
Center. Witnesses thought he was a passerby, but no one seemed to know
who he was, what he was doing, or the exact cause of his death. One man,
covered in blood, was found walking alone along the sidewalk several
blocks away from the Murrah Building. He said he was going home, but he
couldn’t remember his name and he didn't know where his home was.
Behind him was a trail of blood in the shattered glass that carpeted the
downtown streets and sidewalks.

Other medical workers handled the “bio-bags,” collecting tissue and body
parts from the debris. “They may not ever find some of those people,” said
Craig Bishop, 2 member of the American Red Cross Disaster Action Team.
“It’s that torn up. I heard moaning, but couldn’t tell if it was coming from
survivors buried in debris or from people under stress trying to clear away
the rubble. It's bad. It’s real bad.

The dead were so numerous that rescue workers had no choice but to
cover most of them and mark the location of the bodies with spray paint on
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the building debris. At that time of the crisis, the emphasis was still on res-
cuing the living and no ambulance could be spared to remove the dead.
Specially trained removal teams would later be brought in to handle the
dead.

Across the street to the north of the Murrah Building, David Harper had
been sitting at his desk in the Journal Record Building when the explosions
occurred. “It felt like somebody slammed me in the back of the head with
a bat. We pushed debris to the side so we could get out. My office was
chest-deep in debris.”

Another worker in the Journal Record Building, Ernie Ross, reported that
the force of the blast threw him twenty feet across the room into a table.
“The windows were all gone and the inside walls collapsed. You did not
know where to run to get out. It was just frantic. The flying glass sliced me
up. Iwas standing with a co-worker. I hope he’s all right. I'm sure glad to
be alive. I never went through anything like that when I was in Vietnam.”
Ross was taken to University Hospital for treatment of large cuts on his leg,
facial lacerations, and a crushed nose.

Norman resident Mary Mowdy had just started her third day on the job in
the Journal Record Building with the Oklahoma Guaranteed Student Loan
Program. Seated at her desk by a window when the explosions occurred,
Mowdy was pierced by thousands of pieces of flying glass. She was
somehow rescued from the scene by co-workers. After being rushed to
Presbyterian Hospital, Mowdy endured more than seven hours of surgery
and received over a thousand stitches. She would again face surgery the
next day. Mowdy suffered a broken arm, cut tendons in her arms, and
severe cuts to her lower face and neck. Of the seven injured and three criti-
cally injured in the Journal Record Building, she was the most seriously
hurt.

Berbe Lovelace had been in the Oklahoma City Downtown Lions Club
office on the second floor of the YMCA Building, which was located a half-
block to the northeast of the Murrah Building. “It took us only one-
and-a-half to two minutes to get outside, and there were police cars already
there—men in their heavy helmets.”

Lovelace had just stepped away from her desk when suddenly it was cov-
ered with shards of glass, ceiling tiles, and insulation. “The windows blew in
and the ceiling fell,” she said. “Everything that was not concrete just went.
The force blew me toward the door. I have glass cuts all the way across my
face. I did what every normal human being does—I panicked. I jerked
open the door, which was blocked by ceiling tiles, and limped down the
hall. Everybody was screaming and crying, but we made our way down the
stairs.”

Lovelace, with several of her co-workers, went back inside the YMCA to
remove children from the day-care facility in that building. She didn't
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realize how badly she was bleeding until someone handed her a towel.
“Strangers walked up and began picking up the children and taking them
out into the street. Parents were running and calling out the names of their
children. One father was so panicky that he didn’t see his own daughter in
the arms of a man who was holding her right in front of the dad.” Strangers
held children who were not their own and waited for parents they did not
know.

PHOTO BY JOHN |[ENKINS
All that remains of the entrance to the YMCA. Every window in the building was destroyed.

State Representative Kevin Cox, who was in front of the YMCA and less
than a block from the Murrah Building at the time of the explosions, said,
“All of a sudden I felt like T was in a hammock between two trees in my car.
The windshield shattered and blew me and the car into a building at NW 5*
and Broadway. I was very shocked. I know I bailed out of my car and fell
down several times. I wanted to run for cover. The whole side of the build-
ing was blown out,and every car in the parking lot directly across from the
Federal Building was ablaze. Cars within that block are buried in rubble. I
could see two people standing in the rubble, trying to find a way out.
People who lived in the YMCA came out in their bare underwear”

Todd Pendleton was driving away from the YMCA Building where he had
just taken his son Evan to day care. He heard and felt the initial blast from
several blocks away. He said he thought another car had rear-ended him,
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but when he looked back, all he could see was black smoke. He whipped
his car around, drove back and parked as close as he could to the YMCA.
Pendleton got out of his car and began running. He could see people
already removing the fifty-two children who were in the YMCA day-care
center that morning. “Boy, I was running, looking everywhere for Evan. I
found him in the arms of a YMCA worker. That staff was so committed.
They were all hurt and bloody and all they could think about were those
kids.” Within seven to ten minutes all of the children were accounted for
and out of the day-care center.

Pendleton began helping the workers remove the children, some of whom
were seriously hurt. He took one injured child to the nearest ambulance for
transport to the hospital, but the ambulance medics were treating people at
the scene who could not yet be moved. Realizing he was going to have to
take the child himself, Pendleton told YMCA staff members that he was driv-
ing the child to St.Anthony Hospital. Pendleton and his son Evan took the
injured child to the emergency room and stayed with the child until the
parents arrived.

The Regency Tower, a multistoried apartment building located one block
west of the Murrah Building, was home to more than 250 residents, some of
whom had lived there since the building's opening about thirty years ear-
lier. Deanna Jordon had been in her apartment with her sister-in-law and
young daughter. Deanna said,"I thought the people outside doing scaffold-
ing work were coming through the windows until we heard the building
alarm telling us to evacuate. The walls are buckled and cracked. There's
mortar coming off the outside of the building.” Deanna’s five-year-old
daughter Melinda was still shaking and clinging to her mother when she
told reporters her own version of what had happened:“I heard screams ...
screams, and everything fell down.”

A gentleman known only as Mr. Ramsey was interviewed by a television
reporter. His son works for the Oklahoma City Police Department. Mr.
Ramsey reported to the television media that his son had heard the explo-
sions a few blocks away. Ramsey said, “My son was at the Oklahoma City
Police Station. He said at the time of the explosion about 300 policemen
pulled their guns because they thought that someone was in the police
department and had set off a bomb there. He is a bicycle patrolman, and he
immediately hurried to the Federal Building ... He was sharing with us that
he had pulled out four two- to three-year-olds that were dead and I think six
adults that were dead. He’s got a daughter that is three years old, and when
he got to the part about the kids, he just couldn’t stand it too much. And I
can’t see how anybody could do this. It's unreal! He saw many people who
were in great pain—maimed, tops of their heads blown off, eyes blown
out—horrible, horrible things! And to the people that did this, there is no
reason for anything like this. None, ever”

OK1TXT_1.PM& 68 é 7/29/96, 8:54 AM



OK1TXT_1.PM6

One Very Long Moment ¢ 69

Local media representatives interviewed Carole Lawton, an elderly woman
who was wrapped in a blanket to protect against the onset of shock while
she was being assisted by medical personnel. She had great difficulty
speaking, as if her mouth could not form the words her mind was thinking.
From time to time during the interview, she hid her face in her hands as if
to blot out the images that would be forever impressed in her memory.

“It got dark,” she said,“and then the floors from above went down, and glass
... It just kept falling and there was this horrible noise. A horrible noise ...
It was just after whatever happened, happened. It was just a roar of the
whole building ... crumbling. And where I was sitting, it was the only place
the floors didn’t cave in. I mean, right over here the floor was gone ... my
little area where I was sitting ... I was on the seventh floor, and the eighth
floor came down and went through, and then it just kept on going down.
There was a window to a hall by my desk and I crawled over it and got out.
The stairwell was still lit. The light was on in the stairwell. I know that
some people are still in the building that they haven’t gotten to yet. I saw
a lot of people very badly hurt. People were getting out covered with blood
and just stunned ... I mean it was just a shock.”

As the news reporter conducting the interview was about to ask another
question, Ms. Lawton turned suddenly pale and weak as new cries from the
Murrah Building came rushing from behind her, frantic and emphatic:*Move
back! Let’s go! All companies come out of the building! Right now! Pos-
sibly explosives planted in the building! Everybody evacuate the Federal
Building! Get out—NOW!”

Suffering is one very long moment.
We cannot divide it by seasons.
We can record only its moods and chronicle their return.
— Oscar Wilde
De Profundis, (1905)
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Chapter 3 —

TURN OVER THE FALSEHOOD

The Bomb Scare, Weapons Disposal, and a Red Herring

It was almost half-past ten o’clock in the morning. The warning came that
another bomb had been discovered in the ruins of the Murrah Building.
This was the first of three times during the day that rescuers would be
evacuated from the building because of the discovery of other explosive
materials.

Witnesses monitoring the police-scanner radios reported hearing the urgent
announcement: “All companies come out of the building! Right now!
Everybody evacuate the Federal Building! Remove all your personnel from
the building immediately! Possibly explosives planted in the building!
Repeat: Evacuate the building immediately!”

All personnel were ordered from the building and the surrounding area,
some leaving victims trapped in the rubble who desperately cried after
them to stay. Oklahoma City Assistant Fire Chief Jon Hansen, in writing
about the evacuation, stated,“The decision to pull our people was made
quickly. In truth, there was no choice to make. The first rule for those
responding to an emergency is not to become victims themselves ...

“When the call came to evacuate, some of our people were working to
extricate victims from the debris that trapped them. We learned later that
some of those rescuers opted to stay with the injured and ride out the
threat. We didn’t reprimand any of them for their decision. We felt it was
one of those few times in life where there wasn'’t a right or wrong choice.
Whatever each rescuer personally chose to do,given each specific situation,
was the right thing to do ...
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“Rescue workers were forced to leave some people who were conscious
but trapped. Leaving was extremely tough on everyone who was sent out
of the building, but it was obviously far worse for the victims left inside ...
The rescuers who saw their faces caught glimpses of pure terror, and those
expressions are something they will carry with them for the rest of their
lives.”

Firefighter Monte Baxter echoed Chief Hansen’s words as he tried to
explain how difficult it was for the rescuers to leave the victims. “I don’t
think anybody knows how tough that is, especially for a firefighter, to know
that you're sitting here with somebody who is trapped and hurting and very
frightened, and then you're ordered to leave.”

“Some of the trained individuals who had patients sitting right next to
them refused to leave the area until those patients were removed,” said
medical technician Scott Moore. “It’s real hard to sit there with someone
who is bleeding and dying, who is looking at you and asking you not to
leave, and then just go ahead and leave them. It’s real hard to do that”

An unidentified firefighter, obviously deeply affected by what had occurred,
stated, “When we got back [after the first evacuation], some of the people
who were alive when we left them had died by the time we returned.”

Deputy County Assessor Tim Gilbert had to abruptly end his search near the
nursery when reports of a second bomb led to the evacuation of the area.
“God, I hope they get those little kids out,” he cried. “I had to leave little
kids on the second floor. I'd rather be horse-whipped than leave these little
kids.”

An ashen-faced volunteer, Robert Buckner, stated,“I would have gladly given
my life for one of those kids’ lives ... just one child”

In describing the sudden panic that struck those at the bomb site, para-
medic Mark Robertson said,“All of a sudden I looked up and I saw this large
group of firemen running just as fast as they could. A lot of them were older
firemen with whom I'd made many calls during the six years I'd been out in
the field, and I saw fear on their faces. Some of those guys were running
faster than I'd ever seen them move in my life. I thought, If these folks are
scared about something, then it's time to run.”

As word of the ordered evacuation spread, civilians in the area panicked
and began to run away from the Federal Building fast as they could in every
direction. Everyone was moved back from the bomb site while law-enforce-
ment officers made more secure the makeshift perimeter that had been
hastily erected around the devastation. More yellow crime-scene tape went
up, wooden barricades were brought in, and more guards were posted.
Demolition experts arrived to handle this newest emergency.

People all over the world, watching on television and listening on radio,
were riveted to the spot as the Oklahoma Highway Patrol bomb squad
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entered the building. All listened with bated breath for any information
from the officers. Moments after arriving, a bomb squad officer reported,
“All companies on the general alarm be advised: There has been another
device found in the Federal Building. Clear a four-block area.”

On the police band a horrifying conversation between two workers in the
Federal Building was overheard by scanner buffs who were following the
downtown developments. This conversation was reported by three sepa-
rate and unrelated witnesses:

“Boy, you're not going to believe this!”
“Believe what?”
“I can’t believe it! This is a military bomb!”

What was going on here? No word had yet been released to the public con-
cerning the make-up of the bomb or bombs that had devastated the
building. But suddenly we were confronted by the voices of experts on the
scene describing as “a military bomb” the device that was being handled at
that moment by the bomb squad.

This was a very serious development; it turned out to be something that
would later be denied by all federal law-enforcement representatives and by
the primary local players when the media was finally allowed to ask the
hard questions. In fact, once the denials began, the subject of other explo-
sives in the building became the issue that would simply be ignored by all
officials for several months to come.

Nevertheless, witnesses at the scene had plenty to say about it at the time.
Mail Carrier David Sykes, who had earlier escaped from the basement area
of the Federal Building, reported that a firefighter ran toward the crowd
gathered nearby and told him and his co-workers,“You folks might want to
move on west. They found another bomb!”

Cathy Garrett, the Red Cross Public Information Coordinator, told reporters,
“Everyone just started running. They were shouting, ‘Get out of the way;
there’s a bomb!” I ran!”

Andy Cullison, a cameraman who had been at the Good Printing Company
seven blocks north of the Murrah Building at the time of the explosions,
had moved closer to the scene to observe the rescue operation. As he was
watching, a firefighter approached and warned him and others to evacuate
the area. Cullison said the firefighter told him,*“They believe there's a sec-
ond device, and it's more powerful than the first”

Two firefighters and one other gentleman, each speaking independently of
the others and on condition of anonymity, testified to what was found in the
building. They all stated that the second bomb was actually several
bombs—five-gallon-sized olive-drab-colored canisters bearing Milspec num-
bers and clearly labeled “fulminate of mercury,” with a hole in the top of
each canister through which a detonator was attached.
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This could account for the comments about “a military bomb,” because ful-
minate of mercury is a powerful explosive used primarily by the military. It
is practically impossible to purchase this substance in any quantity at all. It
is intensely controlled by federal regulations, and a person desiring to
acquire fulminate of mercury must first obtain approval and a federal per-
mit, and then jump through many hoops of bureaucratic red tape.
Fulminate of mercury is an extremely dangerous substance, is extremely
difficult to obtain, and is not available to just anybody.

In an interview conducted in May 1995 by Relevance magazine, Oklahoma
City Police Department Public Information Officer Bill Martin confirmed
sketchy reports that several containers of fulminate of mercury were dis-
covered inside the building. He guessed that they might have been used
routinely by the BATF in their explosives work. By late summer 1995, Mar-
tin had changed his story, knew nothing about the fulminate of mercury,
couldn’t imagine how the rumor got started, and suddenly could not recall
the name of the magazine that had interviewed him the previous May.

The fact that this chemical was found in clearly labeled military canisters
obviates the possibility that some local thug manufactured the chemical in
his kitchen (if such a thing were even possible) or bought it “on the street.”
The fact that there were multiple canisters of military origin found in the
building casts an entirely different light on everything that happened there-
after.

Several witnesses at the scene watched as the rescue operation was
stopped, and they stated that they saw at least three additional bombs taken
out in barrels from the third floor by bomb-squad personnel. Others
reported that explosive devices from the building were removed under
blankets on medical stretchers. It was later reported that these devices
were taken to a county property and detonated.

Additionally, the Dallas Morning News later wrote, “Early reports specu-
lated that the terrorists may be traceable through the unexploded device
agents recovered from the building.”

When questioned about who might have been responsible for the bombing,
Dr. Randall Heather, a terrorism expert, said,"We should find out an awful lot
when the bombs are taken apart. I think it was a great stroke of luck—and
it’s hard to talk about luck on a day like today in Oklahoma City—but it was
a great stroke of luck that we actually have got defused bombs. It's through
the bomb material that we’ll be able to track down who committed this
atrocity.”

As far as the bomb squad, the police, the experts, and the eyewitnesses
were concerned, there were secondary devices discovered and removed,
possibly of military origin. As far as the media was concerned, these discov-
eries were going to supply the big break needed to track down the
perpetrators. Amazingly enough, the devices were not used to track down
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anyone. Their existence was denied, concealed, and lied about by federal
officials, and eyewitnesses were threatened and told to keep quiet. No
questions were asked.

Later, in what would possibly be the most inane statement made by any fed-
eral official on April 19, Jack Killorin (then spokesman in Washington, D.C.
for the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms) said, “Public safety per-
sonnel on the scene think they have found an unexploded device in the
building. We believe this was a bombing and we are responding as if it was,
but we do not have any forensic evidence yet to confirm that. The damage,
however, appears consistent with a bombing.”

Killorin’s nonexplanation was made in the afternoon when all the world—
except him—knew for certain that a bombing had indeed occurred. It is
interesting to note, however, that his unfortunate remarks were made prior
to the unexplained transformation of the facts into what later became the
official story. Killorin would never again refer publicly to secondary or
unexploded devices, nor would he again appear in his role as BATF spokes-
man during the bombing investigation.

In spite of the testimony of numerous witnesses and reports from person-
nel on the scene, national news representatives would for months to come
continue to say,“The suspicious devices turned out not to be bombs.” This
statement and all others like it were bold-faced lies.

No one in the mainstream press with the possibility of public exposure and
the power to inform was asking any questions about these obvious contra-
dictions. For reasons unknown,all immediately adopted the revised version
of the event—in whatever twisted configuration it had at the time—and
have continued to do so through the story’s many subsequent alterations.

But the fact remains that television viewers heard the screams warning
everyone to run from the scene. We heard the voices crying, “A bomb!
Another bomb!” We saw the press scrambling to safety. We saw medical
personnel grasping the walking wounded under the arms and dragging
them away from the area. We listened to the reports from eyewitnesses
who saw the secondary devices. Something was definitely going on, and
everyone who saw the bomb squad truck arriving at the scene and later
observed the bomb squad removing devices from the building had no
doubt that something had been discovered.

Nurse volunteer Toni Garrett spoke about the discovery of the secondary
explosive devices: “There was a period when we were bringing the bodies
to the playground, and that’s when we were told that we needed to evacu-
ate the building because they had found another bomb. There were at least
four other people who told me that there was a bomb inside the building,
and they were all part of the rescue effort. Two of them actually saw the
removal of the bombs when the bomb squad came down to the Murrah
Building, and described to me a timing device on one of the bombs. It had
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been set to go off ten minutes after the earlier explosions. We assumed that
the mechanism of the bomb with the timer malfunctioned because of the
first blasts. So that’s why the second bomb did not explode.”

For what seemed like the longest hour in human history, we all waited in
uncertainty, weeping for the victims and praying for the injured and the
rescuers, while the bomb squad brought its equipment and personnel into
the area to defuse and remove the secondary explosive devices.

For those outside the building, everything was at a complete standstill. As
we waited with great anxiety, C.A. Davis, who had been involved downtown
with the rescue efforts, telephoned KFOR Channel 4 Television to offer a
report for the public. When asked if he could describe the scene inside the
building, Mr. Davis said,“You just can't imagine it. There are bodies laying
everywhere. There are people just laying there screaming, trying to get out.
I've helped rescue several bodies. There were a bunch of babies that we've
had to drag out. It’s just a real gruesome sight. What they're trying to do
right now is to search in there for another bomb. We're just trying to pull
everybody who is a civilian back to a four-block radius. It's just a terrible
sight.

‘I'm a construction company owner, and I was coming down here to a trim
company when the explosion happened. It rocked me pretty hard, and I
didn't know what was going on. I went down there and they asked me if I
could take somebody to the hospital. I took four or five victims in my truck
over to the Baptist Hospital, left there, and came back.

“I knew the maintenance man of the Federal Building. He was trying to
help get blueprints to go down there and shut off the auxiliary power. We
went down there and the generators didn’t kick off. The folks were afraid
to get in the building because of all the live electrical. I just was trying to
be a concerned person and help. I got deeper into it, and then things
started falling on us. What we're trying to do now is to get some heavy
cranes in here and try to get the bigger I-beams and concrete off of these
people and try to secure the area”

As we waited, word came that a two-and-a-half-year-old, fair-skinned female
child with red hair and blue eyes was being taken to Southwest Medical
Center. Her condition was stable, but she needed surgery. She could not
tell anyone her name and no one could find her parents. Video footage of
the child’s wide-eyed, frightened face and tiny clinging hands was broadcast
as she was gently cradled and carried to an ambulance by a female volun-
teer. It was hoped that someone would recognize the child and contact the
hospital or the parents.

As the bomb squad continued to work in the Murrah Building, Dr. Thomas
Coniglione, the medical director of St. Anthony Hospital, made an
impromptu speech in front of the emergency entrance. He was very
concerned about the delay in the rescue operation caused by the discovery
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of the secondary devices, and he offered his report to a public hungry for
any information about the status of the injured who had been brought to
his hospital. He looked tired and stressed as he spoke:

“The situation at the present time is that we have treated more than fifty-six
injuries. There have been several more since the last count. At the present
time the medical teams downtown are unable to get into the wreckage to
retrieve more of the injured because of the presence of other bombs in the
area. I've been told by the police department that just as soon as those
bombs are defused, they will permit the medical teams to enter. Then once
the medical teams enter, we expect quite a large number of rather badly
injured individuals being brought here.

“We have an incredible capacity. I will tell you that of the fifty-six we've
treated, each of the fifty-six injured individuals had a single doctor and at
least one or two nurses with them. So we've had an amazing outpouring of
support from the medical community. To have fifty-six doctors here at one
time treating fifty-six patients is rather unheard of.

“We also right now have at least three or four other doctors who are just
sitting here waiting for more of the injured to come. We have three patients
in the operating room at the present time. We have more operating rooms
ready to be used if needed. We don’t have a problem with capacity. We do
have a problem with a few too many volunteers. We've had volunteers com-
ing from far out of town, and I can't tell you how much I appreciate them
being here. Right now I think we have all the doctors, nurses, and EMTs
that we need.

“Concerning the number of injuries, the most that we've heard from the
police department is that there are quite a number who are dead at the
scene. There is another large number who are injured, but we have no
absolute numbers. We've had fifty-six. I think some of the other hospitals
have had comparable numbers, so if you add that up, that’s easily a couple
of hundred injured.

“The initial group of injuries we saw were of people who were on the
street and outside, and they were injured by exploding glass. They had
many superficial lacerations of the face, the scalp, and the back. There was
one lady who had her hand on a doorknob when the explosion took place.
The door flew open, and the power of the exploding door fractured the
bones in her arm. She is currently in the operating room. Those are being
fixed.

“So the initial injuries were people who were standers-by or visitors or
walkers in the street. And then we started getting some children from the
day-care center, and then we got some people from within the building.
Those within the building were injured considerably worse than those who
were out in the street.
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“There are three people in the operating room right now. One has an injury
to the carotid artery, which is the large artery in the neck. The other one
has multiple injuries of the face and neck. The third one has injuries to his
leg and the arteries supplying his leg. So these are rather substantial inju-
ries.

“I had asked that some of the more critically injured people be brought
here because of the physician supply we have here. We have many
neurosurgeons, many orthopedic surgeons. They deal with the most severe
injuries, so I've asked that those injuries be brought here. We're well-
equipped and well-supplied with staff to take care of them. I do not know
how they are being triaged from downtown, but I would think that we
could handle any of the injuries because of our proximity and because of
the enormous number of specialists we have.

“We have also set up a special area for all families. It is in the gymnasium of
our Mental Health Center. If any of the families go into the gymnasium, on
the wall we have a huge board with names of everyone who has been
injured and the hospital location of that individual. So it doesn’t matter if
that individual is here or elsewhere. Come here and you can find out where
the individual is. And we also have conditions on a large number of these
patients also. So we'd be delighted to be helpful if we can to anyone who
wants to come to our Mental Health Center”

This was the first official report the public had received from any medical
authority, and the news was not encouraging. By the end of the day twelve
hospitals would report treating bomb-related injuries: St. Anthony, Presbyte-
rian Hospital, Baptist Medical Center, South Community Hospital, University
Children's Hospital, Mercy Hospital, the Veterans Hospital, Deaconness,
Hillcrest, and the hospitals in Bethany, Edmond, and Midwest City.

At the time of Dr. Coniglione’s report approximately 200 individuals had
been treated at area hospitals. By the end of the day, that number would
exceed 500. Two days later, when all of the numbers were finally tallied, it
would be reported by the media that over 700 persons had been treated for
bomb-related injuries at area hospitals and private clinics.

During the lengthy statement by Dr. Coniglione, our attention had been
focused on the people receiving medical treatment, the victims we all
hoped and prayed would survive and recover. But then suddenly an official
report was released to the media from the Governor’s office. It was pub-
licly confirmed that there were eight dead, and six of them were children.
We had just heard the first death count of many more to come over the next
sixteen days.

Licensed practical nurse Lydia Winfrey reported that several of the children
who had been removed from the building had had severe head injuries; one
had been decapitated, and another had a hole in its head filled with plaster
pieces. According to a local dentist working at the triage center on the
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south side of the Murrah Building, it appeared that the children had been
hit in the face by the blast and had been blown backward toward the north
side of the day-care center. The shocking description given was that “their
faces were blown off” Another witness described the bodies as “sand
blasted, as if they had been peeled.” This was but one more indication that
a bomb or bombs inside the building had exploded in addition to the bomb
out on the street. Dolls and toys found near the young victims were
brought out as possible aids to identification.

Renewed waves of grief and shock swept through the community as this
report became known. No one could have anticipated the number of fatali-
ties that would ultimately be confirmed as a result of this horrible incident.
We knew there had been a large number of people in the building at the
time of the explosions, but we were also hearing of large numbers of
injured who were being treated and released. That appeared to be a hope-
ful sign at the time—and people needed a hopeful sign—but things became
progressively worse, and it soon seemed that there would be no end to this
tragedy.

The situation was grim. It was almost eleven o'clock in the morning, and of
the possible 1000 people believed to have been in the building, we knew
the confirmed status of only eight. All we could do at that moment was
wait and pray.

The television news media then offered this report:“The first bomb that
was in the Federal Building did go off. It did the damage that you see right
there. The second explosive was found and defused. The third explosive
was found—and they are working on it right now as we speak. I under-
stand that both the second and the third explosives were larger than the
first. It is just incredible to think that there was that much heavy artillery
somehow moved into the downtown Oklahoma City Federal Building.

“From what we were told in the last couple of live reports from downtown,
they are starting to allow rescue and evacuation workers to move back
closer to the building. So we would assume that they are doing so with
some degree of certainty that there is some integrity and security around
the building now. But both of the other devices that they found—of the
three in all—the first one went off; the other two, we understand, were
even larger than the first, and that is really almost too much for us to com-
prehend when you look at what that one bomb did to the front of the
building.”

This was the first official media announcement that the bomb squad had
indeed discovered additional explosive devices in the building. This report
was repeated numerous times between eleven o’clock and noon. At the
time these secondary-device announcements were being made, they were
simultaneously being confirmed by police and firefighters on the scene by
way of local radio and scanner reports. But by midafternoon the story had
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begun a transformation. By then certain officials began saying that no other
explosive devices had been found. The media followed suit and repeated
what they were told.

Something was very wrong with the way the story was taking shape, and it
was particularly disturbing to observe that eyewitnesses were telling one
story while officials—especially officials from Washington, D.C., who were
not at the scene—were telling something completely different. It would be
but a few more hours until all parties got coordinated, and then every local
and federal source would tell every media representative that there was
only one bomb, only one explosion, and that no secondary devices were
found in the Murrah Building. They would stand uniformly by that story for
twenty weeks.

At the first official press conference, which was held in Oklahoma City at
approximately 5:00 p.m. Wednesday afternoon, questions concerning sec-
ondary explosive devices were at first emphatically denied. Later such
questions were simply ignored. Public inquiries about secondary explo-
sives were denigrated in the press, and anyone asking pertinent questions
was automatically labeled a conspiracy nut.

The Sumter Video Tape

Several months later, however, an event occurred that changed the official
story into something new and different. That event was the release of a
ninety-minute videotape made inside the perimeter by Technical Sergeant
Melvin Sumter of the Oklahoma County Sheriff’s Department. The ninety-
minute video released to independent investigators was a shortened
version of many hours of video footage taken by Sumter for the Sheriff’s
Department and that he himself had edited. Even after editing, the visual
information was damning indeed.

When considering the contents of Sumter's videotape, it is important to
recall that things that are similar are not necessarily identical, and a single
point of dissimilarity disproves that they are identical. A brief seven-minute
section of Sumter’s videotape reveals firefighters removing weapons, ammu-
nition, and explosives from the rubble of the building, under the direction
of federal law-enforcement agents, with crowds of other workers observing
nearby, including Sumter.

An hour earlier in the videotape, Sumter’s footage shows the 10:30 a.m. call
for the evacuation of workers immediately following the discovery of other
bombs in the building, the arrival of the bomb-squad personnel, and the
removal of rescuers from the area, including the evacuation of Sumter him-
self.

What happened as a result of Sumter’s videotape, and why is this a prob-
lem?

The discovery of the canisters of fulminate of mercury was made by local
rescue workers. The removal of the undetonated explosive devices from
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the building was executed by local bomb-squad personnel after the major-
ity of workers had been evacuated from the building and all people in the
area had been moved back at least four blocks. The removal of these
devices took place between approximately 10:30 a.m. and 11:15 a.m.—a
time of day in which, in daylight saving time, shadows are still west of any
sunlit object.

The later seven-minute segment of weapons being removed shows no
bomb-squad personnel active on the scene. The weapons, ammunition, and
explosives are being removed by firefighters under the direction of federal
law-enforcement agents. Many other workers are standing around waiting
to be sent into action. And the shadows cast by the workers on the scene
are indicative of a midafternoon time frame.

One point of dissimilarity is enough to show that two events are not iden-
tical. These two similar events are not the same incident by any
measurement.

But there was a problem:When federal investigative agencies became aware
of this videotaped evidence, they decided to tell the world that the two
events were identical, then began to make public statements to the effect
that the weapons, ammunition, and explosives removed from the Murrah
Building during the afternoon by firefighters were the same explosive
devices that had been removed by the bomb squad several hours earlier,
during the late morning. This was another bold-faced lie, but not many
people were paying attention to the details. Many well-intentioned people
fell for the government’s specious explanation.

The federal government had a particularly thorny problem on its hands. Too
many witnesses knew for a certainty that multiple canisters of fulminate of
mercury had been removed from the building by the bomb squad. Too
many people were talking about how the government had been lying when
it said that no other explosive devices had been found on the scene. Even
the news media had a hard time swallowing the idea that after they had
dutifully released all the official reports of discovered explosive devices
based on solid eyewitness reports from the bomb site, those reports had
been false because police and bomb-squad personnel had “made a mistake
in their reports to the media.” This one wasn’t going to fly.

Suddenly, after the feds had stood by their false official version for five
months, they changed their minds. Now they were going to admit that
explosives had been found in the building after all. But which explosives?

When Sumter’s videotaped evidence came to light, it became necessary to
explain away that evidence somehow. The feds’ explanation—preposterous
though it was—confused the issue completely for most people. The gov-
ernment had no choice but to admit that the videotape did indeed show
weapons, ammunition, and explosives being removed from the building. In
addition, photographs had been released of arsenal rooms that had
belonged to the BATE There was just no getting around these facts. The
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easiest way to handle this sticky situation was to make the public believe
that the weapons, ammunition, and explosives that had belonged to the
BATF were the same devices the bomb squad had removed during the
morning.

But they were not the same thing at all.

The BATF Arsenal

When this video and photographic evidence forced its hand, the Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms finally had to admit that they indeed had
arsenal rooms and that there had been weapons, ammunition, and explo-
sives illegally stored in the Murrah Building. But the organization then
stated that they weren’t real explosives. They were all inert “training
devices.” Amazingly enough, BATF spokesmen, both locally and in Washing-
ton, D.C., were able to repeat this story to the media while maintaining a
straight face.

No explanation was given about why the existence of these so-called train-
ing devices had been so vigorously denied for so long and acknowledged
only when it could no longer be hidden from the public.

No explanation was given about why, if the devices were totally inert and
harmless, the BATF felt their presence in the building had to be concealed.

No explanation was given to questions concerning the legality of storing
weapons, ammunition, and explosives—inert or otherwise—in a federal
building a mere seven stories above the location of a day-care facility.

No explanation was given for why federal law-enforcement agents consis-
tently lied to the media and the public about the weapons, ammunition, and
explosives for five months following the bombing.

And of course nothing was ever said that would distinguish the removal of
the BATF’s materials during the afternoon by firefighters from the removal
of the military’s explosive materials during the morning by the bomb squad.

With few exceptions, federal and local officials are still lying to this day
about the secondary explosive devices found in the building during the first
bomb scare at 10:30 a.m. on April 19, 1995. The somewhat sheepish admis-
sions by the BATF merely serve as a smoke screen, and should be seen for
exactly what they are.

The weapons, ammunition, and explosives stored by the BATF and removed
by firefighters during the afternoon are not the canisters of fulminate of
mercury or any other device removed by the bomb squad during the morn-
ing. There are clearly two different events under discussion here, and the
media and federal agencies are doing their best to muddy the waters and
confuse the public. There is a reason for this.

Expert analysis (detailed in Appendix C) confirmed that small, carefully
placed demolition charges had indeed been present in the building, and the
disaster on the morning of April 19, 1995, was the result of a multiphase
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plan: the bomb in the street served as the cover for the true cause of the
massive destruction to the building; and the perpetrators of the street bomb
had cooperated, possibly unknowingly, with other parties to bring about
the most devastating terrorist act in American history.

Even without the testimony of the experts, other evidence began to cast a
sinister shadow over the entire federal investigation. Frightened eyewit-
nesses had privately come forward who had seen “construction workers”
drilling and cutting cavities into the concrete support pillars at the second
underground parking level days before the bombing. They had also over-
heard conversations between the alleged construction workers in which
explosives and bombs were discussed and the relation of bombs to the size
of the holes in the columns. No effort had been made by the workers to
hide their activities, and it was not unusual to see construction workers in
and around the Murrah Building. The workers did not appear suspicious to
the witnesses, and it was believed at the time that the workers’' comments
were made in jest. It was only after the bombing that the significance of
what had been observed struck home.

In light of this information, it is clear that the bombing of the Murrah Build-
ing involved much more than a street bomb and some BATF weapons
stored on the ninth floor. There were obviously many players in this tragic
drama, but federal investigators decided to let the BATF take some of the
heat rather than discuss fulminate of mercury or cavities cut into support
pillars. It seemed to be a move of simple self-preservation.

If agents or agencies of the federal government or the U.S. military or the
National Security Council knew about the bombing plan, planned it them-
selves, or participated in the action, it would be absolutely necessary to
conceal and/or disguise that participation by any means possible. A per-
fectly utilitarian—and extremely convenient—explanation and excuse
would be the presence of the huge arsenal of weapons and miscellaneous
ordnance stored in the Murrah Building by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco
and Firearms.

Because the BATF was still smarting from such bad press following the
Waco Massacre and the “good ol’ boys round-up” scandal, and because it had
become federal agency non grata in the eyes of the public, it was com-
pletely logical, plausible, and believable that this agency could have illegally
stored weapons, ammunition, and explosives in the Federal Building that
“just happened” to explode as a consequence of the detonation of the street
bomb, thus causing the massive and asymmetrical damage to the building.
This excuse, if believed, could successfully be used to disguise the involve-
ment of any other person or agency in the bombing of the Murrah Building.

The only problem with this scenario was that the BATF was not ready to
serve as the sacrificial lamb and continued to assert that its “explosives”
were only inert training devices. This arsenal-room-explosion hypothesis is
one of the more popular conclusions touted by the underground press and
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by some independent investigators. But this is not what happened that
April 19.

Investigative officials have yet to discover (or admit) that any of the stored
ordnance detonated at any time (which could not have happened anyway,
had it been inert). But even if these munitions had detonated as a result of
the force of the street bomb, this would not account for the second explo-
sion, which occurred a full five to eight seconds after the first; nor would it
account for the presence of military canisters of fulminate of mercury in
the Murrah Building; nor would an explosion in the BATF arsenal room
located on the ninth floor sever the concrete support columns at their
bases, or at the third-floor level as much evidence also suggests.

Suffice it to say that the hypothetical accidental detonation of BATF explo-
sives cannot explain even a small portion of what happened that day. Yes,
there were weapons, ammunition, and explosives illegally stored in the Fed-
eral Building. Yes, there was a BATF arsenal room on the ninth floor that
had been ruptured by the initial blast. Of that there is no doubt. But these
matters were not the primary or even secondary cause of the devastation to
the Murrah Federal Building. Nevertheless, it must have seemed needful to
federal officials that the public be swept away by this new BATF scandal,
and in very subtle ways information was regularly and intentionally leaked
to lead independent investigators away from the truth.

Of particular interest is the fact that even while officials have reluctantly
admitted that BATF explosives were stored in the building—which would
allow the hypothesis of a supplemental detonation to stand even though its
timing would be completely wrong (and even though the BATF claims the
devices were inert)—the feds have continued to deny that there was more
than one explosion.

It is also interesting to observe that when it became useful to cast blame in
the direction of the BATF to disguise the real facts about the bombing and
its perpetrators, more local officials became willing to offer information.
This information must be very carefully weighed, because it is only partly
true. These leaks serve as a deliberate distraction designed to satisfy the
public’s suspicions while completely side-stepping the issue of the second
explosion, the fulminate of mercury, and the evidence of demolition
charges inside the building’s support columns.

Investigator John Cash

An example of this sudden willingness to tell all was provided by the self-
proclaimed “independent” investigator and possible damage-control
operative, John D. Cash, who inserted himself into the investigation in the
role of a free-lance writer conducting research for a book about the
bombing. The timing of his entrance on the scene coincided with public
complaints from several family members of deceased victims about the
unsatisfactory explanations offered by federal officials.
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Understanding that no parasitic lie can exist without a modicum of truth on
which to feed, one has to separate Cash’s genuine discoveries of truth from
his deliberate manufacture of misleading falsehoods. Cash skillfully used
small bits of truth as bait, but reeled in his unsuspecting victims on a line of
false conclusions.

If you wish to gain the trust and respect of a group you intend to infiltrate,
you must offer something substantive on which to build the relationship.
This Cash did with great expertise, bamboozling most people who came in
contact with him. Those persons never again questioned his sources, con-
clusions, contacts, background, means of support, or real purpose in the
investigation. In this regard, the persons Cash was allegedly serving as an
independent investigator were completely deceived. But it would be
almost six months after the implosion of the Murrah Building before Cash
would show his true colors.

In the early stages of his independent investigation, Cash interviewed hun-
dreds of witnesses, victims, and officials, including Dick Miller, the Assistant
Fire Marshal for the Oklahoma City Fire Marshal’s Office. Cash revealed the
gist of his conversation with Miller in an interview with Chuck Allen. Mr.
Cash said:

“Dick Miller, in very clear terms, readily admitted that there were explo-
sives removed from the Murrah Building immediately after the disaster on
the very same morning. And it was those devices that were removed from
the Murrah Building which caused the evacuation of the rescue workers on
at least three different occasions. It's important for people to understand
that while they were in the process of removing these explosives, people
were left bleeding to death and dying. This was a very real situation.”

What is wrong with Cash’s account of Miller’s testimony? The admission by
Dick Miller is genuine. That he made the statement has been confirmed in
independent interviews. However, the sentences following Miller's state-
ment are Cash’s misleading conclusions. The devices “removed from the
Murrah Building ... the very same morning” were nof the materials stored
by the BATF;and the BATF materials were not removed during the morning,
as he implied in his next statement.

Cash continued, mixing fact with fantasy:

“We have all heard the news story that came out from the BATF and the FBI
that these explosives were nothing but training devices. This is the most
absolutely ludicrous excuse. If anyone believes that, they are overlooking
the very simple and obvious fact that experts went into that building,
experts removed police, fire, and civilian rescuers, and moved them blocks
away while they endeavored to remove all of these explosive devices.

“Dick Miller told me that the 10:30 a.m. bomb scare was related to a
two-foot by two-foot by two-foot box marked ‘High Explosives. In a subse-
quent interview with another reporter, Miller explained that he watched
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the bomb squad load that box up and haul it off. The box contained percus-
sion caps that are used for C4”

It is certainly possible that such a box existed and might have been
removed from the building. However, Miller’s statement in this regard has
not been confirmed from any source other than himself. No other testi-
mony about the box marked “high explosives” has been forthcoming from
any other worker at the bomb site. While no corroborating testimony sup-
ports the existence of Miller's box, three independent witnesses have
confirmed the existence and removal of the military canisters of fulminate
of mercury. Again we are faced with the manufactured confusion concern-
ing which explosives were removed when and by whom.

Additionally, in the quotation above Cash failed to identify the other
reporter to whom Miller allegedly told this story. The most likely candidates
for the other reporter are two gentlemen with whom Cash had many close
dealings over many months and with whom he continues to associate:
Arnold Hamilton of the Dallas Morning News, and Lawrence W. Myers of
Media Bypass magazine. Neither of these gentlemen have come forward
with this same story to confirm or deny Dick Miller’s statements, and it is
inconceivable that they would not do so if the statements were true and
corroborated. If Miller intended that his statements be kept confidential,
Cash violated that confidence by this disclosure.

Remembering to always consider carefully the conclusions reached by
Cash, one must look at the last statement in the earlier paragraph:*The box
contained percussion caps that are used for C4.” Cash does not say that
Dick Miller made this comment, nor does he state that Miller revealed this
information to the other reporter. We cannot confirm that the box existed,
or if it did, that it contained anything.

It is also extremely important to note that C4 is not activated by percussion
caps, but rather by blasting caps. Percussion caps are used in the reloading
of ammunition. When a percussive blow is struck against the percussion-
cap end of a bullet by the hammer of a firearm, the powder in the bullet
explodes and the resulting gases force the bullet from the barrel of the gun.
Blasting caps, on the other hand, are usually (but not always) activated
electronically. Under no circumstances would a box of percussion caps—
which are not in and of themselves considered ammunition—be labeled as
high explosives; nor would a box of percussion caps be any threat at all—
certainly not one requiring the presence of the bomb squad. The alleged
presence of percussion caps in a box labeled “high explosives” makes abso-
lutely no sense whatsoever.

It is inconceivable that a man as knowledgeable as Dick Miller would con-
fuse percussion caps with blasting caps; nor would he associate percussion
caps with C4; nor would he state that the bomb squad was required to
remove a box of percussion caps from the Murrah Building. In this regard
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it seems more likely that Cash has again reached a false conclusion or has
purposely created a red herring with his comments about the contents of
the alleged box.

Continuing with Cash’s interview, he launched into the BATF arsenal-room
hypothesis:

“I had speculated early on that the BATE the Secret Service, and the DEA
were most likely storing explosives illegally in the building in their arsenal
rooms. Sure enough,as time went by witnesses came forward, and we now
have video tapes of the workers removing all kinds of ordnance from the
ruins of the building on the day of April 19 [referring to the Sumter video-
tape]. I have discovered that indeed the DEA and the BATF had arsenal
rooms on the ninth floor. I have obtained photographs of the BATF arsenal
room. I have four different live witnesses on tape who have said that they
watched the BATF unload their arsenal room two weeks after the blast.
They helped them load different devices and firearms—every firearm
known to man. There were hundreds of thousands of rounds of
ammunition, explosives, boxes marked ‘Explosives, TOW missiles, hand
grenades—just about everything short of a T-72 Russian tank was in that
building. But the most important thing is that they were storing devices
that were high explosives which definitely did not belong in a public build-
ing.”

A sharp, knowledgeable reader might have caught every misleading state-
ment in Cash’s account and discerned truth from fiction. The fact remains
that no matter what the BATF or any other federal agency might have been
storing in the Murrah Building, those devices were not the canisters of ful-
minate of mercury removed from the building during the 10:30 a.m.
evacuation, nor were they the cause of the secondary explosions, nor did
they sever support columns—all of which we know did occur.

The fact that the BATF kept an arsenal answers none of the real questions in
this situation, and the implications are not lost on a public that was reeling
emotionally from the slaughter of innocent children. Cash’s account served
mainly to alter and color the perceptions of that public. Additionally, his
alleged witnesses who watched the unloading of the BATF arsenal room
lwo weeks dfter the explosions were obviously not referring to the materi-
als removed on the afternoon of April 19, or the military materials removed
that morning.

The real intent and thrust of Cash’s statements are summed up in his own
words: “... the most important thing is that they [the BATF] were storing
devices that were high explosives which definitely did not belong in a pub-
lic building.”

The most important thing to whom? What “high explosives”? Cash has a
very real problem here with the truth.
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If the BATF materials were harmless and inert, then those materials did not
contribute in any way to the destruction of the building or to the deaths of
the victims.

If the BATF’s materials were not inert, there is still no evidence that any of
its materials detonated at any time (if they had, there would have been little
material to remove two weeks later), and thus neither contributed to nor
caused the devastation.

If the BATF's materials were not inert, and if any evidence existed that the
rupture of the ninth-floor arsenal room resulted in a supplemental explo-
sion, the location of that explosion would still not account for the column
collapses in the building. And if such a thing occurred, the government
would have to admit that there had been secondary explosions on April 19.

This they have not done.

It must be understood that the actions of the BATF were certainly deplor-
able, and the storage of the weapons, ammunition, and explosives in the
Murrah Building was definitely a violation of law. These things should vigor-
ously be exposed and condemned. But these situations and conditions do
not in any way explain what occurred that morning. The focus on the
BATTF’s arsenal is a deliberately manipulated distraction designed to turn our
attention away from much more serious—and certainly more factual—
evidence.

Cash has been a key player in promoting the “BATF arsenal explosion”
hypothesis, and in this regard he has led many good and well-intentioned
people sadly astray. Many have fallen for his stories because the stories are
based in fact. But the conclusions drawn from those facts are pure fiction.

Regrettably, two of the people most intensely involved in the independent
investigations into the bombing, Glen Wilburn and State Representative
Charles Key, have both fallen prey to Cash’s performance. Because of Cash's
influence on these two respectable gentlemen, the evidence and conclu-
sions offered by Wilburn and Key must also be carefully weighed in order to
separate the truth from the deceptions perpetrated by Cash.

Glen Wilburn, the grandfather of two small children killed in the day-care
center, raised many issues in his own investigation of the bombing. Wilburn
said,“I've got a lot of questions about it. I also have questions about explo-
sives in the building. I have talked to an investigator who has taped
interviews with civilian employees who worked in the building—taped
almost immediately after the blast—and they tell of explosives that the
BATF had stored in that building and that were carried out by BATF several
times in the days following the explosions.”

The investigator of whom Mr. Wilburn spoke was none other than John D.
Cash. If BATF explosives were stored illegally in the Murrah Building, it is
unlikely that civilian employees would be knowledgeable of that fact unless
they were employed by the BATF—in which case their testimony “almost
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immediately after the blast” is even more unlikely. And of course, if the
explosives were carried from the building by the BATF in the “days follow-
ing the explosions,” they were not the devices removed by the bomb squad
at 10:30 a.m. on April 19.

Wilburn continued: “We've been told that the first bomb scare was not, in
fact,a bomb scare, but was designed to get the civilians and all personnel
back. Then the BATF went in there to get their files and also to take explo-
sives out which they had illegally stored, as well as munitions from the
ninth floor. If that’s true, we've got a serious problem because we have
explosives being stored illegally in a public federal building.”

Some of Wilburn'’s testimony and suppositions here are inaccurate. The first
bomb scare absolutely was a real bomb scare. There is nothing phony or
laughable about fulminate of mercury with detonators attached. According
to nurse Toni Garrett, those devices were equipped with a timer set to deto-
nate ten minutes after the first explosion, at the very time when a large
number of rescuers would have arrived on the scene to assist the injured.
The canisters of fulminate of mercury were military devices, not BATF arse-
nal weapons; nor were they Cash’s alleged “percussion caps for C4”

As for the remainder of Wilburn’s statement, additional investigation did
confirm that the BATF did go back into the building to recover files and
stored ordnance. But the BATF was not the only federal agency to do so.
Although we did not realize it on the day of the explosions, it was later
revealed that several distinct and separate agendas were being followed
while the world thought the emphasis of all operations was to rescue the
living and remove the dead.

Robin Jones, general manager of KQCV-KNTL Radio, uncovered similar
information. In her well-researched book, Where Was God at 9:02 A.M.?,
Jones wrote, “The Secret Service, ATE FBI, DEA, and U.S. Marshals, all
housed in the building, rushed their own investigators and agents to the
scene, partly to help with the rescue effort, partly to recover sensitive
material.”

Ms. Jones interviewed an eyewitness who stated,“Three distinctly different
operations were going on. FBI and Secret Service people were searching
through file cabinets and the rubble for sensitive information. Everything,
every ongoing investigation, every undercover agent, was bared to the
world in that rubble. They had to get it. The ATF and FBI and others were
also investigating the bombing itself ... And the third was the rescue opera-
tion.”

Dick Miller’s information and the testimony of the witnesses mentioned by
Cash, Wilburn, and Jones make for a very good story. Almost too good and
almost too convenient. But while it all casts a very embarrassing light on
possible illegal activities of the BATF and other government agencies, it
offers nothing to explain other more compelling evidence that indicates
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what may really have occurred on the morning of April 19. There was much
more going on than was readily apparent, and much more happened that
day that has not yet been revealed. It is this “much more” that officials are
still frantically attempting to conceal.

You never need think you can turn over any old falsehood
without a terrible squirming and scattering
of the borrid little population that dwells under it.
— Oliver Wendell Holmes, Sr.
The Autocrat of the Breakfast Table (1858)
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THE SCAR OF IT WILL REMAIN

The Birth of the Official Story

The all-clear sounded shortly before eleven o'clock in the morning. Bomb-
squad officers left the scene and the waiting firefighters, medical personnel,
and civilian rescuers quickly filed back into the remains of the Murrah
Building. Firemen had earlier reported finding survivors to whom they had
been speaking through the cracks in the concrete floors, and they were
anxious and impatient to return to work.

Said one medical worker as she hurried back into the bomb site,“The debris
you see laying out in the street in piles and stuff, it’s exactly like that in the
building. It's dark and it’s dusty. There are bodies and there is chaos—
everywhere.”

An Oklahoma City police officer, angered by the senseless horror of the
scene, spoke with great frustration to the news media: “You wonder how
somebody could be so heartless. You're not talking about only adult lives,
but also children. There was no compassion for anybody. This is just a cold-
blooded killing.”

A few moments before the all-clear was announced, Governor Frank
Keating (See Appendix A) ordered all state employees to go home for the
day. The state legislature had recessed at about ten o’clock, and public hear-
ings at the Corporation Commission headquarters at the Jim Thorpe
Building, just southwest of the Capitol, were interrupted by evacuation
orders.

Prior to leaving the buildings in the Capitol Complex, employees were
asked to check their offices for anything unusual that they might not have
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seen before. They were also warned not to touch any strange object, but to
immediately notify the security guards. As a precaution, Capitol police
officers began systematically searching the State Capitol and the surround-
ing government buildings floor by floor. All buildings in the complex were
evacuated and all entrances to the Capitol Building were closed except one.
The entrance that remained open was heavily guarded by Capitol police.

Following the evacuation, explosives experts from the Oklahoma Highway
Patrol, the Oklahoma County Sheriff’s Department, Fort Sill Army Base, and
Tinker Air Force Base swept the Capitol area in search of bombs. Later that
afternoon, dogs trained to sniff out explosives were brought in to complete
the sweep. Their first stop: the Governor’s office. No explosives were
reported found.

The Oklahoma County Courthouse was also evacuated with instructions
that regular court business would resume the next day, but all jurors were
excused from duty until the secured area became accessible.

In downtown Oklahoma City the blast had forced the closing and evacua-
tion of the Federal Reserve Bank located at 226 Dean A. McGee. Most of the
bank’s windows had been blown in, and about two hundred employees
were sent home for the day. Three other downtown banks—Bank of Okla-
homa, Bancfirst, and City Bank—closed for the day because of damage to
the buildings and their inaccessibility due to the roadblocks. Only essential
personnel remained on duty at Boatmen’s First National Bank of Oklahoma
and Liberty Bank and Trust. Employees were instructed not to come to
work the next day unless they were contacted by their supervisors. The
general guideline was: if you don't get a telephone call, stay home.

As the Oklahoma State Capitol Complex and downtown businesses were
being evacuated, we learned that in many other areas of the country federal
buildings were being cleared of workers. Evacuations were ordered in
some instances, and security was intensified at the IRS Building in Boston,
Massachusetts, and at the Federal Buildings in Ft. Worth, Texas; Omaha,
Nebraska; Wilmington, Delaware; Detroit, Michigan; Boise, Idaho; Portland,
Oregon; Des Moines, lowa; Indianapolis, Indiana; St. Louis, Missouri;
Greeneville, Tennessee; Cincinnati, Dayton, and Steubenville, Ohio; East Palo
Alto, Riverside, and Santa Ana, California; and throughout the State of New
York. Security was increased generally at federal buildings in New Mexico
and Washington State, and at the U.S. Capitol and the Department of Justice
in Washington, D.C.

Copycat bomb threats were causing great alarm throughout the United
States. Law-enforcement officials and terrorism experts tried to calm the
public. Said Professor James Fox of Northeastern University (also an inves-
tigator into the World Trade Center bombing):“Despite the fact that we hear
of these events and they make major headlines, it’s still a rare event and we
should not be paranoid into thinking that we are constantly at risk.” Other
similar announcements did little to settle the rising fear in the nation.
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After the news of the bombing spread across the country, U.S. Deputy Mar-
shals in Denver, Colorado, were seen guarding the Federal Building and the
U.S. Courthouse in that city with shotguns and automatic rifles. Armed
guards were also posted at day-care centers for federal employees in Den-
ver, Colorado, and in Ogden, Utah. The whole country seemed to be on alert
because of the Oklahoma City disaster, not knowing if it was an isolated
incident or the first of a series of orchestrated attacks.

In the meantime, however, rescue workers at the Alfred P Murrah Federal
Building faced a new problem. Cellular phone frequencies were jammed by
the heavy calling traffic, and police and medical personnel were finding it
very difficult to manage their interagency communications.

Southwestern Bell Telephone Company evacuated 918 employees from its
operations in five major downtown buildings, but maintained enough tech-
nical staff to set up emergency communication systems at the bomb site.
Spokesman Tom Hunter said, “Because of the heavy telephone calling traf-
fic, we have done some selected call blocking to keep the system from
being overloaded to a crisis point. However,” he assured the public,“no 911
calls have been blocked.”

Bell’s parking lot at 800 N. Harvey was quickly transformed into the central
command location for federal investigators and the Oklahoma National
Guard; and emergency land-line phone banks were set up in two locations
for use by emergency personnel. The Cellular One Company then provided
225 cellular phones and free cellular service to emergency services person-
nel to ease communication problems. Radio and television stations made
urgent pleas to the general public to stay off all telephone lines to help
clear the communication jam.

Shortly after eleven o’clock Mayor Ron Norick granted a curbside interview
to the press. He was the first official to make a public statement revealing
the embryonic version of what would later become the official bomb story
as it would be told by federal law-enforcement agencies and, consequently,
the media. This story would eventually go through many alterations, adapta-
tions, and transformations, but at this early hour the tale was just beginning,.

It was during Mayor Norick's initial street interview that we learned that
the official story was going to center around a single vehicle loaded with
explosives. The official version of this vehicle would change style, color,
make, and size, and the size of the bomb would also grow dramatically in
the week that followed. But in its first telling, as the rescue workers were
reentering the Federal Building after the first bomb scare, this was the
Mayor’s report:

“There are no theories at this point,” Mayor Norick said,“only speculations.
Obviously, it was a bomb—a car bomb. It was a very large device. Why, we
can’t imagine; but there’s a lot of injury and there’s a lot of death,and we've
got to get the people out. There are still a lot of people in the building.”
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When asked where the search for the other bombs had been concentrated
during the bomb scare at ten-thirty, Mayor Norick, gesturing broadly toward
the Murrah Building, replied:*Well, in that whole area. It's anywhere in that
area. If this is a car bomb, it could be anywhere. They've got dogs, so
they're checking it out. They're probably the best way to find devices, and
they're using them extensively.”

The Mayor was questioned about the location of the alleged car bomb at
the time of the explosion, and was asked how he knew where it had been
parked. “We know where it was parked from the Police Department and
from other people on site,” said Norick. “It left about an eight-foot crater.
You can see where the car was. At first they thought it was in the parking
garage, but apparently it was a car bomb on the street. It blew a crater
about eight feet deep in the street and melted a couple of cars together.
They'll let you all in there eventually and you can take a look at it”

But the Mayor spoke too soon. No media personnel would ever be allowed
into the perimeter to inspect the crater at any time. As previously men-
tioned, the crater was deliberately filled prior to the inspection made by
representatives of defense attorney Stephen Jones and his independent
investigators. No one other than federal officials was ever allowed investi-
gative access to that portion of the bomb site.

As the Mayor’s speech ended, KFOR Television Channel 4 news anchor
Kevin Ogle began reading an AP news release directly from the news wire.
He announced,“Other explosives were put into cars that were driven into
the parking garage ...~

But before he could finish reading the statement he was sharply cut off by
his co-anchor Devin Scillian who suddenly changed the subject, and noth-
ing more was ever said about this at any time on any network by any
newscaster. That brief and truncated announcement was the only informa-
tion ever released by the media that began to address the issue of
explosives cutting the support columns in the building. From this point for-
ward, the severing of the columns would never be addressed by the media
or any federal officials. It was an issue that would be completely ignored.

The Channel 4 newscast abruptly cut downtown to reporter Jayna Davis,
who quoted a statement made by Oklahoma City Assistant Fire Chief Jon
Hansen, whereby another element was added to the official story. Said Ms.
Davis, “Jon Hansen just told me that the blast was so tremendous that a
crankshaft was blown a half a block away”

A vehicle part would later become key evidence that would point an accus-
ing finger at the three men ultimately indicted in the bombing. But exactly
which automotive part was going to be responsible for the investigative
breakthrough had not yet been solidly established in the official story. Over
the days that followed, this vital vehicle part would be described by
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different eyewitnesses as a crankshaft, an axle, a differential, a rear transaxle
gear, a rear bumper, and a piece of the frame.

It seemed that every automotive part discovered in the area had to be a
portion of the bomb vehicle. Few seemed to consider that there were over
600 vehicles destroyed in the immediate vicinity of the Murrah Building
(and many more outside that location), and auto parts of every size and
description were scattered over a quarter-mile area around the building. It
took federal officials a little time to determine which automotive part of
many was the part that held the investigative key, but once they made up
their minds and juggled things a bit at the scene, the axle story became
ctched in stone.

The suspicious automotive part was seen in at least four different locations,
ranging in distance from a half-block to two blocks from the Murrah Build-
ing, both east and west of the bomb site. The actual evidence-bearing part,
the actual location of the part, and the real identity of the witness who
allegedly found the part have remained the subject of much controversy
among people who have continued to track the inconsistencies of the
federal investigation.

The crankshaft mentioned by Jon Hansen was located a half block to the
northwest of the building,.

Governor Frank Keating claimed to have found a suspicious axle two blocks
due east of the Murrah Building. He later claimed to have found his suspi-
cious axle one block away, so his previous find might have walked a little
closer into town.

A police source, who spoke on condition of anonymity, said FBI agents had
found an axle of a van believed to have carried the bomb about two blocks
northeast of the scene.

KFOR news anchor Sean McLaughlin described a different axle as video
footage of mangled metal was televised: “You are looking at an axle sticking
out. From what we are told, that axle belonged on the car which the explo-
sives were in, and the force of that explosion literally lodged that axle into
another car, fused it, and melted it into another car”

ABC national media representatives spoke of the discovery of an axle that
“might have come from a brown one-ton pickup truck,” and described “very
molten” truck parts located two blocks from the scene.

Finally in a televised interview, a local police officer laid claim to Keating’s
mysterious axle and stated that he was the person who had actually found
it one block northeast of the building. It was never clear which of the four
axles seen and described was the real bomb-vehicle axle.

Architectural design team coordinator James Loftis reported that he saw the
differential of the bomb vehicle approximately 500 feet to the west of the
Murrah Building in front of the Regency Tower Apartments, and stated that
he was told by law-enforcement officials that it was from the bomb car.
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James L. Pate, a writer for Soldier of Fortune magazine, claimed to have seen
the rear transaxle gear from the bomb vehicle smashed into a fence located
one block northeast of the building.

Richard Sherrow, reporter for Soldier of Fortune magazine, found a rear
bumper of a Ryder truck two and a half blocks from the blast site. The ini-
tial examination of the bumper seemed to indicate that the truck may have
been a Ford Model EC-350.

It was with a great sensation of déja vu that we learned—once the axle was
named as the official bomb-vehicle identifying part—that the mysterious
axle just “happened” to have the vehicle identification number on it, just
like the mysterious axle discovered in the World Trade Center Bombing. In
spite of the fact that the many suspicious automotive parts came from a car,
a van, a pickup truck, a half-ton truck, a one-ton truck, and a large truck,
they were all supposed to be from the bomb vehicle. This situation was
going to take some serious sorting and juggling.

At approximately 11:15 a.m. Governor Frank Keating telephoned President
Bill Clinton to seek further help and ask for an emergency declaration. The
Governor also requested that federal investigative and rescue workers be
sent to Oklahoma City. President Clinton stated that he would send the
exact same team that had investigated the World Trade Center bombing in
1993 to assist in the Oklahoma City situation. Members of the Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) were activated on a regional level
and dispatched by the FBI because of the perceived potential for more
problems in the area.

Immediately following these announcements, the Associated Press news-
wire carried this statement from Washington, D.C.:“The head of the BATF
now says that it appears it was a car bomb with as much as 1200 pounds of
explosives packed inside.”

Here was another piece of the official story—the 1200 pounds of explo-
sives. This figure would increase greatly over the days to come as federal
officials found it necessary to make certain that the proposed bomb was
large enough to have caused such damage. Initially it was reported that the
bomb contained 1200 pounds of explosives. Later this figure increased to
become an indefinite “couple of thousand pounds,” followed by “several
thousand pounds,” and finally expanded into 4800 pounds of ammonium
nitrate fertilizer and fuel oil. No one ever explained this remarkable growth
spurt.

As the size of the bomb increased, the suspected transporting vehicle also
had to increase in size, which it did. The growth of the street bomb was
halted only when the by-then officially designated bomb vehicle had
reached the limits of its cargo capacity.

Initially it was reported that the bomb-bearing vehicle was simply an auto-
mobile. Later, Police Sgt. Kim Hughes reported that the bomb had been
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carried in a blue National Car Rental minivan with Texas license plates. By
Thursday the news media was reporting that the bomb had been brought
into Oklahoma City in a mid-sized half-ton yellow Ryder Rental truck. The
Ryder Rental truck eventually became a twenty-foot cargo carrier. This final
version of the truck was large enough to accommodate the alleged 4800
pounds of ammonium nitrate fertilizer and fuel oil—which just happened
to be the largest Ryder truck available to the suspects on the day that the
truck was supposed to have been rented. At this point the bomb and
vehicle statistics were finally settled by the feds.

Remarkably, the Ryder Rental Company seemed to have become the agency
of choice among terrorists. Both the World Trade Center bomb and the
Oklahoma City bomb had supposedly been transported in Ryder vehicles.
It was later revealed that both the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms had long-standing user arrange-
ments with Ryder Systems, Inc. Ironically, in the weeks that followed, the

bomb-site area

Photograph was taken during the search-and-removal period. In the lower right-hand side of
the photo can be seen three Ryder rental trucks (arrows) parked on the east side of the
Journal Record Building. These trucks were used by the FBI and BATF for evidence collection
and debris removal. There were numerous Ryder trucks on the scene at all times, from the
day of the bombing until the building was imploded on May 23, 1995.
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was inundated with yellow Ryder Rental trucks used by federal agencies in
the removal of equipment and materials from the former Murrah Building.

Also of note was the fact that Mitchel Anthony Burns (See Appendix A)—
Chairman, President, and CEO of Ryder Systems, Inc.—was listed on the
membership roster of the Club of 300 of the Trilateral Commission. That
particular roster was publicly released April 15,1995, and was published in
its entirety in Veritas newspaper on June 5, 1995. (Copies of the roster can
be obtained by written request addressed to The Trilateral Commission,
N.A., 345 East 46™ Street, Suite 711, New York, NY 10017.)

At 11:30 on the morning of the blasts, the official story was still in its
infancy. We were told that a car bomb containing 1200 pounds of explo-
sives had blown up in the street in front of the Murrah Building and that the
important automotive evidence at that time was a crankshaft found one-half
block to the west of the site of the explosion, located in front of the
Regency Tower Apartments.

Teamwork and Cooperation

Again we went into a holding pattern. There was nothing to do but wait
while rescue workers dug tirelessly through the rubble to free the few sur-
vivors they could find. At this time the bomb scene was flooded with
personnel from every conceivable agency and department, and more were
arriving every moment. Among the crowds on the scene were:

firefighters

sheriff’s deputies

tactical police teams

small-town police officers

BATF agents

FBI agents

arson and explosive experts

state and federal investigators

disaster team members

FEMA representatives

Air Force rescue-squad members

National Guardsmen

medical and disaster volunteers

restaurateurs providing food

store owners bringing in supplies

relief workers serving the rescuers,

media representatives, and

busloads of additional authorities and politicians from all over the

United States,
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Throughout the morning mediflight helicopters had been landing in nearby
parking lots to unload supplies and remove survivors, but the number of
survivors being found was dwindling rapidly. Reporter Tara Blume was sta-
tioned at the triage center at NE 5" and Oklahoma Street and found there
were no victims to treat. She witnessed many army stretchers, bags of ice,
boxes of water, and other supplies being collected by the Red Cross in that
location, but the medical personnel were standing around waiting in uncer-
tainty. Next to the triage center over fourteen ambulances were waiting by
the side of the road to go into service the instant they were needed.

Ms. Blume'’s first hint of what was ahead came when she realized that the
area was also being set up to serve as a temporary morgue storage facility.
The body bags began arriving, and a refrigerated tractor-trailer rig was
brought in and parked beside the Red Cross supply depot.

Medical personnel who were stationed at this triage center, at the EMSA
triage center located at Couch and Harvey, and the triage center and tempo-
rary morgue at the children’s playground area south of the Murrah Building
waited for the next wave of the injured. Also waiting was nurse Elizabeth
Collier, a fifteen-year-veteran at St. Anthony Hospital. Earlier that morning
she had faced the greatest challenge of her career—finding space in the
hospital to care for the hundreds of injured patients who had arrived during
the first hour after the explosion.

In a later interview Ms.Collier described the controlled chaos at St. Anthony
Hospital. “The first of the injured began arriving at about 9:15 a.m. After
that, at any one point in time we had between 300 and 500 people in our
emergency room drive[way]. So being able to triage the patients, family
members, and volunteers to the correct areas became very important so we
could free up the driveway to take care of the patients. We also had mul-
tiple staff members, physicians, and nurses. And the hall was filled with
supplies so that we could triage again all those who came into the hospital.
Wherever 1 went, whether it was to the outpatient clinic, here in the emer-
gency room, or in our intensive care unit, I remember the crunch of the
glass under my feet. I don't think there were one or two heroes. I think
there were thousands.”

Shortly after 11:30 a.m. the following announcement came across the Asso-
ciated Press newswire: “A 52-member rescue-and-search squad is flying in
from Phoenix to help search for victims of the explosion. The Arizona Fire
Department says that the group includes physicians, technicians, heavy-
equipment operators, and a radio specialist. The group is one of only five or
six such rescue units in the nation,and it is equipped to help detect sounds
from people trapped inside the building.”

That news encouraged everyone who heard it. If any situation required the
specialized equipment and expertise of the Phoenix team, this was it. Again,
optimistic expectations rose of finding survivors in the Murrah Building,
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and for a few more hours hopes were high. None of the waiting medical
personnel realized that there would be no second wave of injured arriving
to receive their expert care and attention. There would be other living vic-
tims pulled from the rubble of the Murrah Building during the course of the
afternoon, but they would be few in number.

After that night there would be no more.

Every rescuer on the scene hoped to find a living survivor. When one was
found, the news spread rapidly through all of the teams at the site and
raised the energy level of everyone working in the building. One unidenti-
fied firefighter, reluctant to be called a hero, told his story.

“I was down in the basement, and I had asked everyone to be quiet in the
hope that when I yelled I would get a response from somebody, and I did.
There happened to be a lady that was trapped under there. I'm not sure
how long it took us to get her out, but we were down there for quite some
time. Once we started getting the debris moved, there was about eighteen
inches of water in which she was laying. I had to remove my helmet and
crawl under some of the debris to get underneath there with her. I asked
her what her name was. I told her who I was and I held her hand. I told her
we were going to get her out.

“Once we got her out of the debris, I suddenly realized we had to somehow
get her out of the building itself. T wasn’t sure how that was going to hap-
pen. But I turned around and the rest of the rescue workers on my team
had cleared a path from where we had been working all the way to the
door on the east side of the building. It was just like walking in an aisle in
the supermarket. That's how good of a job they did for us. It was an amaz-
ing example of teamwork and cooperation, and it really raised our spirits
high.”

There would be other demonstrations of such teamwork at the community
level. As the noon hour approached, the Oklahoma City Fire Marshal real-
ized it was going to be necessary to feed the rescue workers. Miraculously,
the Oklahoma Restaurant Association had scheduled the opening of its
annual trade show for noon that day. About a quarter of the 450 exhibitors
were at that very moment in the Myriad Convention Center, located five
blocks south of the Murrah Building, preparing food samples to distribute
when the show opened. The Fire Marshal contacted Bill Clift, the host of
the trade show, and convention chairman N

lunches for the rescue workers.

Over the next nine days the exhibitors of the trade show
20,000 meals per day. The meals e served not just to reScue and relief
workers, but also to people at three re -relie ers near the bomb
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ilies awaiting fiews of their loved ones. In addition, tons of

site and to fa
hot meals, snfacks, and beverages were transported to the bomb site four

times a day. The restaurateurs senv out for cases of soft drinks during the
heat of the afternoon, and as the weather turned sharply colder after sunset,
they provided 150 m:rps*dfﬂ coffee during the first night alone.

The Myriad Convention Center became the place where many of the out-of-
state response teams were fed and housed and where displaced downtown
workers who were in varying states of shock and exhaustion could get off
the street, have a hot meal, and find rest and comfort from chaplains and
counselors assigned to that location. Relief volunteers who worked in the
Myriad preparing the sleeping quarters, collecting the dirty laundry of the
rescue workers, and helping to serve the meals, went out of their way to
make each rescue worker feel at home, comfortable, and appreciated. As
cards and letters of sympathy, gratitude, and admiration began pouring into
Oklahoma City from around the world, the relief volunteers placed some of
these special cards on the beds of all of the rescue workers, along with
some candy or a fresh flower. It was this kind of VIP treatment offered to
every person who worked in the downtown area during the emergency
that made the name “Heartland” mean more than a geographic location.

Laundry service for the rescue workers was provided free of charge by
Nuway Laundry, an allied member of the Oklahoma Restaurant Association.
The laundry company organized its personnel into around-the-clock shifts
so that the rescue workers’ cleaned clothing could be returned to them
within twelve hours, before the next shift of rescue workers came on duty.

One of the laundry workers, when sorting through a huge pile of rescuers’
clothing, came across a pair of pants that had several hundred dollars in a
pocket. She hadn't the slightest idea whose pants she was preparing to
wash, but she knew that the dirty clothing came in in twelve-hour batches.
She reported the discovery to her supervisor, the laundry found the owner
of the pants, and the rescuer's money was returned to him. He was com-
pletely surprised and very grateful, for he had imagined that he would never
see it again. He stated that never in his life had he worked with or been
served by people of such integrity.

In addition to the heroic work performed by the Oklahoma Restaurant Asso-
ciation, the headquarters of Feed the Children, an international relief
organization, was located approximately six miles from the Murrah Build-
ing. Founder and director Larry Jones quickly mobilized his trained teams
of volunteers and set up temporary headquarters near the bomb site.

In a coordinated effort with local churches, Feed the Children helped pro-
vide clothing, shelter, supplies, food, and counseling to the hundreds of
people who had run out of their offices without purses or wallets, whose
cars had been destroyed by the explosions, and who needed someplace to
go. During the rescue and recovery operation, Feed the Children served

101 $ 7/29/96, 8:56 AM




102 ¥ Oklahoma City: Day One

approximately 10,000 meals and received thousands of pounds of donated
supplies of every type from the community, and then distributed those sup-
plies to the rescue workers.

The Salvation Army was the only relief organization allowed to set up a can-
teen inside the restricted area. They supplied food and beverages, provided
approximately 3000 ministers, employees, and volunteers to assist in the
rescue and relief effort, and counseled 1600 victims and family members
during the crisis.

Five blocks from the bomb site, City Church immediately set up food and
shelter for rescue and relief workers and displaced persons. In spite of its
small kitchen facility, City Church served approximately 1500 meals every
day for nearly two weeks.

The people in the community wanted to help in any way possible. Over the
next two weeks they cooperated in innumerable ways to help meet the
needs of the rescuers. The single, most-often-repeated story told by any res-
cue worker is the tale of the “genuine, unspendable Oklahoma dollar” It has
been told and retold by every news source and has appeared in virtually
every local newspaper. This true story was originally told by Oklahoma City
Police Chaplain Jack Poe. With a view toward making its publication unani-
mous, it is included here.

“I was talking to one of the men who had come in from the World Trade
Center rescue operation,” said Poe, grinning from ear to ear. “This guy from
New York said, ‘Look here. I have an unspendable Oklahoma dollar; and he
pulled a dollar bill out of his pocket.

“I1 came here with expense money, he explained, 'but I can’t spend it.
Nobody will take it. You fed me, clothed me, and sheltered me for free. You
even did my laundry and cut my hair for free. When I was working the
World Trade Center bombing, I had to walk eight blocks for a meal, and then
had to pay ten dollars for a cold hamburger from a vendor on the street.
Nothing was provided for us there. Nothing. I cannot believe the love you
have here. And this is a genuine, unspendable Oklahoma dollar.”

Washington, Waco, and the Experts

As the communities in the Oklahoma City metropolitan area were gearing
up to support the rescue workers with open hearts and open wallets,
another effort was under way. Federal agencies were preparing their state-
ments and lining up their experts to take over the investigation of the
bombing. National pundits were already saying, “A political toll has been
exacted in Oklahoma City” This was the first of a veritable onslaught of
similar remarks that would dominate the news for weeks to come.

At noon White House Spokesman Mike McCurry held a press conference in
Washington, D.C. Said McCurry,“Here at the White House, we can just now
reveal how federal agencies are now responding, and we're satisfied, based
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on the reports that we have from the Department of Justice, from GSA, from
the FBI, from FEMA, from the Secret Service, from the Marshals Service, and
from all the relevant federal agencies that might have a little hand in dealing
with this incident, that we have a very good federal response in hand.

“The federal government has activated an emergency response plan that we
train for and that we have in place so that we can coordinate an interagency
response to incidents like this. The Department of Justice had already
responded, had FBI personnel in place, and a variety of law-enforcement
efforts are under way. They have established a mobile command center in
Oklahoma City with FBI, FEMA, Alcohol,Tobacco and Firearms, the Marshals
Service, and GSA in place to give updated information to folks here in
Washington.

“The President has directed for the emergency-response effort that James
Lee Witt, the Director of the Federal Emergency Management Agency, will
go to Oklahoma City to coordinate the emergency response. We'll have the
Department of Justice coordinating the various law-enforcement efforts
that will be under way, and FEMA is responding to the emergency situation
in place.

“Mr. [Leon] Panetta has been briefing the President regularly. The President,
I expect, like many Americans, has been watching the developments as he
sees them on television and getting updates from the Chief of Staff as we go
along.

“I'd ask that you [the press]—for inquiries about the various things going
on in Oklahoma City related to law enforcement—that you stay in close
contact with Carl Stern over at Justice. And for the work that FEMA will be
coordinating, that Maury Goodman will be a good point of contact. He'll be
coordinating some of the interagency public affairs efforts as we go along”

Immediately after McCurry’s speech, the BATF repeated on national televi-
sion that the bombing was caused by a parked car that contained between
1000 and 1200 pounds of explosives. We were off and running at full speed
on the speculation and propaganda racetrack. It was going to be a long day.

On NBC NewsTom Brokaw hosted a live interview with Neil Livingstone, an
expert on terrorism and terrorist bombings. Said Brokaw, “Neil Livingstone
was recently in Oklahoma City giving a talk on—of all subjects—terrorism,
to the Oklahoma City Police Department. And he joins us now from Wash-
ington. Why would Oklahoma City be a target for this kind of thing, Mr.
Livingstone?”

Livingstone replied, “Well, it wouldn’t traditionally be a target. Usually, ter-
rorists strike in the major media centers. We think of terrorist attacks being
much more likely in Washington or New York or Miami or L.A.—not
Oklahoma City. But what we learned from the attacks in Argentina by
Islamic fundamentalists a couple of years ago is that they often also go
where your security is the weakest, where people least expect it.”
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“Why were you talking about terrorism in Oklahoma City?” asked Brokaw.

“‘Actually, I've given several speeches out there, ironically, in the last couple
of years, on terrorism to civic groups. There is a strong interest in public
affairs and particularly this problem of terrorism. I think that the fact that
they have so many people involved in the oil industry, and quite a few stu-
dents from Middle Eastern countries who are studying various types of
engineering in Oklahoma may have also contributed to it

It was time to bring up the Muslim fundamentalist terrorist accusation
again, just in case anyone had forgotten the statements made three hours
earlier by Dave McCurdy and Ileana Ros-Lehtinen. James Fox, an investiga-
tor in the World Trade Center bombing and professor at Northeastern
University offered his cautious opinion:“I think we could say there are simi-
larities to some of the Middle Eastern groups. There are similarities to some
of the groups that have been active in Europe in recent years, especially
given the fact that it’s an enormous bomb apparently contained in a van or
a truck. But to go beyond that, I'd be reluctant to do so.”

But Professor Richard Dekmenjian from USC in Los Angeles held another
view: “I would be very, very careful in not immediately ascribing this to
Islamic extremists. I can think of a number of homegrown organizations—
the cultic millenarians, the people up in the Idaho panhandle, the Messianic
types, the neo-Nazis—that could be responsible for this.”

It must have also seemed like a good time to bring in the big guns, and the
alleged Waco connection was mentioned by Neil Livingstone as a possible
motivation for the bombing. Not all experts agreed. James Fox remarked,
“I'd be surprised if it was part of David Koresh’s group from Waco simply
because from what I know of the Waco situation, his followers did not have
the sophistication needed to put a bomb of these dimensions together and
make it blow”

In spite of expert opinions to the contrary, newscasters everywhere began
speculating that the Murrah Building bombing might have occurred
because this day—April 19, 1995—was the second anniversary of the siege
at the Branch Davidian church near Waco, Texas.

For some reason members of the news media have never referred to Mount
Carmel as what it really was—a Christian church. Nor have they ever
referred to the members of the Branch Davidian Church as its congregation
but as “cult members.” Davidian leader David Koresh was never referred to
as the pastor or minister of that church, but was always dubbed the “cult
leader” With that same disregard for truth and reliance on innuendo, the
media began speculating again.

From these expert readers of the teleprompter now came many statements
that the Murrah Building might have been the target of the bombing attack
because Oklahoma City FBI Director Bob Ricks had also been a major player
and FBI spokesman during the Waco Massacre.
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Although there was a small FBI office in the Murrah Building, no one both-
ered to mention that the primary offices of Bob Ricks and the FBI were
located five miles away from the Murrah Building. An Oklahoma City
spokesman for the FBI, Dan Vogel, would not comment on the possibility of
a connection between the two events.

It was further speculated that the building might have been blown up
because agents of the BATF—which had stormed the church at Mount
Carmel, burned it to the ground, and murdered most of that Christian con-
gregation—had an office in the Murrah Building.

No one bothered to inform the public that there were no more than a maxi-
mum of twenty BATF employees who worked in the Murrah Building, and it
was not yet known if any of those employees had served as ground troops
during the Waco Massacre.

No one mentioned that the BATF offices, which were on the ninth floor in
the southeast corner of the building, could have been totally destroyed had
the driver of the alleged bomb vehicle parked on the east side of the build-
ing instead of on the north side—an inconceivable tactical error for a
dedicated terrorist if the BATF had actually been the target.

No one was talking about the fact that the BATF office was practically
empty of employees on the morning of April 19. In fact, information origi-
nating with BATF agents themselves placed only four BATF employees in
the building at the time of the explosions. Everyone else was conveniently
out of the office that morning ... but that is another story for Volume Two.

No one mentioned that the orders for the final fatal BATF assault in Texas
had come from Attorney General Janet Reno, and she certainly did not have
an office in the Murrah Building.

The media was grabbing at very elusive straws and coming to the most
illogical and unsubstantiated conclusions. Again, no one was asking the
right questions. When you are in a hurry to find a terrorist, any motivation
will do as long as it points an accusing finger.

Prior Knowledge

(See Appendix D)

News anchor Kevin Ogle interviewed Dr. Randall Heather, another expert in
terrorism. This interview offered the first piece of information that led to
many other inquiries about prior knowledge of the bombing by federal law-
enforcement agencies.

In keeping with the questions asked of other terrorism experts that day, Dr.
Heather was asked why Oklahoma City should have been a target for a
bomb attack. As we had observed in similar interviews earlier, his responses
were in line with the official story. He replied:

“Anyplace you have a federal building you have a target, and these buildings
could be anywhere in the United States. A car bomb is the easiest
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mechanism by which to deliver a device very close to a target. And there
are very few security measures short of cordoning off parts of the city—as
they are thinking about doing in Washington right now with Pennsylvania
Avenue—to protect against such an attack.”

The next predictable question concerned who might be responsible for the
bombing, and possible claims of responsibility by terrorist groups. Dr.
Heather offered his speculations, which touched every base and echoed the
other guesses offered by his colleagues in the field.

“I believe the Nation of Islam who were involved in the World Trade Center
Bombing—Sheik Omar Abdul Rahman’s group—claimed responsibility for
that event, but this claim of responsibility was done after the explosion.
This discounts the value of that claim. Obviously, had it happened two or
three minutes beforehand, it would have been of tremendous value. I don't
know myself.

“I do know that there had been a threat phoned in to the FBI last week. 1
don’t know what the nature of that was. But yes, they do generally try to
claim credit. But remember that all targets for terrorism are symbolic. We
have to divine what was the symbolism of that building.”

Dr. Heather's comment about the FBI's prior knowledge of a possible attack
on a federal building in Oklahoma City (confirmed by many other sources)
would become a matter of great controversy in the months following the
bombing.

During the afternoon press conference, Oklahoma City FBI Director Bob
Ricks blatantly denied that the FBI had had any prior warning whatsoever
about a possible bombing. His claims were echoed by Weldon Kennedy, FBI
spokesman during the bombing investigation. Similar denials were issued
by the Justice Department in Washington, D.C., until the evidence later
showed that they were all lying. After those lies were made public, officials
had no further comment on the matter.

Later evidence clearly established that the FBI not only had received
advance notice of a possible terrorist attack in Oklahoma City, but had also
telephoned a warning to the Oklahoma City Fire Department on Friday,
April 14, 1995, five days before the explosions occurred. This information
was confirmed by Oklahoma City Assistant Fire Chief Charles Gaines, Assis-
tant Chief Dispatcher Harvey Weathers, and Dispatcher Carl Purcer.

In his investigation of the FBI warning to the Fire Department, Glen Wilburn
confronted Harvey Weathers about officials’ denials of the prior warning.
Said Weathers: “Well, you asked me and I told you. I'm not going to lie for
anybody. A lot of people don’t want to get involved in this.”

The FBI warning to the Oklahoma City Fire Department on Friday, April
14, was recorded by the Fire Department’s radio log tapes. But there was a
problem. Although the log tapes from April 19 are intact, someone “acci-
dentally” taped over the logs from the previous Friday, removing all proof of
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the FBI warning. At the time of this writing, the Fire Department is fighting
a subpoena of Dispatchers Weathers and Purcer in a civil suit filed against
one of the bombing defendants.

Additionally, information came to light that the BATF and the FBI were alleg-
edly involved in a sting operation that was to have taken place during the
night of Tuesday, April 18. Lester D. Martz, spokesman for the Dallas
office of the BATE stated that the sting operation had failed because “the
bad guys didn't show up.” He further stated that the sting operation was
called off at 6:30 a.m. on Wednesday morning, April 19, just two-and-a-half
hours prior to the explosions that destroyed the Murrah Building.

When it was determined that the sting operation was not going to proceed
as planned, the bomb squad was called to check both the Murrah Building
and the Federal Courthouse for explosive devices. Bomb-squad personnel
and vehicles were seen by many people in the area and workers in both
buildings.

Norma Smith, an employee at the Federal Courthouse, observed the bomb
squad searching the building early on the morning of April 19. Said
Smith,“The day was fine, everything was normal when I arrived at 7:45 to
begin my day at 8:00 a.m.,but as I walked through my building's parking lot,
I remember seeing the bomb squad. I really did not think much about it—
especially when we did not hear any more about it. There was some talk
about the bomb squad among employees in our office. We did wonder
what it was doing in our parking lot. Jokingly, I said, " Well, I guess we'll find
out soon enough.”

It wasn't too long after Norma had spoken with her co-workers that her
ominous words came to pass. Norma was but one of many witnesses who
observed the bomb squad searching both the Federal Courthouse and the
Murrah Building prior to the bombing on April 19.

According to New American reporter William Jasper, “A mother whose
infant son was killed in the Murrah day-care center says she saw bomb
squad personnel standing across the street from the Murrah Building an
hour before the explosion. This mother said she had just dropped her child
off at the center at 8:00 a.m. and was driving south on Robinson when she
saw several men in dark jackets with ‘Bomb Squad’ in big letters across their
backs standing in front of the federal courthouse.”

In an interview with the Fort Worth Star-Telegram, Oklahoma City attorney
Daniel J.Adomitis said,“As I was passing the back side of the county court-
house, I noticed a truck with a trailer and the truck said ‘Bomb Disposal. 1
remember thinking as I passed that, ‘Gee, I wonder if they had a bomb
threat at the county courthouse?’”

In response to these and other eyewitness reports, Dallas BATF spokesman
Lester Martz replied,“I have not come across any information that any kind
of a bomb unit was at the building prior to the bombing.”
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To make matters worse, government documents were later revealed that
indicated that the U.S. Marshals Service in Denver, Colorado, had made an
immunity deal with a paid government informant who had knowledge of
the pending bombing and had forewarned government and law-enforce-
ment officials about it. Redacted copies of this letter were made public by
defense attorney Stephen Jones in his press conference of August 10, 1995.
A copy of the letter of immunity can be viewed in Appendix D.

U.S. Attorney Henry Solano confirmed that his Denver office granted
immunity to the informant in September 1994. U.S. Marshals Service repre-
sentative in Denver, Tina Rowe, denied the entire incident. According to
Solano, the informant was a drug courier making delivery runs between
Kingman, Arizona, and Las Vegas, Nevada. The informant stated that he
overheard conversations about plans to blow up buildings in the Midwest
in mid-April 1995. The informant further said that the alleged conspirators
were Latin Americans and/or Middle Eastern Americans with Arabic names.
When later questioned about the men accused of the bombing, the infor-
mant denied that he had ever seen them or heard their names mentioned in
connection with the bombing conspiracy.

On April 6, 1995, the informant delivered a hand-written letter to the Justice
Department in Washington, D.C., which stated:“After leaving Denver for
what I thought would be a long time, I returned here last night because 1
have specific information that within two weeks a federal building(s) is to
be bombed in this area or nearby ... I would not ignore this specific request
for you personally to contact me immediately regarding a plot to blow up a
federal bldg ... If you and/or your office does not contact me as I so request
herein, I will never again contact any law enforcement agency, federal or
state, regarding those matters in the letter of immunity”

Tina Rowe of the U.S. Marshals Service and representatives from the Justice
Department continue to deny that this letter was received, although the
letter has the signature of the office recipient on it.

It was undeniable that the Justice Department, the U.S. Marshals, the FBI,
and the BATF had prior knowledge of the potential for a bombing at a fed-
eral facility in the Oklahoma City area. It was undeniable that upper-level
authorities in the federal government also had prior knowledge. What
could we find out about the failed BATF sting operation scheduled for the
previous night? Why was that operation being conducted in Oklahoma City
but was seemingly directed out of the Dallas office? Why, in the face of so
much evidence to the contrary, were federal officials vehemently denying
that they had any forewarning of any kind?

This situation raised some very interesting questions, not the least of which
were these: If the bomb squad found nothing in its search of the Murrah
Building and the Federal Courthouse a mere sixty minutes prior to the
explosions, when were the column charges placed which severed the
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support columns in the building? When were the clearly labeled canisters
of fulminate of mercury set within the building? And, more importantly, by
whom?

To tell a falsebood is like the cut of a sabre;
Jor though the wound may beal,
the scar of it will remain.
— Sa'di
Gulistan (1258), translated by James Ross
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Chapter 5 —

THE STRUCTURE OF THE PLAY

The Media

At noon that Wednesday, a mere three hours after the explosions, we knew
only that several secondary explosive devices had been found, devices that
resembled military bombs; that these bombs had been defused and
removed from the Murrah Building by the bomb squad; and finally, that the
rescue workers were being allowed to return to the building,.

No one will ever know how many people died alone and unaided in the
rubble while the bombs were being removed. The rescue and medical
workers filed back into the mountain of debris laced with tiny tunnels and
voids where the survivors remained trapped. As the workers began moving
back in, the press was kept at a distance, and the immediate area was now
solidly ringed with yellow crime-scene tape.

From a street corner near the building, reporter Jayna Davis questioned
Assistant Fire Chief Jon Hansen about the progress of the rescue effort.
Chief Hansen, always wary of speculation, gave us a cautiously worded first-
hand account of what was happening at the scene.

“It’s going very, very slowly, Hansen said. “We have to move slowly because
there is still a danger of a building collapse. It's been very frustrating for us
because our folks want to be in there doing things. We are in there, we're
talking to victims through void spaces, and people are crying out to us.
We're shoring the structure as best we can with hydraulic tools. Some of
the dogs are at work in the building, and some listening devices are in use.
It’s just very, very slow work. We are able to reach through cracks and hold
people’s hands and reassure them as best we can. But actually getting to
them is going to take a long, long time.
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“We're doing the best we can on the rubble that we can get through, but
we're going to have to bring in heavy equipment and lift up some rods and
flooring. This is very similar to what happened in California in the earth-
quake, where buildings came down and floors pancaked on other floors.
There are a lot of void spaces we need to check.

“We've got a number of fatalities inside the building and we've been count-
ing those as we go to the people who are alive. Again, you see firefighters
coming out of the building with tears in their eyes. They're dealing with
buried people they can’t get to, but we're making those efforts, and we're
going to do the very best that we can.”

Ms. Davis asked,“We have unconfirmed reports from earlier this morning on
the scanner that there is flooding in the basement area and the lower floors.
Is that true?”

“The explosion severed lines in several of the buildings,” Chief Hansen
replied. “We got a report that we have had some water mains break and
some gas mains break inside the building, and that's something we have to
deal with to make sure we don't have any secondary explosions. So there
may still be a danger of that even though the utility companies have done a
marvelous job of getting those utilities cut off. It’s very dangerous right
now. The building is extremely unstable and we could have another col-
lapse with our firefighters inside.”

When asked to offer an estimate of how long the operation might take,
Chief Hansen greatly underestimated the duration. “We're talking about the
possibility of being here for several days. Right now we're gearing up for a
night operation with generators and lights, and we’ll work around the clock.
We’'ll work as long as we have to until we're sure, or as sure as we can be,
that all of our survivable victims in there are taken care of. It may be a
couple of days”

As the work progressed, the focus of the operation would change after the
first week from search and rescue to search and removal. Firefighters and
military personnel would work at the bomb site for the next sixteen days
before the building was officially turned over to the FBI for a final investiga-
tion prior to the building’s demolition.

Early on the afternoon of April 19 the national and international press
began trickling in. A few hours later they would form a veritable torrent. A
media center (called “Satellite City”) was being organized on NW 7" Street
between Hudson and Harvey—two blocks north and one block west of the
Murrah Building. From this time forward all information coming from the
scene would be carefully arranged, and any video footage of the building
would have to be shot from a crane or by a press-pool cameraman.

A 4000-foot mean sea level (or 2900-foot vertical) no-fly zone was estab-
lished later that day covering a three-mile radius around the bomb site for
all aircraft not involved in the rescue operation. This ended all aerial views
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of the building and rescue operations. From the media center only the
upper five stories of the Murrah Building were visible, and all ground opera-
tions were blocked from view by the remains of the Oklahoma Water
Resources Board Building and the Journal Record Building.

The outer boundaries, which were hurriedly being set up with road blocks
and crime-scene tape, extended two blocks east and west (with the block
containing the Murrah Building in the center), two blocks north, and three
blocks south of the building, creating a twenty-square-block secured area.
This initial perimeter was guarded at first by police officers and members
of the Oklahoma Highway Patrol. Later the Oklahoma National Guard
would be assigned to perimeter security.

PHOTO BY JOHN JENKINS
Photograph taken at the National Guard Headquarters at Max Westheimer Air Field in Norman
on April 20, 1995. More than a dozen Howitzers (seen inside the fence) and other artillery
were brought into the armory on the afternoon of the bombing.

Within two days the first perimeter would be enclosed by a greatly-
expanded, secondary exterior perimeter which was also guarded by armed
law-enforcement officers and National Guardsmen. The southern boundary
of the enlarged area was Robert S. Kerr Blvd.; the eastern boundary was
Oklahoma Street; the northern boundary was NW 10" Street; and the
western boundary was Classen Blvd.—an eighty-eight square block area.
The media center was contained within the exterior perimeter and with-
out the interior perimeter. No one could access the area without proper
identification.
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At the south boundary, Robert S. Kerr Blvd., no press gathered due to the
many large buildings that totally blocked all views north. All of the media
personnel were jam-packed into one tiny parking area between two build-
ings almost three blocks north of the Murrah Building. As the world media
representatives began to set up camp in this tiny spot, even the national
media stars would have to make their broadcast statements standing in
about four square feet of space, straddling miles of electrical and audio
cables and bumping shoulders with hundreds of their competitors.

While the members of the media scrambled for territory in their newly
assigned area, work in the Murrah Building continued as one crisis followed
another. A water main had broken in the Federal Building and the fire
department was trying to deal with flooding in the basement. Because
people were still trapped in the underground parking garage, many might
drown if the water could not be shut off. Gas lines had also been broken
and live electrical wires were exposed. Rescue workers were warned not
to smoke for fear of a possible gas explosion.

Utility company employees were rushed in to try to turn off the gas and
electric service. Because of the extreme devastation, this would not be an
easy task. Debris and rubble had to be cleared from the area before the util-
ity connections could be reached and disabled.

Ed Wheeler, spokesman for Oklahoma Natural Gas, said, “The blast was so
strong, you're going to have a concussion effect very similar to earthquake
waves. As a result, we're not taking anything for granted. We're checking
our entire downtown gas distribution and pipeline system to make sure
there isn’t any peripheral damage outside the perimeter of the area from
which utility crews were restricted. Once we get inside the perimeter, we'll
trace every single gas line and make repairs where it’s necessary to do so.

Earlier Threats and Bomb Scares

With the new perimeter restricting the movements of the news media, and
with their view of the Murrah Building effectively blocked, they turned
their attention to other parts of Oklahoma City to determine how those
farther removed from ground zero had responded to the bombing,.

It was reported that 50 Penn Place, a large shopping mall located about five
miles northwest of the Federal Building, had been evacuated. The top four
floors of this mall at NW 50™ and Pennsylvania Avenue housed the offices of
Bob Ricks, former spokesman for the FBI during the Waco Massacre and
director of the main Oklahoma City offices of the Federal Bureau of Investi-
gation.

By ten o’clock that morning the parking lots at 50 Penn Place were virtually
empty. The broadcast studios for KTOK Radio AM 1000, Oklahoma'’s pre-
miere news talk radio station, had reduced its staff there to a skeletal crew
and continued uninterrupted broadcasting. The few store employees who
remained in the mall told reporters that they were afraid to stay. Shortly
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after the bombing occurred, the building was officially evacuated. Only FBI
officials, a minimal number of KTOK staff members, key mall employees,
and building security personnel were allowed to remain. Security officers
were stationed at the entrances to 50 Penn Place. They stopped everyone
who tried to enter the mall and turned them away.

A reporter met with two carloads of employees who left 50 Penn Place and
drove across the street to the Penn Square Mall parking lot. The reporter
stated that the employees were reluctant to talk to the press. “We can’t talk
to you,” said one woman. When asked if she had been instructed not to talk,
she said,“We just know that we shouldn’t”

Of particular interest was the report given by security officer John Calhoun,
who worked at 50 Penn Place. Calhoun said, “According to the news
reports, the FBI received a bomb threat last week, and their offices are on
four floors of that building.” However, Calhoun said he was not aware of
any specific bomb threats being made at the FBI offices that day.

No further mention was ever made of Calhoun’s report of a bomb threat,
and FBI officials denied, and continue to deny, that they received any such
threats shortly before or on April 19. But there is much evidence to the
contrary.

Freelance writer Pat Briley from Edmond, Oklahoma, offered this informa-
tion: “The U.S. Marshals on March 22, 1995, were put on full heightened
alert nationwide at all federal buildings and all federal courthouses by their
director, Mr. Gonzales, because they had received threats that they con-
sidered credible enough to consume the manpower of the U.S. Marshals
nationwide to be on the lookout for bombings by Arab terrorists—
fundamentalists—in retaliation for the World Trade Center bombing trial.

“This alert had to be approved by Janet Reno, who is over the U.S. Marshals,
and the intelligence that led to that alert had to be available to her as well.
[ can’t imagine that if the U.S. Marshals had put everybody within their
forces on alert like that, that the FBI and the BATF didn't know about it.
This alert that I'm referring to was reported at length. There was a memo
on this as well, issued by the U.S. Marshals, and it was quoted at length in an
article in the Star-Ledger newspaper” (See Appendix D.)

Eduardo Gonzalez' memo, which was issued in response to information pro-
vided by “an unidentified informed source,” stated that the threats were
aimed specifically at U.S. Marshals Service personnel.

The newspaper article to which Pat Briley referred later became part of an
official press release offered by defense lawyer Stephen Jones. The article,
which appeared in the March 22, 1995, edition of Newark, New Jersey’s
Star-Ledger, was written by Robert Rudolph and reads in part:

“U.S. law-enforcement authorities have obtained information that Islamic
terrorists may be planning suicide attacks against federal courthouses and
government installations in the United States. The attacks, it is feared, would
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be designed to attract worldwide press attention through the murder of
innocent victims.

“The Star-Ledger has learned that U.S. law-enforcement officials have
received a warning that a fatwa, a religious ruling similar to the death sen-
tence targeting author Salman Rushdie, has been issued against federal
authorities as a result of an incident during the trial last year of four persons
in the bombing of the World Trade Center in New York. The disclosure was
made in a confidential memorandum issued by the U.S. Marshals Service in
Washington calling for stepped-up security at federal facilities throughout
the nation ... Iranian-supported extremists have made it clear that steps are
being taken to strike at the ‘Great Satan, a phrase that has been used to
describe the United States.

“The Marshals Service memo said the agency believes that ‘there is suf-
ficient threat potential to request that a heightened level of security
awareness and caution be implemented at all Marshals Service-protected
facilities nationwide. ... The memo,issued by Eduardo Gonzalez, director of
the U.S. Marshals Service, warns that attacks may be designed to ‘target as
many victims as possible and draw as much media coverage as possible’ to
the fundamentalist cause ... ”

The issue of importance in the Star-Ledger article is not that threats were
made by Islamic extremists, but simply that threats were made. Yet even
during the height of the Middle-East-suspects hysteria (which was about to
get under way), the FBI and the BATF continued to deny that they had
received any threats of any kind prior to the bombing.

The Star-Ledger was not the only newspaper to carry information concern-
ing the prior knowledge of federal officials about bomb threats to federal
buildings. On April 20, 1995, the Oregonian published an article that not
only added to the documentation of prior knowledge, but also contributed
significantly to the later recusal of Judge Wayne Alley from the Oklahoma
City bombing trial.

Said the Oregonian,”As a federal judge whose office looks across the street
at the Alfred P Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City, Wayne Alley felt
lucky that he didn't go to his office Wednesday. Alley, who was born and
raised in Portland, had taken the rare opportunity to work at home.

“Of all the days for this to happen, it’s absolutely an amazing coincidence,
Alley said in a telephone interview from his home.

“The judge said the bombing came just a few weeks after security officials
had warned him to take extra precautions. ‘Let me just say that within the
past two or three weeks, information has been disseminated ... that indi-
cated concerns on the part of people who ought to know that we ought to
be a little bit more careful, he said.

“Alley, who started his law career in Portland, said he was cautioned to be
on the lookout for ‘people casing homes or wandering about in the court-
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house who aren’t supposed to be there, letter bombs. There has been an
increased vigilance.! He said he was not given an explanation for the
concern.

“Asked if this might have just been a periodic security reminder, he said,'My
subjective impression was there was a reason for the dissemination of these

mn

concerns.

The article then stated,“An FBI spokesman in Oklahoma told reporters dur-
ing a news conference that he was not aware of any warning.” Even when
officials who had been forewarned made public their knowledge of those
warnings, federal law-enforcement agencies were simply not going to admit
anything.

Shortly after noon, television reporter Jeff Lazalier stated, “We've learned
that apparently the U.S. Marshals were hearing rumblings that something
might be up within the last few days—not necessarily about Oklahoma City,
but just in general—because they were moving some of the people who
were involved in the World Trade Center bombing a couple of years ago.
The people in custody were being moved someplace in the United States.
We don’t know if they were going to come through the Federal Transfer
Center near the airport here in Oklahoma City on their way to another loca-
tion, or what. That is just the story that is circulated to us at this time.

According to nurse Toni Garrett: “I have talked to several people who said
that there had been bomb threats two weeks prior to this bomb. The FBI
and the ATF knew that these bomb threats were real, and they did nothing
about it

Terrorism expert Dr. Randall Heather, in an interview with an NBC news-
affiliate anchor, stated,”I know that there had been a threat phoned in to the
FBI last week, but I don't know what the nature of that was.”

When Glen Wilburn made it known that he had begun his own investiga-
tion into the incident, he was asked what he had learned about any prior
bomb threats. In describing the events of April 19, Wilburn replied, “We
finally ended up at Children’'s Hospital, where we were waiting to hear
news about our grandsons, Chase and Colton. I had two separate people
come up to me and they put their arms on my shoulder and asked me, 'Did
you know they had a bomb threat in the building last week?’ The first time
this occurred I asked my wife, who was standing close to me, if she had
heard about that, which she hadn’t. She asked our daughter, Edye, and she
didn’t know anything about it.

“At the time I didn't think anymore about it a great deal. But as a few days
went by, we began hearing more talk about bomb threats that the Federal
Building had had in the week before, the day before, and even the morning
of the bombing. They became almost indistinguishable. We began asking,
did they have bomb threats the week before, the day before, or the day of
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the bombing; or did they have a// of them—the week before, the day before,
and the day of the bombing?

“We've been told by two different witnesses that the bomb squad was in
front of the Federal Courthouse on April 19 at 7:30 a.m., and that at that
time they had already cleared the Murrah Building. So there was something
strange and unusual going on that morning because we've got the bomb
squad down there clearing buildings before 7:30 in the morning, and we
have most of the BATF agents absent from the building”

YMCA resident Michael Hinton could observe the front of the Murrah Build-
ing from his apartment window. He offered this statement:“About a week
before the bombing I was looking out my window in the afternoon. It was
between 1:30 and 2:00 p.m. I noticed a large gathering of people outside
the building, maybe about two to three hundred people, and when I looked
I wondered what was going on at the Federal Building. I didn’'t know what
it could have been. Then on the morning of the bomb explosion, the TV
networks locally were carrying the statement that the Federal Building had
received a bomb threat one week prior to that morning of the bomb explo-
sion. So in my mind, when I heard that, thinking of what I had observed one
week earlier out my window, that could very well have been what was
going on then. If that was the case, what security precautions had been
taken if they knew this?”

What security precautions indeed! Six weeks prior to the explosions, fed-
eral agents reviewed the security arrangements at the Murrah Building and
determined that the existing system was sufficient. Former police officer
and security specialist Jim Boyd said that the level of security in the Murrah
Building was not unusual. The “sufficient existing system” was comprised of
one guard who patrolled four buildings on Monday through Friday from 6
a.m. until 8 p.m., the usual metal detectors inside the foyer of the Federal
Building, and an array of burglar alarms.

Boyd works for Federal Protective Services, which is a branch of the Gen-
eral Services Administration. FPS employs 400 guards, about 150 security
specialists such as Boyd, and 70 criminal investigators. It privately contracts
the services of approximately 2300 guards. There are fewer than 3000 secu-
rity personnel for the 8200 buildings nationwide that are under the control
of the General Services Administration.

Boyd said, “Obviously, we have to assess the risk and put the resources
where the needs are” He stated that the risk in Oklahoma City was assessed
as low, thus the security review had found no need for change. “We were,
and still are, unaware of any threat or any issue related to Oklahoma City;” he
said.

In attempting to determine what security precautions are taken in the
Murrah Building when the single guard is off duty, the maintenance foreman
for the building was asked what happens in the building after eight o’clock
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at night. He replied that the clean-up crews come in to clean the building,
which takes about three hours. The crews leave around eleven o’clock at

night.

When asked what security arrangements were in place overnight after the
cleaning crews left the building, he replied:“None.”

The structure of a play is always
the story of bow the birds came home to roosi.
— Arthur Miller
“The Shadows of the Gods:A Critical View of the American Theater”
Harper's Magazine, August 1958
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Chapter 6 —

PUTTING THINGS IN ORDER

Afternoon Repercussions

Within hours after the explosions all state military bases were placed under
heightened security. Although she would not specify what measures had
been taken, Alfredia McGill, spokeswoman for Tinker Air Force Base, located
in Midwest City, confirmed that security had been increased. All persons
entering or leaving the base had to present identification at the gates,and in
some cases individuals and vehicles were searched.

Fort Sill in Lawton had closed three gates to the public and placed military
police at other gates. Security at the gates of Vance Air Force Base in Enid
was also increased.

Shortly after noon President Clinton telephoned Governor Frank Keating to
inform him that there were three FBI antiterrorist groups en route to Okla-
homa City from Washington, D.C., to assist in the investigation.

It was further announced that experts were saying that the bombing of the
Murrah Federal Building was the work of a well-organized and well-funded
group. Said one federal agent,“This is a very a sophisticated device, and it
had to have been done by an explosives expert.”

In an interview with Paul English of the Capitol Bureau of the Daily Okia-
homan, Governor Frank Keating (a former FBI agent), stated,“Obviously, no
amateur did this, and whoever did it was an animal.”

When asked who might have done the bombing, Keating replied, “Well,
obviously someone who knows a lot about explosives was responsible,
because this was a very substantial device or devices.”
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James Loftis, design team architect for the Murrah Building, stated that he
believed whoever blew up the building had to have had access to the blue-
prints and was surely familiar with the building’s layout and structure.

Professor James Fox of Northeastern University remarked, “I doubt if it's
one person. A bomb that big would be awfully difficult for one person to
put together and make work.”

Television news anchor Kelly Ogle of KWTV Channel 9 interviewed Dr.
Stephen Sloan, a terrorism expert from the University of Oklahoma. Said Dr.
Sloan:“The level of sophistication, the techniques of the bombing, have the
fingerprints possibly of a very sophisticated group with a very sophisticated
infrastructure. I will tell you this: the amount of explosives attached to this
bomb indicates a very heavy level of sophistication.”

ABC new correspondent Vince Cannistraro stated,*This is something profes-
sional and it really implies that the person who constructed the explosive
device had experience, was trained in the use of explosives,and knew what
they were doing.”

Jerry Bohnen of KTOK Radio AM 1000 interviewed an explosives expert
who remarked that the bomb which might have been used was not of the
sort that a small local group could assemble. He stated that it was much
more likely that the bombing was the work of an organization with much
funding and international ties. Without realizing it, this expert had just
described the Central Intelligence Agency.

These opinions were never mentioned again after that first day.

By midafternoon, as the official story was solidly taking shape, the bomb
would no longer be a sophisticated device, but one so lacking in complexity
that any person could assemble it. Without explanation, the bomb was
“dumbed down” from a high explosive with an extremely complicated
mechanism to a bomb whose low explosive configuration had been known
for many years, and whose manufacture was simplicity itself—ammonium
nitrate fertilizer and fuel oil.

This new version of the bomb was well-known in military circles, and had
been described in the Department of the Army Field Manual, Explosives
and Demolitions FM 5-25,as a low explosive used chiefly as a cratering or
ditching charge. This explosive recipe was also widely known by persons
in the mining and agricultural industries, and had been used extensively in
many rural areas to remove stumps and larger rocks from fields being pre-
pared for planting.

The recipe for this new and simplified official bomb was never a secret; it
had been published for years in government and military manuals, in min-
ing, construction, and agricultural journals, in the underground press, and
was also immediately accessible over the Internet by anyone with a com-
puter, a modem, and a telephone.
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By altering the bomb configuration from one requiring great sophistication
and funding to one that could be built by an amateur over a weekend, the
field of possible suspects was widened to include almost anyone, and the
finger of accusation could no longer point in only one direction.

In the meantime the one-bomb hypothesis was about to receive its big
media push to make sure that no one would remember the ear- and eyewit-
nesses who had previously testified to multiple explosions. The comments
about the bomb’s actual complexity were never broadcast again. For all
intents and purposes, those expert opinions were simply not going to be
considered further by either the media or by federal investigators.

By the end of the day most of the public, if confronted by remarks from
acquaintances that there had been more than one explosion, were sympa-
thetically certain that their friends had simply made a mistake. After all,
conditions had been so chaotic downtown that it was surely understand-
able how folks could get confused about such a thing.

To the witnesses, however, there was no confusion at all. They heard what
they heard and never changed their testimony. But for most people, the
implications of multiple explosions were more than they were ready or able
to consider. The unwillingness or inability of the general public to accept
the possibility of a massive cover-up at the upper levels of power in our
country was exploited to maximum effect.

The denials were about to get under way and it would be but a few more
hours before all officials were telling the same story. The authorized version
of the Oklahoma City bombing would achieve its first semblance of unifor-
mity at the first official press conference which would be held at 5:00 p.m.
But it was still early yet. The afternoon had barely begun.

Television reporter Jeff Lazalier interviewed Jon Hansen, Assistant Fire
Chief, shortly after the noon hour. In that interview he questioned the
Chief about the other explosive devices found in the building only an hour
previously by men under Hansen's command. Said Lazalier: “Bring us up to
date. What is the absolute latest information you're being told at this
location?”

“Well, Jeff,” replied Hansen, “we're still inside the building systematically
searching it. We still have survivors inside that building we're working to
remove. We still have people trapped inside the building. We're setting up
for a night operation at this time because there’s some areas of the building
we haven't been able to get to yet. It's very slow. We've got to slow down
now. We've still got a danger of collapse in the building.

“Those are our priorities: lives and safety. We're into some dangerous situa-
tions. It's pretty frustrating because we have to be so slow, but we're doing
that for the safety of our rescuers and the safety of the potential survivors.”
“Have you heard any talk at all about any other bombs?” asked Lazalier.
“We've heard things thrown about all morning long. Tell us the latest.
Obviously, one bomb blew up. What about any others?”
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Hansen stated,“The bomb squad told us that if there had been a secondary
device, the might of the explosion from the primary device would have
detonated it. So we have bomb-squad members inside the building with
our rescue teams. In case we do come across something, they can take care
of it immediately.”

Realizing that he had just received a nonanswer, Lazalier continued his line
of questioning:“So the original word on the street of possibly as many as
three bombs in total is not necessarily true at this time?”

“There is nothing that I know of to confirm that,” said Hansen abruptly. He
had no further comment about the other explosive devices that had been
found in the building.

The Second Bomb Scare

At approximately 12:40 p.m. we heard frantic calls of another bomb scare—
the second of that day. Moments of great confusion ensued. The media was
again moved farther back from the building, and for the next twenty min-
utes all reports were in conflict with each other. First an all clear was
announced, then all personnel were moved away again. A few moments
later urgent word was received that another explosive device had been
found at the west corner of the Murrah Building.

There were significant differences between this second bomb scare and the
one that had occurred at 10:30 a.m. This time the world did not stand still
while all anxiously awaited news. No public eyes watched the bomb squad
go to work. No raw information would be read directly from the Associated
Press newswire by the media.

The information first came rapidly in confused statements from police and
reporters on the scene, followed by a multiplicity of lengthy distractions
and official speeches, none of which addressed the issue of the second
bomb scare. Finally, the initial reports were changed and denied. This time,
with the media safely in hand several blocks away from the Murrah Building,
the information released to the public was more controlled and prepack-
aged.

It all began with a general announcement. The news media reported that
according to BATF officials, there were more bombs set to explode. Televi-
sion reporter Suzanne Steely called in this report to the station:*We just had
a bunch of police officers come running up to us, screaming, Get back! Get
back! We've been moved back about half a block,and we just got confirma-
tion from the law-enforcement officers that they believe they've found
another bomb in the building.

“Now, I was here this morning when they moved us back the first time,”
said Ms. Steely. “They were serious then also, but there was a lot more
urgency in their voices this time. It’s chaos here right now. The media was
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in a big area right across the way from the building, and everybody is
scrambling to try and move back again. They've moved us about a half a
block back away from the media center.

“And again, the word is, they’'ve found some kind of other explosive in the
building. We're trying to find out more for you at this point, but again, there
is a lot of urgency with the law-enforcement officials this time. They've
been very worried about this”

Following Steely’s report, KFOR Channel 4 news anchor Kevin Ogle stated,
“It appears it was meant for this building to come down, to be leveled,
because of the amount of power that could have gone off. There were more
bombs set to go off, according to ATF officials”

For quite some time reports concerning what was found—if anything had
been found—were completely contradictory. The media reported that
discoveries of explosives had been made and then that the discoveries
announced had been in error. Whatever was going on at the bomb site, it
was a mad scramble.

Then suddenly the news coverage from downtown was interrupted by a
weather alert. At this time of disaster the potential for an even greater prob-
lem was looming ahead. In the southwestern part of the state severe
thunderstorms had developed and were moving toward the metropolitan
area.

Weather forecasters advised officials to bring portable buildings, tents, rain
gear, and other forms of temporary shelter to the bomb site because heavy
rains were approximately ninety miles to the southwest of Oklahoma City,
coming in several waves. The storms were already hammering Fort Sill in
Lawton, Oklahoma, with torrential rains, cloud-to-ground lightning, high
winds, and hail. On the radar it looked like the series of severe storms
would pound the metro area for fifteen to eighteen hours.

In response to this news, public appeals were made for rain gear and por-
table shelters. No sooner was the announcement made than the equipment
began immediately arriving, donated by members of the community. The
weather in Oklahoma City was still sunny, but to the southwest the anvil
clouds were building and moving our way. Workers were assigned to set up
shelters on the street and rain gear was readied for the rescuers.

In the meantime, the bomb squad had gone to work again. After so many
contradictory reports, the second bomb scare had to be skillfully explained
to the public. Now it was time for another round of denials.

Devin Scillian of KFOR Channel 4 Television announced, “As far as the two
to three devices that they have been looking over, I understand that the
second device that they found may not have been a device involved in this.
It may have been a training device that the ATF had. Keep in mind that the
ATF offices are at the Federal Building, so we'll continue to look into exactly
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what the munitions experts found as they try and decipher who might have
put what in the building.”

With those somewhat rambling introductory remarks, Devin Scillian turned
the report over to Suzanne Steely on the scene. Ms. Steely responded to
Scillian's comments: “Devin, what you just mentioned is very relevant,
because we've just found out that when we were moved back from our
scene up there just a few minutes ago that there was not another bomb
found. It was one of those ATF training devices that you just mentioned that
was found. And that’s what is making this so difficult. As they go through
and search for victims, they come across this ATF training equipment.
They're not sure if it’s a bomb or not. Obviously, they’ll have to assume it is
until they know for sure. So it's still a very dangerous situation.”

In contradiction to reports from the media, firefighters and police on the
scene stated that hand grenades had been recovered from the building. It
was later learned that these were among the many items that had suppos-
edly fallen out of the ruptured ninth-floor BATF arsenal room. Further
speculations were made that the devices might have belonged to the Drug
Enforcement Administration, which allegedly also had an arsenal room on
the ninth floor.

There were many such confused and conflicting statements, all of which
added to the chaos at the scene. But again, although the storage of such
devices in the Federal Building was illegal, and although those illegal activi-
ties might throw some civil or criminal liability on government agencies,
those activities and those devices did not cause either the initial or the
secondary explosions in the Murrah Building. They were a frightening
diversion.

KFOR co-anchor Kevin Ogle then read a prepared statement that had been
handed to him by someone in the newsroom. Said Ogle, reading the text,
“We want to make sure that everybody understands that there has been
only one detonation today—only one bomb blast today. That was the car
bomb outside. There have been a couple of devices that have been found in
or near the building, but only one detonation today, only one explosion.
And you saw what it did”

The one-bomb hypothesis would be repeated endlessly for months until it
was generally accepted as fact. But it was not fact then, and it is not fact
now. It has always been a carefully crafted lie designed to conceal what
really occurred on April 19, 1995, and to protcct the identities of the per-
sons truly responsible for the tragedy.

Governor Frank Keating

The issue of the second bomb scare was temporarily put on the back
burner when the Governor stepped in to begin putting things in order.
Shortly before 2:00 p.m., Governor Frank Keating issued a proclamation
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declaring a state of emergency, followed by the activation of ninety mem-
bers of the Oklahoma National Guard, including two forty-member military
police units. The National Guard would be assigned to handle crowd con-
trol and the evacuation of the injured.

Bomb technicians and police dogs from the Tulsa Police Department had
been summoned to the Murrah Building. The United States Army’s 61° Ord-
nance Detachment from Fort Sill was being deployed to the area.

In addition, four FBI Special Agents-in-Charge were setting up a twenty-
four-hour command post. They would supervise the work of four FBI
evidence-response and explosive-ordnance teams, bomb technicians, and
five of the Bureau’s most experienced bombing investigators. Thirteen
members of the FBI's Rapid Start Team would be logging evidence, and fifty
more FBI agents were scheduled to arrive the next day.

The BATF was sending two response teams and a mobile command center
for use by their explosives experts and laboratory technicians. Twenty to
twenty-five more BATF personnel were on their way to the bomb site.

FEMA operations were established under the direction of James Witt and
Regional Director Buddy Young; and the Secret Service sent an undisclosed
number of agents and explosives experts to the area.

While officials were attempting to bring some degree of control to the
chaos at the bomb site, Governor Keating quickly contacted KFOR Channel
4 Television by telephone. He offered an interview to news anchor Devin
Scillian, who asked the Governor where things stood at that moment.

Keating responded to Scillian’s question: “I've issued a disaster declaration.
We have the Army and Air National Guard involved, cooperating and work-
ing with the Oklahoma City Police Department and the authorities. We
have the Oklahoma Highway Patrol and the Department of Public Safety
providing their emergency and crowd-control services. We have the
hospitals involved. We have the call out for medical personnel and—
obviously—for blood for the injured.

“The President called this afternoon, Devin, and said that he was sending
three FBI antiterrorist units to Oklahoma City. The ATF and FBI will obvi-
ously be cooperating together with the local authorities to identify the
culprit or culprits and take them out.

“But it's just astonishing to me. What a horrible tragedy for Oklahomans
and for the country! This really has to be the worst terrorist attack in Ameri-
can history. I can’t imagine anything more serious than this. The World
Trade Center tragedy didn’t have a dozen fatalities.

“This is obviously going to be a horrible day in Oklahoma and in American
history. The people that did it are lousy predators. They are cowards for tak-
ing out innocent men, women, and children. This is just a tragic day for us”
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When asked about the investigation, Keating replied,“I talked briefly to Bob
Ricks, who as you know, is the head of the FBI here in Oklahoma City, and
Bob indicated that their best thought was either one or two bombs were
planted in one or two automobiles.”

Keating was quick to add that the number of bombs and the transporting
vehicle or vehicles were still the subject of much rumor: “As far as that is
concerned, we hope that this information is good and that we can identify
those responsible and never permit them or others to do this again. But
obviously, much of what we’re picking up is rumor. Much of what we're
picking up appears to be apocryphal. I just hope a lot of it is good and
people will be able to identify the perpetrators and prosecute.”

Scillian asked Governor Keating,*What are people coming up and saying to
you?”

“Well, everybody is in shock and disbelief,” said Keating. “As I said, this has
to be—and I'm thinking back over American history—this has to be the
most violent, the most unprecedented terrorist act in American history,
right here in the middle of America, in the heartland of America. There has
never been anything like this even in the worst days of the cold war, the
worst days of the agony in the Middle East. We've never had anything like
this. What a terrible, terrible tragedy!

“All of us are looking to each other blankly. Anything that we can do to help
one another, to pray with one another, to help the injured, we're going to
do. And I just feel devastated about it, just absolutely horrible.”

When Governor Keating was asked what people could do to help, he
replied, “A fellow from the BBC called me and said, “You are a very religious
section of the country, aren’t you?’ I said, You'd better believe it! And all of
us are praying together that there will be survivors, that those who are
injured will be able to be completely healed.

“Right now the only thing we can do is encourage the law-enforcement and
the emergency medical people to do their jobs, to keep up their energy, if
we can. Hopefully, it won’t rain on us tonight so we can get the survivors
out and look for a better day tomorrow. But it is a horrible thing that these
horrible people did to these wonderful, innocent men, women, and chil-
dren—especially those little kids. It’s just outrageous that something like
this could happen.”

The Waco Anniversary

Later in the day, Paul English of the Daily Oklaboman asked Keating about
the possibility of a connection between the Waco Massacre and the bomb-
ing of the Murrah Federal Building. Keating dismissed the issue by saying,
“Take out your map and note that Waco is a long way from Oklahoma City”
Meanwhile, in Waco, Texas, media representatives had been present at a
morning memorial service held to honor members of the Branch Davidian
congregation who, two years previously, had first been betrayed by the
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Federal Bureau of Investigation and then brutally murdered in their church
by agents of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms. Said one media
reporter:“A gasp went up from the crowd as word of the deadly bombing at
a federal building in Oklahoma City was announced over a public address
system.”

Clive Doyle, one of the survivors of the Waco Massacre, made a brief state-
ment to the press: “We offer our sympathy to the families who have lost
loved ones or are injured.”

There were approximately one hundred people in attendance at the memo-
rial service. The ceremony began at 9:00 a.m. and stretched into the after-
noon. David Thibodeaux, another survivor and later a witness testifying
before the Senate Committee investigating the Waco Massacre, rang a rep-
lica of the Liberty Bell each time the name of a Branch Davidian was read.
An honor guard sounded a twenty-one-gun salute. Before the ceremony,
many crape myrtle trees had been planted in memory of those who had
died.

Survivor Clive Doyle dismissed speculation that the bombing was related to
the second anniversary of the Waco Massacre. However, government offi-
cials and the media were not yet ready to turn loose of that possibility, and
rumors of a connection were tossed about during the afternoon.

Shortly after the 3:00 p.m. news break on KTOK Radio AM 1000, the state-
ment was made that the only persons who might plant a bomb next to a
day-care facility were people who had themselves lost children at the hands
of federal agents. The report thus blatantly implicated survivors of the Waco
Massacre as perpetrators in the Oklahoma City bombing. It was suggested
that surviving Davidians should be investigated as possible suspects.
KTOK news anchor Jerry Bohnen did not give the speculative comments
much credence, but he did give them air time. The issue was immediately
dropped. For another forty-eight hours the alleged Waco connection would
be a nonissue.

It would be noon on Friday,April 21, before officials were ready to use the
Waco Massacre as a portion of their statements against the accused. But
even after the Waco connection became a part of the official story, represen-
tatives of the government were never very clear about their stand on the
matter. It would be some time before the Waco Massacre was universally
proclaimed by the media to be a motive for the bombing, and even then the
ties were shaky at best. There was something else afoot that federal officials
were not yet ready to present to the public, and that something else would
be the most preposterous fabrication of all. But this matter was still months
away from disclosure.

Protecting the Public: Antiterrorism Legislation

In his afternoon interview with Jeff Lazalier on April 19, Governor Frank
Keating was asked whether he thought the bombing was an act of domestic

129 7/29/96, 8:58 AM



130 & Oklahoma City: Day One

or international terrorism. Keating offered a nonresponse to the question,
but then revealed far more than he perhaps intended with regard to the
political agenda driving the situation.

“To us in Oklahoma,” said Keating, “it is irrelevant whether it’s domestic or
international. We have suffered a grievous loss. Our innocent fellow citi-
zens have been maimed and killed, and we are justifiably outraged and
saddened.

“That’s one thing that President Clinton and I talked about. He said it’s the
challenge of a truly free society—where people can come and go at will—
to protect and prevent against these kinds of incidents.

“It’s very difficult to be one-hundred percent safe because of the fact that
people in America don’t have transit passes, don’t have travel documents,
and don’t have mandatory IDs. And we don't have metal detectors and
armed guards everywhere you go. That is something that the American
people justifiably want and demand—to be free and to be able to travel
freely.

“Prudent and careful protective efforts obviously should be examined as an
aftermath of this tragedy”

Prudent and careful protective efforts? What exactly was Keating suggest-
ing here? To understand the subtext beneath Keating's comments, it is
necessary to review actions of the United States Congress nine weeks ear-
lier—actions strongly supported by Governor Frank Keating, the White
House, the Department of Justice, and all federal law-enforcement agencies.

At first the connection between proposed Congressional legislation and the
Oklahoma City bombing seemed almost too far-fetched to be believed. It
was certainly a concept which no one wanted to believe, even if it were
true.

No one wanted to believe that they had been, or were being, politically
manipulated. No one wanted to believe that evil against the American
people had been planned by government officials or agencies. No one
wanted to believe that leaders in the inner circles of power in our govern-
ment would sacrifice the innocent and unsuspecting citizenry to a political
ideology that was abhorrent to most Americans.

We didn’t want to believe it, but unfortunately the evidence began to con-
firm some very disturbing possibilities and probabilities. The evidence soon
showed that the after-effects of the bombing of the Murrah Federal Building
were going to be deliberately used as a driving force to promote a particular
political agenda. Evidence would also later indicate that the bombing itself
might have been perpetrated specifically for the purpose of achieving this
agenda. Consider carefully the background of the situation and the political
actions that resulted from the bombing.

On February 10, 1995, the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill was introduced
as 8. 390 in the United States Senate and as H.R. 896 in the U.S. House of
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Representatives (See Appendix E). It was initiated by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation as a charter to investigate political groups.

The bill was introduced in the Senate by Senators Joseph R. Biden, Jr.
(D-Del.) and Arlen Specter (R-Penn.); and in the House by Representatives
Charles E. Schumer (D-NY) and Norman D. Dicks (D-Wash.). The two bills
were introduced simultaneously and were essentially identical. The bills
were passed on by the Justice Department and the White House and, prior
to the Oklahoma City bombing, had bipartisan support.

The original provisions of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill are summa-
rized below:

« A general charter for the Federal Bureau of Investigation and other
agencies, including the military, to investigate political groups and
causes at will.

< Is a wide-ranging federalization of different kinds of actions apply-
ing to both citizens and non-citizens. The range includes acts of
violence, attempts, threats, and conspiracies, as well as giving funds
for a humanitarian, legal activity.

< Would allow up to a ten-year sentence for citizens and deportation
for permanent resident non-citizens for the crime of supporting the
lawful activities of an organization the President declares to be
terrorist.

4 The President’s determination of who is a terrorist is unappealable
and specifically can include groups regardless of any legitimate
activity they might pursue.

The bill authorized:

% Secret trials for immigrants who are not charged with a crime, but
rather who are accused of supporting lawful activity by organiza-
tions which have also been accused of committing illegal acts but
have not been tried or found guilty, following secret proceedings
with one-sided appeals, using illegally obtained evidence.

« The suspension of posse comitatus (power of the county)®, allow-
ing the use of the military to engage in law-enforcement activities
regardless of any other laws.

The reversal of the presumption of innocence. The accused
is presumed ineligible for bail and can be detained until trial with
no appeal.

* “Whoever, except in cases and under circumstances expressly authorized in the
Constitution or Acts of Congress, willfully uses any part of the Army or Air Force as
a posse comitatus or otherwise to execute the laws shall be fined not more than
$10,000 or imprisoned for not more than two years or both." —Title 18, USC Sec-

tion 1385.
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% It loosens the rules for wiretaps.

< It would prohibit probation as a punishment under the Act even for
minor, non-violent offenses.

There is one primary key to the intent of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism
Bill: the determination of who was a terrorist rested solely in the discretion
of the President. The bill contained no guidelines to define “terrorist” with
any specificity, and because there were no guidelines whatsoever, the Presi-
dent could even name members of an opposing political party as terrorists
if he felt so inclined. To do so, even without evidence or due process,
would be an unappealable legal act.

A whim, a disagreement, a perceived threat to a political ambition, a person-
ality conflict, the failure of a charitable group to support the reelection of
the President, a Sunday sermon concerning a political issue—an infinite
number of things could, without warning, lead to the criminal investigation
of innocent persons by federal law-enforcement agencies or by the military.

The suspension of posse comitatus would instantly and retroactively legal-
ize the Waco Massacre and any similar murderous activities that might
occur in the future. Under these conditions it would be perfectly legal for
soldiers to invade homes, confiscate possessions, arrest innocent persons
without cause, or even commit murder if they were acting under the Presi-
dent’s “terrorist” directive.

Under the provisions of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill, any person
who might donate money or volunteer his time in service to a worthy chari-
table organization could find himself unexpectedly at risk. If the President
decided—for whatever reason—that the organization was terrorist in
nature, the honest and law-abiding donor would then become the object of
a federal criminal investigation even though no illegal nor felonious activi-
ties had been perpetrated by the organization or the donor.

The Senate and House bills both repeatedly said that “lawful” and “legal”
activities could instantly become “illegal” if the President so desired.

Once arrested, without evidence or probable cause, the accused could be
detained indefinitely without bail or a timely judicial hearing, would be con-
sidered guilty until proven innocent, could be subjected to secret trials,
secret proceedings, and one-sided appeals, and could be convicted by the
use of illegally obtained evidence.

Without evidence or guilt established by due process, the President could
at will make random determinations that could affect the life of any Ameri-
can who might do nothing more than disagree with White House policy or
who might support a legal organization that held or opposed a particular
political view.

Under these conditions it might become extremely dangerous for any
American to do such politically incorrect things as write to his
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Congressman, attend political rallies, home-school his children, pray in his
home, believe in the Bible or other holy book, own a firearm, hold a hunting
license, subscribe to“underground” publications, possess “dangerous”books,
befriend political activists, resist psychological profiling, refuse to respond
to census takers, collect precious metals or numismatic coins, store food
supplies, have military surplus or camping equipment in his home, or
obtain voter registration with an independent political party.

The provisions of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill were completely
totalitarian in nature, designed for use by a dictatorial government in a
system where Creator-endowed rights did not exist, and where so-called
human rights were arbitrarily declared, altered, denied, or discarded at will
and in opposition to established legal precedent.

To disguise the real intent of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill, certain
well-known organizations were named as terrorist agencies, such as the
African National Congress, FMLN in El Salvador, the Palestine Liberation
Organization, and the Irish Republican Army in Northern Ireland.

Yet while the government was using fear to motivate the public and point-
ing a finger at the above-named organizations, the Irish Republican Army
was busy establishing offices in the United States with the blessing of Presi-
dent Clinton and the government of the United States. No one in authority
was objecting to this; it was, in fact, encouraged. This bill was obviously not
about any of the organizations or activities named by the framers of the bill.

The bill was specifically designed to give the President of the United States
the ability to name whomever he wished as a political enemy for the pur-
pose of that person’s removal, and the appropriate media label would be
“terrorist” One could also foresee, as a result of this bill, great strides in the
effort to completely disarm the American people.

The Center for National Security Studies, noting the true purpose of the
Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill, stated: “Since the new offense”—inter-
national terrorism—*“does not cover anything that is not already a crime, the
main purpose of the proposal seems to be to avoid certain Constitutional
and statutory protections that would otherwise apply”

This very bold move in Congress would require either the most extreme
propaganda or the most extreme secrecy if the bill was ever to become law.
As we would observe over the months following the Oklahoma City bomb-
ing, both propaganda and secrecy were evident in the attempts to pass the
Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill.

The breadth of the coverage of §.390 and H.B.896—and their later incarna-
tions, S. 735 and H.R. 2703—would make it impossible for the government
to prosecute all assistance from around the world to groups that have com-
mitted violent acts or threatened to do so. And it would be clearly
impossible for the government to painstakingly monitor every person or
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organization that might hold an opinion contrary to that of the President.
Its condemnation necessarily would target organizations that the Presi-
dent—or whoever influenced him—found offensive at any given moment.
People to be imprisoned or deported would be chosen specifically because
of political associations and beliefs—or whatever else might be considered
dangerous, which could eventually include religious affiliations and
activities.

These two bills, S. 390 (S.735) and H.B. 896 (H.R. 2703)—eventually lumped
together by the media under the vernacular title,“the Anti-Terrorism Bill"—
were referred to the Judiciary Committees of both the Senate and the
House.

The introduction of the bills was almost completely ignored by the main-
stream press. Only the New York Times made mention of it in a February
24,1995, column written by Anthony Lewis that had been imported from
another newspaper.

Because of unexpected intervening revelations from the political under-
ground that publicly exposed many of the more dangerous provisions in the
Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill, the bill could not be rushed through the
Congress on a fast track, as its supporters had desired. Once the truth was
known, opponents of the bill mobilized quickly to try to stop the insanity.

For a while it seemed that the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill was going to
be mercifully stalled in the Congress indefinitely. But the Oklahoma City
bombing struck a chord of fear and anger in the hearts of many unsuspect-
ing Americans. Few Oklahomans experienced a day in the aftermath of the
bombing in which they did not silently wonder if sudden death waited
around the corner, and if it did, who might be the perpetrator.

Without considering that it would be absolutely impossible to legislate or
guarantee freedom from death by terrorism—regardless of the breadth and
scope of any proposed legislation, regardless of increased powers of federal
agencies, and regardless of the number of police on the streets of our cit-
ies—many Americans began to feel that their only hope of real security
rested in the “protection” offered by the federal government.

Governor Frank Keating's comments about “prudent and careful protective
efforts” were just the beginning of the massive political manipulations that
would be skillfully used following the Murrah Building bombing in an
attempt to rush passage of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill.

On June 4, 1995, a group of survivors of the Oklahoma City bombing, orga-
nized by Glenn Seidl, traveled to Washington, D.C, to lobby for passage of
the bill. They knew little about what they were doing and were totally in
the dark concerning the actual language, provisions, and intent of the bill in
its totality. These local “lobbyists”—most of whom were completely inex-
perienced and had never been politically active in any situation
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previously—suffered from tunnel vision and focused on only one particular
concern addressed in the bill: habeas corpus reform.

The writ of habeas corpus is a vital part of our judicial process that not only
ensures that an accused party will be brought before a court or judge in a
timely manner, but also gives the accused the right to obtain a writ of
habeas corpus as a protection against illegal imprisonment. This writ
demands an inquiry into the lawfulness of the restraint of a person who is
imprisoned or detained in another’s custody.

There was a reason for the victims' concern. Fueling the debate over
habeas corpus reform was the recent execution of Roger Dale Stafford, the
infamous “Sirloin Stockade murderer” who, for almost two decades, had
avoided execution through use of the appeals process. That grisly multiple
murder had occurred in Oklahoma, and Stafford had lived on death row in
an Oklahoma prison at the taxpayers’ expense for seventeen years. His exe-
cution, which occurred shortly after the bombing of the Murrah Building,
served as a primary example of the perceived abuse of the appeals process
and was used by the victims as documentation in their lobbying effort.

But of even greater concern to the victims was the fact that Roger Dale
Stafford’s attorney, who had so successfully kept him from execution for so
long, was none other than Stephen Jones, the lawyer who had been
appointed to represent one of the bombing defendants. The possibility that
Stephen Jones could legally assist a convicted killer in the Murrah Building
bombing case to avoid retribution was a greater nightmare to the victims
than the bombing itself.

The survivors of the bombing were understandably very vulnerable emo-
tionally, and this was manipulated and played upon to achieve a political
end. The surviving victims wanted revenge, they wanted blood, and they
wanted it now. Their unseasoned political ambitions were driven by deep
and overwhelming emotions, not by reason or a desire for justice. No
indictments against any accused person had yet been handed down by any
grand jury—nor would they be for another two months. But that didn't
matter. The men accused had already been tried and convicted by the
media. Everybody “knew who did it"—or so they thought.

The plans, meetings, actions, and political moves of this group of survivors
were directed expertly behind the scenes by the State Attorney General’s
office, which was working hand in hand with the federal prosecutors of the
Murrah Building bombing case. If anything could mobilize the victims into
a group of political activists, this was going to be it.

These “activists” may have meant well, but they were intentionally led astray
by their legal counselors and handlers. They had only one point of view,
and that perspective was controlled by their emotional frailty as victims.

In their minds habeas corpus reform would ensure that the murderers who
killed their loved ones would be put to death in a timely manner. That
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habeas corpus also protected the innocent was not considered. It never
occurred to these people that at some point in the future they themselves
might be unjustly accused and imprisoned without trial, having no recourse
to demand that cause be shown for their incarceration.

The group of victims and survivors did not realize that the issue of habeas
corpus reform was a two-edged sword, especially in the Anti-Terrorism Bill.
They could have been told. They could have been shown the implications.
But it was the wish of neither the State Attorney General’s Office nor the
federal prosecutors that these people understand anything. All that was
required was that they make a moving, emotional appeal to Congressional
power brokers and promote a political agenda they could not in all justice
comprehend.

On June 7, 1995, after Glenn Seidl and a dozen other victims had met indi-
vidually with certain senators in Washington, D.C. and then held an
emotional news conference on the U.S. Capitol grounds, the Senate over-
whelmingly passed an antiterrorism bill that included major changes in the
appeals process.

Said then-Senate Majority Leader Robert Dole:“The families of some of the
bombing victims traveled all the way to Washington ... to let us know that
we must take action now to put an end to the endless delays and appeals
that have done so much to weaken public confidence in our system of
criminal justice. It is gratifying to see that their efforts had such a profound

-

impact here in the Senate.

Several months before the victims’ Washington meeting, President Clinton
had said that he would support some type of habeas corpus reform, but he
had also written a letter to Robert Dole saying that he did not believe such
reform should be a part of the Anti-Terrorism Bill. However, within twelve
hours after the victims' press conference, Clinton appeared on the Larry
King Show and reversed his position, saying,“We need to cut the time delay
on the appeals dramatically and ... it ought to be done in the context of this
terrorism legislation so that it would apply to any prosecutions brought
against anyone indicted in Oklahoma.

This was the key to the big push, the big rush for passage. The grief and
tragedy of the Oklahoma City bombing was going to be the cause celebre
that would demand immediate response from the Congress.

While it is not unusual for crime victims and their families to become advo-
cates for political and judicial change, this situation was different. The
victims had focused on areas in which some limiting reform was believed
needed, but they had not been educated about the complete contents of
the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill. They had been led to believe errone-
ously that their desired habeas corpus reform could come by no other
means than the passage of this bill. In this respect the victims were used
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by government officials and federal prosecutors to promote a dangerous
political agenda.

In a letter dated October 31, 1995, addressed to “All Murrah Bombing
Victims, Survivors and Families,” Glenn Seidl and thirteen other victims
wrote and signed their names to the following: “The [State] Attorney
General told us that he has no doubt this [the Anti-Terrorism bill] was
passed only because of the message brought by the survivors and the vic-
tims’ families ...

“However, we are now very concerned that our victory in the Senate,
which we thought at the time to be the pivotal vote, will not necessarily
mean that the reforms will become law. It has now been over five months
since the passage in the Senate, and the U.S. House of Representatives has
still not acted to adopt any form of the Anti-Terrorism Bill that permits the
habeas reform to become law. It appears that some Congressmen are very
concerned about passing any form of the Anti-Terrorism Bill because of the
controversies over the Waco hearings and Ruby Ridge. Opponents of the
Anti-Terrorism Bill and habeas corpus reform are very powerful, and
include the American Civil Liberties Union, the National Association of
Criminal Defense Attorneys, the National Rifle Association, and other power-
ful groups.

“Our position is simply this: Whatever the concerns—work it out. Some
Sorm of anti-terrovism must be passed in order to reform bhabeas.”
[Author’s emphasis.]

Unfortunately, Seidl and the other victims were mistaken in their conclu-
sions. It was certainly not news that criminals sentenced to death had
lingered for many years on death row, filing appeal after appeal to delay
execution—a situation that has caused great bitterness and continued grief
for the victims of capital offenses. But it was nof necessary—or even
remotely desirable—for the Anti-Terrorism Bill to be passed in order to
achieve habeas corpus reform. The victims and their families had been
deceived.

Toward the end of Seidl’s letter, the motivators behind the scenes were
revealed. The letter stated,“If you are interested in participating, please feel
free to contact Assistant Attorney General Richard Wintory or his legal
assistant, Susan Hanna ... or Administrative Assistant Gerald Adams ... The
Attorney General's office has served as a source of information and support
for our efforts and has provided other technical assistance for our group.”

The well-intentioned survivors were being guided and instructed by
officers of government who intended to propel the dangerous Omnibus
Counter-Terrorism Bill through the U.S. Congress on the backs of the
victims, using habeas corpus reform as the driving issue.

Bud Welch, whose daughter Julie had been killed in the blast, was
approached by the victims' lobbying group to participate in their political
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activities. He was at first eager to help, but when he learned more about
the legislation and the proposed habeas corpus reform he withdrew his
support. Realizing that the victims were being used to promote a political
agenda that they did not understand (and to which he was opposed), Bud
Welch wrote the following letter to Senator Orin Hatch when the Senate
and House bills were being reconciled in committee:

OK1TXT_1.PM6

“Dear Senator Hatch:

“I am sorry I missed you when I was in Washington a couple of
weeks ago. As the father of someone murdered by the Oklahoma
City bomb, I write to urge you to reconsider the habeas corpus
package in the bills you are being called to conference on.

“MY FAMILY AND IARE HORRIFIED THAT CONGRESS IS CONTEM-
PLATING PASSING A BILL SUCH AS THE ONES YOU MAY HAVE
BEFORE YOU.

“I find it telling that I, like the other family members in Oklahoma
City, was approached very early in my grief by people asking:
‘Would you be in favor of anti-terrorism legislation. No explanation
was given as to what such legislation would look like, or what it
would do to our fundamental rights. In the throes of my loss, and
with such a vague picture presented about the bill, as you might
imagine my response was like that of so many other family mem-
bers who have since been brought to Washington to be used as
advocates for this bill [Author’s emphasis] I know they do not
understand. I said, Of course, anything to combat such horrible
acts as the one which took my Julie from me.

“Now we have actually learned what is contained in these massive
bills, and we know that the last thing our family wants (and Julie
was my precious 23-year-old, only daughter and my best friend) is
for legislation crippling Americans’ Constitutional liberties to be
passed in her name and memory. Julie certainly would not want
this. We, and all Americans, have already been terrorized more than
enough; we do not need this legislation to terrorize us still further
by taking from us our [Clonstitutional freedoms.

“Only a few weeks ago did I learn from my niece, who just happens
to be a lawyer capable of understanding this massive and technical
legislative proposal, what is actually in this bill. I also now know
personally what legislators must certainly know, from the mouths
of federal officials themselves: They have all the legislative tools
they need to fight terrorism and bring terrorists to justice.

“It utterly galls us as a family so devoted to my daughter that we
and our loss should be used as a political football for politicians
eager to posture themselves as ‘tough’ on crime in order to reap
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some political advantage, and to do the bidding of already pow-
erful agencies who have demonstrated their inability to
responsibly exercise the enormous powers they already possess.

“The habeas reform provisions in particular are not known or
understood by the families who bave been used to lobby on
bebalf of this bill. (One family member even told me recently
that she understood habeas corpus to be an anti-terrorism inves-
tigation tool). [Author’s emphasis.]

“Our family knows that meaningful independent habeas court
review of unconstitutional convictions is an essential fail-safe
device in our all too human system of justice. And we have learned
that this package of ‘reforms’ you are being asked to vote for would
raise hurdles so unremedied. This is true in all cases, not just life
and death ones. We consider this a direct threat to us and our loved
ones still living who may well find themselves the victim of abusive
or mistaken law enforcement and prosecutor conduct and uncon-
stitutional lower court decisions. Two wrongs have never made a
right.

“We understand that while habeas corpus may not be household
words, in Oklahoma or anywhere else in America, it is something
for which our founders fought to enshrine in the Constitution, the
safety net provision that ensures ALL of our rights and liberties ...
including the First, Second, Fourth, and all of the other precious
Amendments and other parts of the Constitution.

“Please forgive such a long letter. But I feel that Julie’s memory and
our rights are literally in the balance, and in your hands and the
hands of your colleagues.

“I continue to educate other family members here about these bills
and why they really cannot want Congress to pass them as written
only. IF ONLY THEY KNEW WHAT IS INTHEM! I pray you will edu-
cate your colleagues in the same way. And I hope you will share
this letter with your many colleagues. We simply could not visit in
our limited time in Washington.

“Sincerely, Bud Welch, (On behalf of Julie Welch
and the surviving Welch Burton family of Oklahoma City)”

Bud Welch was the lone voice crying in the wilderness. The television
media interviewed him just long enough to learn that he was strongly
opposed to the Anti-Terrorism Bill, then cut him off, and never interviewed
him again about that subject. Nothing could be allowed to interfere with
the Anti-Terrorism agenda.

District Attorney Robert H. Macy made clear the political agenda in a letter
he addressed to the chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee and one of
the authors of the Omnibus Counter-Terrorism Bill, Senator Orin G. Hatch.
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Macy’s letter was written on May 24, 1995, at a time when it was believed
that the State of Oklahoma would be able to bring murder charges only on
behalf of the persons who died outside of the Murrah Building property,
who numbered fewer than ten.

However, the later discovery in November of the absence of any federal
government documents of possession for the land on which the Murrah
Building was built gave concurrent State and federal jurisdiction to the case.
Macy later announced that he intended to file murder charges on behalf of
all of the victims. But in May 1995 the discovery of the absence of the criti-
cal document was still five months into the future. Macy’s letter is quoted
here in its entirety:

“Dear Senator Hatch:

“The purpose of this letter is to express my support for the inclu-
sion of the provisions for reform of Federal Habeas Corpus
authored by Senator Specter and you in the Anti-Terrorism Bill,
[now numbered] S. 735. Apparently some persons have raised
questions about the appropriateness of this measure. Specifically, I
have been told that there are some who do not see the importance
of these reform measures in cases such as the Oklahoma City
bombing, which will initially be prosecuted by Federal Court.

“There are two points I would like to make in response to those
questions. First,immediately following the trial or trials in Federal
Court, I shall, working in cooperation with the United States
Department of Justice and the federal law-enforcement agencies
investigating the bombing of the Alfred P. Murrah building, pros-
ecute in Oklahoma State Court the cowards responsible for
murdering innocent people in the area surrounding the Federal
Building. And I shall seek the death penalty. We must never forget
that this bombing took several lives and injured dozens of persons
in the neighborhood and businesses near the building. The State of
Oklahoma has an overwhelming, compelling interest to seek and
obtain the maximum penalty allowable by law for the senseless and
cowardly killings. Not only it is in the interest of the State, it is my
sworn duty to seek those sanctions, and I intend to fully carry out
my responsibilities.

“The reform measures contained in the Specter, Hatch, Dole Habeas
Corpus Reform measures contained in S. 735 will in my judgment
significantly curb the abuse and delays inherent in current habeas
practice. Every day of delay represents a victory for these cowardly,
cold-blooded killers and another day of defeat and suffering for the
victims and all other Americans who cry out for justice.
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“Secondly, your reform provisions will also create significant time
savings during appeals from federal convictions as well. Examples
of this include:

time limitations on when habeas petitions may be filed,;

time deadlines on when federal courts prioritize consideration of
capital appeals;

a requirement that federal courts prioritize consideration of capital
appeals;

reform of the abuses inherent in the probable cause process; [and]
limitations on second and successive petitions.

“As Chairman of the Board of Directors of the National District
Attorney’s Association I am proud to inform you that America’s
prosecutors speak with one voice and that we are calling upon you
and your colleagues to set your priorities and enact reforms which
will provide to every convicted murderer the rights guaranteed by
the [Clonstitution, but absolutely no further consideration or delay
than is constitutionally required.

“Respectfully, Robert H. Macy, District Attorney.”

Macy’s vigorous letter fooled only those already being led down the prim-
rose path. The truth still remained that habeas corpus reform might have
been needed, but not at the expense of personal liberty. The Omnibus
Counter-Terrorism Bill was a poor vehicle for such reform, but it contained
all of the cards that the federal government wished to play. It had already
been a battle to the death, but the war was far from over.

On August 19, 1995, four months after the Murrah Building bombing, Presi-
dent Clinton tried again to push for passage of the Anti-Terrorism Bill, which
was still stalled in the Congress. At the close of his radio address that day,
Clinton stated, “It’s hard to imagine what more must happen to convince
Congress to pass that bill”

This thinly veiled threat has remained ominously present in the minds of all
freedom-loving Americans ever since that date.

On October 19, 1995, six months after the bombing, Clinton complained at
a press conference that Congress seemed to have forgotten about bis terror-
ism bill. Said Clinton, “It's been six months since the Oklahoma City
bombing ... [and] they still haven’t passed the bill. They haven’t even
scheduled it for a final vote”—as if the Oklahoma City bombing was the
reason that the bill should have already been signed into law.

But the reasons for the bill’s failure to pass had nothing to do with schedul-
ing. There was no partisan plot delaying passage. Between its introduction
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into the Congress in February and Clinton’s complaints in October, many of
the provisions of the bill had been made public. For patriotic Americans,
the scope of the bill was horrifying and many heard the death knell of per-
sonal liberty.

David Kopel of the Independence Institute commented that both the
House and the Senate antiterrorism bills “define almost all violent and
property crimes, no matter how trivial, as terrorist offenses. The bills
thereby federalize virtually the entire criminal law.”

Civil-liberties issues were causing many problems for the bill’s Washington
supporters, and the telephone lines to Congressional offices had been inun-
dated with calls in opposition to the bill. Under attack were the bill’s
provisions that expanded the wiretapping powers of government law-
enforcement agencies, the establishment of secret courts to deport aliens
suspected (but not charged or convicted) of terrorism, and the arbitrary
power of life and death given to the President or the Attorney General with-
out guidelines or definitions. By October 1995 there were simply not
enough votes to pass it.

Voicing his opposition to the bill, Representative Don Manzullo (R-IL)
remarked in a letter to House Judiciary Committee Chairman Henry Hyde
(R-IL): “I do not want to see the House fall into the political trap of reacting
to a tragedy simply to be able to say it ‘did something, because what I have
found in H.R. 2703 suggests we may be willing to compromise the integrity
of the Constitution for the sake of responding to crimes that would be
impossible to stop through the standard legislative process.”

In an editorial dated October 23, 1995, the Washington Post offered the
following opinion:

“The President’s nudging complaint does not appear to take into account
the real problems various members have with the terrorism package. This
is not a matter of legislators getting their act together or demonstrating
their abhorrence for train derailers and day-care center bombers by passing
a bill. Opponents on both sides of the aisle are acting on their own deep
moral convictions concerning individual rights and government power.
This is not easy to sort out and may require a whittling down of some pro-
visions of the bill. Calling for a quick vote when defeat is a real possibility
is more of a risk for the President than a popular call to action.”

Early in 1996 the United States House of Representatives finally passed H.R.
2703 and that bill was sent to committee to be reconciled with the Senate
version, which had been passed in June 1995. After all was said and done,
President Clinton was not particularly happy with the House version, stat-
ing that it had been watered down and all of its legislative teeth had been
pulled.
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In his radio address of April 13, 1996—six days before the one-year anniver-
sary of the bombing—Clinton again pressed for a stronger antiterrorism bill:
“It is essential that Congress send me the right antiterrorism legislation—
legislation that finally will give law enforcement the upper hand. When I
met with leaders of the Congressional majority shortly after the bombing,
they assured me that Congress would give the American people strong
antiterrorism legislation. They haven’t. While the Senate passed a solid bill,
the House absolutely gutted it. Under pressure from the Washington gun
lobby, House Republicans took that bill apart piece by piece. Well, now it's
time they put it back together”

Eventually the House and Senate versions were reconciled, and on April 24,
1996, five days after the one-year anniversary of the Oklahoma City bomb-
ing, Clinton signed S. 735 and it became Public Law 104-132.

The battle over the passage of the Anti-Terrorism Bill and all that it entailed
will be handled extensively in Volume Two. On April 19, 1995, that battle
was almost a year into the future.

As Oklahoma Governor Frank Keating began putting things in order by call-
ing for “prudent and careful protective efforts,” it became apparent that it
was going to be necessary to paint the Murrah Building bombing with such
broad and fearful strokes that terrorism would become the single most
feared cause of death in America. Only in the grip of a paralyzing fear
would the American people ever beg for dependable enslavement to rescue
them from unpredictable liberty and its burden of personal responsibility.

Watch out for the fellow who talks about
putting things in order!
Putting things in order always means
getting other people under your control.
— Denis Diderot
Supplement to Bougainville’s “Voyage” (1796)
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HOW SHALL WE LOOK AGAIN

The Community’s Response

It was almost one o’clock in the afternoon—four hours after the bombing,.
Rescue workers in the Murrah Building had not yet cleared a single floor.
As debris was removed from the building, settling began to occur. The
building itself was groaning as firefighters and rescue teams worked their
way toward the victims. Without warning and within mere seconds, hair-
line cracks in concrete slabs, balanced precariously above the rescuers,
widened to half-inch gaps, showering the workers with dust and rock,
threatening to crush the men attempting to remove those already trapped.

“We've had some minor secondary collapses inside the building,” said Assis-
tant Fire Chief Jon Hansen,“and that’s going to happen to us. We've got to
be very careful as we remove rubble that’s unstable. There are some things
that we don’t want to cause for ourselves. That’s always the possibility right
now. And yes, we have had some secondary collapses.”

Said another firefighter,“One after another they crawled back in here and
worked for hours at a time. They passed out body parts. They pulled the
victims past them and passed them out. I'm not going to lie to you. Yeah, I
was scared. Probably my biggest fear was having a secondary collapse and
being buried.”

Reporter Uze Brown-Washington interviewed Officer Adrian Neal from the
Edmond Police Department and asked about his experience inside the
Murrah Building.

“I was inside the building,” said Officer Neal. “Our agency sent out several
people just [like] every other agency, and we worked from the first floor up
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to the ninth, trying to see if there was anybody, any victims that needed
medical assistance. It’s just incredible devastation. It’s like being a miner,
and you have to dig through walls and ceilings. A lot of debris has collapsed
on top of desks, and there was one door I saw that had literally been blown
through a block wall."

Neal was asked if there was much hope for finding survivors. “I would hope
there is,” he replied. “I know from what I saw that it's a bad situation. We're
optimistic and we're doing everything we can. I know that there were a lot
of people in there digging through the debris.

Mourners left signs and expressions of sympathy throughout the area in honor of the victims.
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“We saw a pair of ladies’ shoes, and all we could see was the bottoms of
them. So we spent twenty minutes digging through the debris trying to
work ourselves to that area. It turned out it was just a pair of shoes ... but
you have to check. So that's why it is taking so much time. It is an agoniz-
ing process.

“The thing is, the stability of the building is still in question. I know that
there were several times when I was up on the seventh, eighth, and ninth
floors that I felt like the building was moving. You have to be very slow and
cautious when you're doing this”

The wreckage of the building was so tangled and jumbled that the sorting
had become painstakingly slow. Said one observer,“It would be so easy to
shift some bit of crumpled concrete and inadvertently crush a living person
trapped underneath it. Hurry the least little bit,and you might kill someone
beneath you. Things had to be lifted cautiously, not shoved aside, and the
things to be lifted weighed tons.”

In a later interview Firefighter Mike Shannon described the rescue work in
a part of the Murrah Building that had been nicknamed the Cave. Said Shan-
non, “They had to work single file, coming through the crack into here.
They would move a rock and pass the rock back down the line as they
found the people.

“Back in here is where they were all compacted—about eight people in
this one spot, literally touching each other. So the men had to work through
each victim as they worked their way to the one behind, and the one
behind them, and so forth. It was horrifying.”

Reporter Lee Evans offered the public a medical update from the bomb site
around 1:30 p.m. The streets had become comparatively quiet and the
shrieks of the ambulance sirens no longer split the air as they had during
the earlier hours of the rescue operation.

Said Ms. Evans: “University Hospital is now sending four doctors down to
the scene with emergency amputation kits to amputate limbs from some of
the victims trapped in the rubble. We've been told that the only way to get
them out is to cut them away from the rubble. It's hard to stomach the
reality of this rescue. Medical personnel have had to amputate one person’s
arm to free the victim.”

Shortly after Ms. Evan'’s report, Southwest Medical Center announced that it
was still on a disaster alert, preparing for the second wave of the injured,
but almost immediately a second announcement was made: medical person-
nel were no longer needed. Only the dead were being found.

Kent Ogle with KFOR Channel 4 Television reported from the University
Hospital Trauma Center: “About thirty minutes ago they had some ambu-
lances come and pick up stretchers and emergency supplies and took them
out to the field hospital which is set up near the Federal Building. But
about five minutes ago they brought it all back.
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“I asked some of the personnel what was going on. They said, ‘We're not
needed. There are not enough survivors being removed for the medical
workers to treat. That certainly doesn’t look good when we're getting that
straight from the medical personnel.

“The triage [center] there by the Federal Building is still open and they are
hoping more survivors will come out. But right now the field hospital that
was set up to treat what they had hoped would be the second wave of sur-
vivors has been torn down and brought back to University Hospital. There
must be around seventy-five emergency personnel here at University Hospi-
tal, stretching as far as the eye can see, just waiting.”

Reporter Tara Blume interviewed Nurse Robin Gibson at the triage center
located at the corner of NW 5% and Oklahoma. Said Ms. Blume,“I am at the
field hospital where they had set up a triage unit in a storage building, but
they're breaking it down now because there is simply not anybody left to
treat. With me is Robin Gibson. Robin, give us some indication from the
people that have gone in there what they have found.”

Ms. Gibson replied,“They have found lots of rubble, rocks, and no survivors
so far. They have heard a few voices underneath the rubble, but they have
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found no survivors. They are tagging [bodies] right now. They were up to
thirty in the last count I heard”

Blume asked,“T heard that there was one person that they pulled out alive.
Do you know about that?”

“They did pull one person out a couple of hours ago, and that person was
taken to the hospital,” said Gibson. “That’s all we know. There were two tri-
age centers, one up closer to the building and one right over here on this
corner. They are both being pretty much dispersed. We are keeping about
twenty to thirty personnel around just in case. We're not sure whether a
temporary morgue is going to be set up or anything of that nature. All out-
of-town ambulances are going home and we've been authorized to dismiss
everyone.”

“Robin, this has got to be devastating to everybody here that wanted to
come and help”

“Yes, Tara, yes. I got here right around 10:30, and I had to turn away at least
a hundred people who volunteered. We had fifty on reserve. We had first-
aid volunteers over here, and there were just so many people.”

Robin Gibson suddenly sighed and looked very tired. “It really was great to
see 50 many people come out and try to help. But there just wasn't any-
thing to do.”

Gradually we began to understand that the Murrah Building was not going
to yield that expected secondary wave of living victims who could be res-
cued, helped, and healed. With the exception of the small handful of
survivors yet to be discovered, the Alfred P. Murrah Building was now a sep-
ulchre from which the dead would be exhumed.

In acceptance of this situation, the local medical workers were being told to
stand down. A FEMA team from Tulsa — the National Disaster Medical
Service Team — dispatched its personnel to Oklahoma City. This FEMA
team was more highly trained at body extraction than treating the injured
who were still living. Once on the scene, they began to bring the remains
of the bodies out of the building and take them to the makeshift morgue
locations that had been set up at the former triage sites.

It was now two o'clock. Time was again standing still and anxiety was high.
No one could be seen working in the Murrah Building because of the dis-
tance from the site, but we knew the workers were still there. We could
hear the sound of the portable generators on the north side of the building.

The first broken lines of clouds from the approaching thunderstorms had
made an appearance. Alternately, the remains of the building were high-
lighted in sunlight and then cast into pallid shades of gray. All kept a
watchful eye to the southwest. It was a restless time. There was nothing to
do but wait and talk. People needed to talk. Somehow that seemed to
relieve the tension.
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Nicky Smith and Pam Burns were nurses who worked at Passion Home
Health Care. They had been involved in the rescue operation from the
earliest moments. Said Ms. Smith, “It’s like a war zone. There is rubble
everywhere — concrete, pieces of cars, twisted and mangled parking
meters.”

When asked what she observed while in the Murrah Building, Smith was
momentarily speechless, unable to describe the situation downtown: “Well,
it'’s not like anything I can really honestly put into words for you.”

Nurse Pam Burns tried to add some perspective: “I guess it's the reality of
TV validated — what you see on TV when something blows up and it's all
theatrical makeup. Well, this isn’t theatrical makeup. This is real blood this
time. It’s pretty graphic. When you've seen some of these big movies
where things are blowing up, things are on fire and all of that — well, this
is after the fire: the charred bodies, the devastation.

“At this point all of the nurses have gotten real disheartened because we
went in with our adrenaline up, knowing our ER experience to try to inter-
vene in the best way we could, to try to save these lives. And there is no
one to save. There has been one survivor found in the past two hours.
That's not a real good body count. One life.

“There are dismemberments. There’s blood everywhere. People have been
burned from the blast. It’s really awful ... really awful. All of the nurses that
have over five to ten years of ER experience and most of the physicians
have been told that they can go home or go back to their own facilities
because there is nothing that can happen.

“We've also been told that the disaster team fromTulsa trained in picking up
the bodies and dealing with the evidence will be taking over at this point.
So that pretty much tells me that there’s nothing else for the nurses to do.”

A pale and shaken volunteer, Gary Jenkins, made a statement to the media.
He had been working just outside of the Murrah Building, helping first with
the removal of the injured survivors and later in the makeshift morgue.
When asked to describe his experience, Jenkins just closed his eyes and
shook his head.

“Horrific,” he said. “I don't understand how anybody in this world can con-
ceive to do something like that to innocent people. I don’t ever want to
look at anything like that again in my life. I really don’t. It’s absolutely hor-
rific up there.

“We've been up to the south end of the building, up to the area where they
were doing the first triage, and where they were bringing the victims out.
I've seen every injury conceivable.

Jenkins was asked if the majority of people being brought out were alive.
He seemed dazed and confused by the question. “Oh, everything is moving
so fast, you really can’t get a count on anything. You just do what you can
and move on.”
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Nurse Toni Garrett had volunteered to assist the victims at the Murrah Build-
ing. She was on duty from the early morning until the FBI took over the
medical areas later Wednesday night. Once off duty, Nurse Garrett spoke
with independent video producer Chuck Allen.

“We were setting up a triage unit a couple of blocks from the Murrah Build-
ing," said Garrett,“and it wasn’t until later that they asked if there was
anybody that wanted to tag the bodies. I volunteered, along with a student
nurse and a physician who agreed to do it. We had gone around and started
looking for bodies.

“There were people that had been blown out of the windows. The first
body that we found was a young female that had been found in front of the
Water Resources Board Building and she had been blown to pieces. Her
body was charred. She had been pregnant. Her head was gone. The only
thing that was left of her head was her chin. Her arms were missing. Her
right leg was missing, and the flesh from her left leg was partially missing.
The only place that we were able to tag her was the bone to her left leg,
lower portion.

“One baby in particular still bothers me. It had been blown around a pole
and we had to literally remove it from the pole in order to get it out of the
building”

After several days of body extraction, one of the recovery team members
spoke on condition of anonymity to author Robin Jones. He needed to talk
about his experience.

“I'm one of the people brought in from outside,” he said. “The walking
wounded and the people that were dug out alive on that first day weren’t
messed up real bad, comparatively speaking. Neither were a few of the first
corpses they bagged. Some had lost body parts, but they were relatively
intact. That sort of gave everyone the idea that the whole operation was
going to be like that—nasty, but not too bad. We were wrong.

“Some of the next of kin were upset because they weren't asked to identify
the remains by sight. They didn’t realize what the remains looked like.
There weren't any features you could identify. Jewelry, wallets, a tag of fab-
ric. That's how they did it. Eventually they brought in Clyde Snow from
Norman, probably the world’s best identifier of remains, to help them. Con-
sidering what they had to work with, they did a phenomenal job. Just
phenomenal.”

Shaking his head in disbelief at questions he had been asked by the media,
he said, “You can't begin to know the tenth of what gruesome really is.
We've redefined the term here.

Everywhere people were talking about the events of April 19, and every-
where people were emotionally devastated by what had occurred. One
indicative conversation was overheard on the scanner radio. A nurse from
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the rescue operation was talking to one of her friends. She remarked that as
she assisted a policeman with the removal of one of the victims from the
rubble, he gave vent to his frustration and anger, saying,“We're going to go
to war over this”

The stress level of workers at the bomb site was almost unendurable. The
emotional response of the rescuers to the enormity of the tragedy and the
danger associated with the work greatly influenced how efficiently and
safely they could do their job. It was going to be necessary to establish
emotional triage centers for the workers.

Assistant Fire Chief Jon Hansen explained, “We've got a Critical Incident
Stress Debriefing area for [the rescuers] when we bring our folks out. It is
emotional. I've met firefighters coming out of the building that have tears
in their eyes from crawling through and looking at the devastation both to
the building and the people. And it’s emotional trying to rescue people. It’s
very taxing. But they're going to be here throughout it, and we're going to
do the very best we can.”

Lieutenant Lucky Wilson of the Oklahoma City Fire Department was
assigned as coordinator for the Critical Incident Stress Debriefing Team.
“Firefighters repress emotions to get a job done,” he said. “If you haven’t
learned how to get the emotions out you can hurt yourself over a long
period of time.

“Situations change your life. Until that happens, you never think you can be
hurt. It is a wake-up call. You have to understand the profile of a firefighter.
You're talking about controlled personalities. Whether they go to a house
fire, a car wreck, or something else, they see this as “This is broken and we
will fix it They are in control, and to be in control you have to be in control
of your emotions.”

As the different work shifts came to an end each day, almost all of the res-
cue workers attended defusing sessions held at the Southwestern Bell
Building. Throughout the rescue operation and continuing until the end of
the removal operation, the defusing sessions continued. They were later
replaced by formal debriefings.

The sessions were directed by firefighters and mental health professionals,
and were conducted as a form of group peer counseling. Lieutenant Wilson
described the debriefing program as consisting of seven stages: introduc-
tion, fact, thought, reaction, symptoms, teaching, and reentry.

Initially, the meetings were introduced as an educational program, not as
therapy. Each participant was asked to state facts concerning who they
were, where they had been assigned, and what occurred to them during
their work shifts. The firefighters then individually voiced their first
thoughts about the incident.
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During the reaction phase of debriefing, the participants completed the
phrase: “The worst part of this for me was ... "and answered the question:
“What one element could you have eliminated?” In reviewing symptoms,
the firefighters were asked, “What signals let you know this was unusual?”
and “Is anything still bothering you?”

Many firefighters expressed feelings such as,“If I had only run faster ... " or
“If T had just arrived one minute sooner ... " or “If I had only been stronger
... "Their emotional conclusions were usually those of guilt or of feelings
that the rescue worker was somehow responsible for some great ill that had
befallen a victim—that because they were present, working with all their
might, people should not have died.

The truth was that everyone did exactly what was required in the appropri-
ate manner, with every ounce of physical strength they had, and with total
commitment of heart. No one individual fireman could have altered the
course of events once the bombing had occurred. During the rescue effort
no one contributed less than one-hundred percent effort, and these brave
men had to accept that one-hundred percent was all they could ever have
given, no matter what the circumstances. It was an acceptance of human
limitation in the face of forces and conditions beyond their control.

As debriefing moved into the teaching aspects, it was stressed that the reac-
tions, signs, and symptoms observed by the firefighters were normal in a
disaster of this magnitude, and they were instructed about what they might
expect in the future because of their exposure to the disaster.

At the close of debriefing each participant offered a summary statement,
often in the form of a positive affirmation, such as “I did everything I could
and there was nothing I could have changed.” It was a form of voicing the
acceptance of human frailty and the limits of influence over events that had
already occurred.

Said Lieutenant Wilson,“We would like to think we could go back to normal.
But my own personal opinion is that normal has changed. So we have to
deal with normal as it is now.”

Bill Carpenter, from the Out-Patient Counseling Center at Baptist Hospital,
was interviewed on the street by Theresa Green. The initial numbing shock
of the bombing was wearing off. Carpenter was asked what kinds of things
a counselor could do to help members of the community regain a sense of
stability and balance.

Said Carpenter,“It is important to understand how people respond to disas-
ters such as this. There is a wide range of response. We sometimes think
that there is a predictable one way that people respond, but there are lots of
different ways.

“Folks can get hysterical, they can get teary, or some folks can respond as if
nothing had happened at all. All of those are okay ways of responding.
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People will get to what they need to do in their own time and according to
their own culture and other things that determine how they’re going to
respond.

“As far as a neighbor offering help or calling someone—try to be with some-
body during that time and try to sense what that person wants from you as
you're sitting with them or talking with them. If they seem to want your
presence, then stay with them. If not, then offer what you can and go on.
Sometimes just the offer is a wonderful gesture of concern and compas-
sion.”

Theresa Green asked, “The rescue workers are now talking about the hor-
rible things that they've seen. We've observed this with other
disasters—similar, I imagine, to post-traumatic stress syndrome. What kinds
of things are they going to be going through in the days and weeks ahead
just because of what they are seeing today?”

“I think right now, of course, as they are involved in rescue, they will do
well and not show any kind of emotion, for the most part,” said Carpenter.
“But then as the days go on, after the shock begins to show itself with them,
then they will begin to experience a variety of responses.

“It’s important for folks like that to understand that this particular rescue is
the source of strange kinds of behavior that may come weeks later. Often
people don’t relate that to the stress, and so they have difficulty and won-
der why”

In response to Carpenter’'s comments, Green added, for the benefit of the
television audience,“I do want to point out that counselors here and else-
where throughout the city have mobilized and do want to make themselves
available for anyone who needs help dealing with this.”

Oklahoma City psychologist Vernon R. Enlow had been involved in debrief-
ing individual disaster victims. He tried to explain some of the grieving
process to the press. “Emotional wounds will affect everyone. There are
going to be the funerals, the losses, and there's going to be the scar down-
town. That building will be there for weeks as a reminder. After everything
soaks in, there will be anger and hostility. And if the bombing is ever asso-
ciated with any specific group, hostility could be directed toward innocent
people. It is important to get victims of a disaster talking about what hap-
pened, what they felt, what they saw, where they were.

“But, added Enlow with a sigh of futility,"how do you debrief a whole city?”
Jorg Pahl, an assistant professor of psychology and behavioral science at the
University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, stated, “Victims of the
bombing could experience post-traumatic stress disorder.

“Symptoms of psychological disorders resulting from a traumatic expe-

rience may not appear until much later, and sufferers may not connect
them immediately with the experience. Symptoms include loss of sleep,
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headaches, loss of appetite, lack of concentration, depression, and flash-
backs or nightmares. Recovery and mourning take time, sometimes years.
It is important to discuss with children the nature of the tragedy and its
implications,” said Pahl.

Tammy Payne, reporter with KWTV Channel 9 Television, interviewed a
psychological counselor with the Red Cross. Ms. Payne asked,“What do you
have to say to people at home trying to deal with this—because so many
people have been hit by it, whether they have a family member, a loved one,
involved or not?”

The counselor replied, “I think for most of us it’s just hard to believe that
this could happen in Oklahoma City. There’s just a lot of initial shock, disbe-
lief, and denial, and it’s like wanting to wake up from a bad dream. People
should know that there will be some stages of shock, and then there will be
a lot of feelings of fear and anxiety.

“Usually we all walk around with some sense of invulnerability in our life,
and when something like this hits in our city so close to home, it shakes all
of our sense of safety and security. So you can expect to feel very fright-
ened and vulnerable. There will be a lot of anxiety and fear for a while.
“As for the children, I think we have to realize that children will also expe-
rience some stress and some trauma from things like this. I think everyone
ought to talk with them about what happened and give them reassurance.
For smaller children it is important to give them some nurturing and protec-
tion, maybe hold them a little more and talk to them. They will need
reassurances.

“Children have a double vulnerability. First of all, they themselves are expe-
riencing reactions to the event, and secondly, they are also reacting to what
their parents are going through. So we need to let them know that they are
safe and protected.”

Counseling psychologist Stewart Beasley from Hillcrest Medical Center
offered tips to help children cope with the psychological trauma of the
bombing. Said Beasley:“Remember that fears are normal in children, even
when a child has not experienced any kind of trauma. Do not criticize or
shame a child for his fears. Do not call him a sissy. Encourage positive
action. Let the children feel as though they are helping others. Spend time
with your children and be physically near them.

“Help children express their feelings through art. The younger the child is,
the less developed are his language skills. Art is an excellent medium for
communicating emotions without words.

“Address their safety needs. Children want to know they are safe from disas-
ter. Discuss with your children what happened, the nature of the tragedy,
and its implications, but gory details should not be included. Explain that
the tragedy is a rare and unusual event, and that it probably will never hap-
pen to the child.
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“Remember that children take their cues from adults in their lives, so try to
react calmly. Be sure to listen and never force a child to talk”

As the afternoon progressed, the public schools were soon going to be
releasing the students from classes for the day. Even this simple, everyday
occurrence required special arrangements. The children who lived in the
evacuated downtown area and attended Oklahoma City public schools had
to be taken after school to Wilson Elementary School at 2215 N. Walker
where their parents had been instructed to pick them up. Neither the chil-
dren nor their parents could go home because their homes were located
within the sealed perimeter. Some of the homes were now structurally
unsound. Some were no longer habitable.

All counselors in the school district were placed on alert and were dis-
patched wherever they were needed to help children traumatized by the
event. At some schools recess period had been canceled because school
officials feared the possibility of another explosion in the area and wanted
to keep the children indoors.

Schools and day-care centers located near the FBI offices at 50 Penn Place
had been evacuated earlier in the day. In Oklahoma City, all after-school
activities were canceled. In Edmond, Oklahoma, a special crisis-interven-
tion team assembled at Memorial High School to assist with counseling
needs in that community.

L. D. Barney, Oklahoma City School District spokesman, sent school-
district counselors first to the Emerson Alternative Center at 715 N.Walker.
Emerson was the only school building that had sustained damage from the
explosions. Some students and teachers had received minor cuts and abra-
sions, and windows had been broken in the blast. By noon Emerson had
been closed for the day and the counselors were sent to area hospitals to
work with victims and family members.

At John Marshall High School televisions were set up in the cafeteria so stu-
dents could keep up with the bombing news during lunchtime.

At U.S. Grant High School, Principal Bill Scoggan said, “We did have some
staff and students who had relatives in the building. We had them together
and individually in counseling and sharing sessions.”

Jerry Rickers, principal of Putnam City West High School, said that the
school had a teacher whose mother crawled out of a window in the Federal
Building after the explosions. “The kids have really been great and helped
each other”

At about 2:30 p.m. the University of Sciences and Arts of Oklahoma in
Chickasha was evacuated because of a bomb scare, but no explosives were
found.

Norman Public Schools superintendent James Gray described the proce-
dures his staff members implemented immediately after the bombing. “We
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had grave concerns about our students and employees who may have mem-
bers of their families who have been injured or killed in this explosion. We
immediately went through and printed lists of students with parents in the
military or who are employees of federal agencies. We then contacted each
principal of each Norman school to do the research on where those people
are employed. Right now we are still unsure what the impact will be on
Norman schools and students.”

Crisis-intervention teams had already been sent to a number of schools.
Louanna Law of the Family Center was the supervising head of the crisis
intervention teams. “It is important for all of us to realize,” she said, “that it
will affect us in some way—even if you don’t know someone who was
injured or killed. We go through our regular routine, but we need to under-
stand that it is okay to be affected. We want so badly to help, to feel
useful—and that also makes a difference.”

Throughout the afternoon television news anchors on all stations spoke to
children who might be watching at home: “If you are at home alone and
your parents haven’t come home yet, don’t worry. Stay where you are.
Mommy or Daddy will be home soon. If you need help, write down this
telephone number we are showing you now on the television. There are
people you can talk to who will help you with whatever you need. Call this
number if your parents have not returned yet”

For some of those children, Mommy or Daddy would never come home.
Some thirty children were orphaned by the Murrah Building bombing, and
there were 219 children who lost one or both parents. Oklahoma City resi-
dent Mechelle Murray, a single mother with children, took in the two young
boys who lived next door when their mother did not come home from
work on April 19.

Eleven-year-old Jonathan Hill and his thirteen-year-old brother Ricky had
waited all day for a phone call from their mother, Lola Renee Bolden, an
Army recruiter and fifteen-year veteran who worked in the fourth floor
recruiting station in the Murrah Building. It would not be until 1:00 a.m.on
Thursday morning that three uniformed Army officers appeared at Ms.
Murray’s door to bring the crushing news of the death of the boys’ mother.

Ms. Bolden had just turned forty years old on April 1,and had transferred to
Oklahoma City from Colorado the previous January. Jonathan and Ricky
continued to live with Ms. Murray until their relatives arrived from Alabama.
Said Murray, “What hit home to me was that she had no family here. No
Oklahoma ties, no one at all for those boys. I can’t think about what their
lives will be like without Lola.”

There were many similar stories, all of them tragic, all of them accounts of
irretrievable loss. But people pulled together in a million ways to help each
other cope. Ordinary people gave of themselves without reservation to do
whatever they could to ease the grief and anguish.
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Dr. Robert Bomengen, honored by the American Academy of Family Physi-
cians as the American Family Physician of 1994, was in Oklahoma City to
deliver a lecture on April 19. He never gave that lecture. As soon as he
learned of the explosions at the Murrah Building, he knew that the hospitals
would be well supplied with doctors, but they might be in short supply at
the triage centers.

With his supplies in his black bag, Dr. Bob (as he is known to his patients)
rushed to the scene. He spent many hours binding wounds, treating the
injured, comforting the fearful, and praying with the dying.

Said Dr. Bob, I never have had a patient of mine near death who has died
without prayer. I always ask permission and I've never been turned down.
My faith is important to me. I don't proselytize. I communicate my faith by
example. To me, medicine is a ministry”

Cindy Overholt, a Red Cross volunteer, was told to find nine additional vol-
unteers to work the late relief shift from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. Cindy
made two telephone calls and twenty-seven people showed up to work.
The eighteen extra workers made themselves useful wherever they could,
assisting the Red Cross, Feed the Children, and City Church where the kitch-
ens were kept open to feed anyone at any time who needed a hot meal
during the rescue effort.

Knowing that the younger children of the victims still trapped in the
Murrah Building could get restless and bored while waiting for news with
their family members who had gathered at the First Christian Church’s Fam-
ily Assistance Center, Sharlotte Campbell, a children’s counselor, took her
pets to the Center to relieve the stress of the children. Charlie, the spider
monkey, and Shelly, the mutt dog, brought smiles and entertainment to
waiting children whose whole world had cratered on April 19.

Second-graders from Edmond decided that children in the hospital might
not be able to hold a book or read because of broken glass and eye injuries.
In a project of enormous compassion, the students made a cassette tape
they titled, “Stories, Songs and Poems Just for You.

The children made up poems, sang songs, read a book for the tape, made up
their own stories, and told jokes for the victims. The students also made get-
well cards, posters, and a small newsletter. Copies of the cassette were
made and the various gifts were given to parents for delivery to local
hospitals, where they were distributed.

Cyndy McGarr felt inspired to make a very large sign on butcher paper. She
attached it to the ten-foot chain-link fence that had been hastily erected
around the Murrah Building. Her sign was meant to support and encourage
the rescue and recovery workers. It read:
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We're bere and we’ve committed.
We are steadfast and strong in our combined strengtbhs.
We're Oklabomans.
And we’re not leaving until this job is done.
God be with our nation.

From time to time during the next sixteen days, Cyndy made more signs,
changing the content,always leaving a statement of hope and edification for
the rescue and recovery workers. The workers inside the perimeter came
to the fence every day to see what new message of encouragement had
been left just for them.

e

PHOTO BY JOHN JENKINS
The northeast corner of the Memorial Fence after the implosion of the Murrah Building. The
fence extends for approximately 250 feet along NW 5" Street and south on both Robinson
and Harvey. It is at all times covered with items of tribute to the victims, survivors, and
rescuers. At regular intervals, the Oklahoma Historical Society collects the mementos from
the Memorial Fence for placement in a permanent collection housed at the Historical Society
Museum located in the Capitol Complex.

From this time forward, for the next four weeks announcements about sup-
port groups, counseling sessions, telephone hot lines, or special prayer
services were never absent from the news. For many days thereafter, local
call-in talk shows were made available following the 10:00 p.m. televised
newscast, during which members of the community could discuss the
bombing, speak with a counselor or minister, or offer condolences to the
families of the victims. Many people sought comfort and solace in the
anonymity of those calls. Many had nowhere else to turn for help. Others
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turned to their churches, synagogues, and mosques for support and
counsel.

During the afternoon of April 19, announcements were made by all the
media: “Churches are calling in saying they will have prayer services tonight
for the victims of the blast. Call your local churches. There have been a
number of people calling saying there will be citywide services tonight to
pray for these people who need it so desperately”

Evangelist Pamela Frazier, associate minister at House of Prayer Baptist
Church, said, “Prayer is the only thing we need to do, and we need to inter-
vene for everybody, even people we don't know.”

One wall of the Islamic Center of Greater Oklahoma City was rapidly disap-
pearing behind boxes of blankets, supplies, and food sent by Muslims
throughout the country for the rescue workers and victims’ families. Imam
Shams-U-Diin Abdus-Sabur stated that prayer and worship services were
scheduled for members of the Islamic community seeking comfort and
guidance in this time of great distress.

Rev. Anthony Jordan, pastor of the Northwest Baptist Church, gathered his
staff to pray immediately after hearing of the bombing. “I prayed first of all
that God would bring peace to the hearts of those who are in crisis and
their families, and that God would protect the workers in the rescue effort.
And we prayed for the people who did this”

Ecumenical prayer services, sponsored by the Oklahoma Conference of
Churches, were held at the First Christian Church, Westminster Presbyterian
Church, and St. Luke’s United Methodist Church in Oklahoma City; and at St.
John's Episcopal Church and McFarlin United Methodist Church in Norman.

During the prayer service at First Christian Church, clergy from Presbyte-
rian, Jewish, Baptist, Disciples of Christ, Roman Catholic, Episcopal, and
Methodist congregations urged those gathered to share their grief with
each other and with God.

Rabbi Daniel Shevits of Emanuel Synagogue recited a prayer for “those
whose hearts are broken, who are suffering the death of loved ones”

Rev.Thomas Jewell, executive regional minister of the Disciples of Christ
Church, said, “We pray for the media. They have an important job to do.
May they each one have balance and compassion, honoring the dignity and
the privacy of those who grieve.”

Worship and prayer services were held for the bombing victims and the
community’s loss at the Anglican Church of the Holy Cross, Council Road
Baptist Church, the Cathedral of Our Lady of Perpetual Help, First Presbyte-
rian Church, the Del City Church of Christ, First United Methodist Church,
Spring Creek Baptist Church, Edmond Church of Christ, All Souls Episcopal
Church, St. Joseph Old Cathedral, First Baptist Church, and City Church.
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Dave Wasserman, the president of the Oklahoma Conference of Churches,
encouraged the community, saying, “Where there are ecumenical organiza-
tions and ministerial associations, please use these avenues to help us
witness to our trust in God, the Maker of Heaven and Earth, and the One on
Whom we can rely in such difficult times as these.”

Said one editorialist for the Daily Oklahoman,"Some will blame God. But
God did not place a bomb at 5" and Robinson. Evil men did, the kind of evil
men that have been around since the beginning of history, since Cain slew
Abel and unleashed the forces of chaos.

“Watching our own hometown on CNN, watching scenes that resemble
Beirut instead of middle America, we are stunned by the proximity of this
madness. This is what has been shattered: our sense of immunity from cata-
clysmic evil.

“Rather than blaming God, this is a time for the city and nation to draw
closer to Him. This is a time to pray for the peace of Oklahoma City ... "

It was three o’clock on the afternoon of April 19, 1995. At that moment a
total of 333 persons had been treated for injuries, and the official death toll
had risen to 19 dead—17 children and 2 adults.

We who are left bow shall we look again
Happily on the sun or feel the rain
Without remembering bow they who went
Ungrudgingly and spent
Their lives for us loved, too, the sun and rain?
— Wilfred Wilson Gibson
“Lament” (1917)
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Chapter 8 —

LIKE AN OAK TREE

The Plight of the Rescuers and Survivors

By midafternoon the heavily guarded perimeter surrounding the bomb site
was surrounded by a secondary perimeter—this one comprised of vehicles.
The sight-seers had come out in full force, many from out of town, some
from out of state. Traffic in the downtown area had now formed a dense,
slowly shifting ring moving in a continual counterclockwise orbit around
the Murrah Federal Building.

Reporter Ron Stahl interviewed some of those who had come downtown to
view the devastation. Said one sight-seer, “You can see it on TV and that’s
one thing. But when you get down here, it just brings the whole thing
home to you. It’s ... it’s just overwhelming. You feel for all of the people
that were involved in it. It's just sad. I don’t know what to say. Out here in
the middle of nowhere, in Oklahoma City, it’s all safe and then something
like this happens. It’s terrible!”

When asked why he had come to watch, another man answered,“Curiosity.
You hear it all over the news. I was kind of wondering what’s going on. It’s
real unbelievable. It makes me feel bad, really sad and terrible for the fami-
lies that have lost loved ones, especially the kids.”

One woman responded,“I've been listening to this all day long and wonder-
ing about friends. I stayed away as long as I could. I have a friend who
works in federal court. I have many friends who work in Leadership Square
and different buildings around here. I've been on the phone all day long
calling to make sure everybody is intact, wishing there was something I
could do, and I just don’t know ... ”
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Sight-seers at the east fence after the exterior perimeter was removed. This fence was as
close as anyone could get to the building prior to the implosion. At all hours large crowds
gathered at the fence to both watch and weep. The fence on the west side enclosed the
Regency Tower Apartments (tall building on the right) and was a block and a half farther away
than the east fence. All gates to the fence were guarded by armed law-enforcement person-
nel. The guard for this east gate is standing just outside the frame on the south side of his
patrol car, seen at the far left edge of the photograph.

In a television interview a nursing student from the University of Central
Oklahoma, Chrys Moore, made a plea to pedestrian sight-seers and motor-
ists: “We do have a lot of people that are coming down—curiosity seekers.
We ask them, please go away. We've got all the emergency workers that we
can handle right now, and we can’t handle any more sightseers or anything
like that.”

Ms. Moore came to the television station directly from the rescue effort.
She was still in her dust- and grime-covered work uniform, wearing a fluo-
rescent orange hardhat spattered with blood. She seemed dazed and on
edge.

Said Moore,“I don't know if I can put it in words or not, but I went down
from University Hospital. There were several student nurses that were
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called and I got pulled into the building. It was pretty distressing. There
were two amputees that we were actually working on, one on the base-
ment, one on the first level. We didn’t even get up to the second floor yet.
There are approximately 100 to 150 people that are still in there trapped,
and unfortunately we think that most of them are dead. There are seven-
teen confirmed casualties, children fatalities, and two confirmed adults who
are dead.”

Moore was asked, “Chrys, with many of the triage centers being disas-
sembled now and people moving back because there are not many
survivors to treat, do you sense a real gloom of hopelessness setting in
which could be devastating to the work effort? Is there really a feeling of
dire straits there?”

“Unfortunately, yes,” said Moore. “Every time we would get set up, we got
moved back. There were several gas leaks, for one thing. There were also at
least two confirmed bombs that they know of that they haven't detonated
yet, and we don’t know where they are.

“As far as hopelessness, there are a lot of the medical staff that are grateful
they were able to get some people out. We're grateful that we got to some
that are still alive. 1 left about twenty minutes ago, and when I was inside
the building we heard at least ten different voices of people who are alive.
They're trapped. We don’t know how seriously they are injured. At the last
count we were out of oxygen and were needing things like that on the
scene, but all of the area hospitals are sending more supplies and everyone
is coming in to help.”

At the conclusion of her interview, Chrys Moore collapsed into a chair at
the television station and began to weep. Cameras gave the world an
extended, close-up view of her blood-stained hardhat while station employ-
ees tried to comfort the young woman with hugs and cups of coffee.

The Third Bomb Scare

At the bomb site workers had again been moved back from the building.
This was the third time that the rescue effort had been halted, and it was at
this time that Technical Sergeant Melvin Sumter from the Oklahoma County
Sheriff’s Department videotaped firefighters removing weapons and other
stored ordnance from the mountain of debris on the north side of the
Murrah Building. In this instance, however, spokesmen for federal agencies
were ready for the press, and the public was immediately told the official
version of what was occurring. It would be months before we saw the vid-
eotape of what really happened.

Reporter and news anchor Uze Brown-Washington made a statement from
the scene. “It’s like a war zone here,” said Ms. Brown-Washington. “It may
sound like a cliché, but it is very, very real down here. Theyre working as
fast as they can, of course. They've got some old military items in the
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basement there, which is why they keep pushing us back. It’s not that they
think they’'ve found another device, but because of what's happened to that
building. They don’t know if some of these old military shells that are
stored in the basement could be detonated and set off, so that’s why they're
pushing us back again.”

There were no media representatives witnessing this operation. The media
had been moved so far away from the Murrah Building that no one could
see the workers removing any old military items from the basement.
Reporters repeated what officials had told them to say to the public.

The removal of stored military shells from the lower levels of the building
would not actually occur until days later. Something else was happening at
this time that had nothing to do with the underground levels of the Murrah
Building.

The Sheriff’'s Department videotape made at this time showed firefighters
high up near the top of the mountain of debris, having to scale the side of
the mound to reach the items being removed. Some of the items were
thrown down to workers below, while others carried rifles and boxes of
ammunition to a medical stretcher where these things were being collected
for removal.

The statements made by officials about this particular operation were a
complete fabrication as well as an impossibility. The weapons and stored
ordnance on the mound could not have been blown upward from a base-
ment storage area to the top of the mound following the collapse of the
building. Nor could they have been launched from the basement area
through the building, remained airborne long enough for all of the floors to
collapse, and then descended together on top of the heap of debris. These
were the weapons and munitions that had fallen from the ruptured arsenal
room of the ninth-floor offices of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Fire-
arms—the existence of which would be universally denied for the next four
months.

It was at this time that KTOK Radio AM 1000 reported the discovery and
removal of a rocket launcher from the debris. This announcement origi-
nated with a rescue worker on the scene and was relayed to a KTOK
reporter near the perimeter. The news reporter was having a very hard
time explaining why a rocket launcher would be inside the Federal Build-
ing. After a rambling, confused conversation between the reporter and the
news anchor, it was finally speculated that the rocket launcher must have
been confiscated during a drug raid and that would account for its presence
in the Murrah Building.

There would be no further mention of the rocket launcher from any media
source until the afternoon press conference at 5:00 p.m., at which time
Bob Ricks, head of the Oklahoma City FBI, would deny knowing anything
about it.
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Uze Brown-Washington continued her report to KFOR Channel 4 Televi-
sion: “This situation ... when you think you've seen it all, there is something
worse. Weather forecaster Dan Threldkeld just arrived down here and he
said the rain is definitely coming, so they're taking that into consideration.
They've got triage set up outside, and they are trying to get rain gear out
now. We can see them handing out raincoats to do what they can to deal
with that situation.”

The afternoon had been muggy and still. The spring sunshine was only
occasionally diffused by clouds. But the clouds were becoming more
numerous and the wind was beginning to pick up and shift direction.
Within the hour the first wave of rain would reach the downtown area,
beginning with periods of drizzle interspersed with brief heavy downpours.
Local meteorologists refer to these small, self-contained thundershowers as
“storms of the popcorn variety” Rain would start and stop throughout the
rest of the day, often accompanied by much lightning, only to rapidly drift to
the northeast, pushed by the approaching storm front. By sunset the big
storms would arrive.

Counseling

At this time a new public bulletin was released. Representatives from the
Medical Examiner’s Office asked the community to stop calling. The tele-
phone lines were again jammed and cellular phone traffic was being
slowed, blocked, and disrupted between the emergency crews and rescue
agencies.

An announcement was also made concerning a central location being orga-
nized for the families of the victims who were frantically searching or
waiting for news of their loved ones:“If you have family members that are
missing or possibly dead, you are asked to physically go to the First Chris-
tian Church at NW 36™ and Walker. There is a Family Assistance Center set
up there for those of you concerned about immediate family members who
may be critically injured or possibly dead.

“In addition to emergency and rescue workers, there are also mental-health
officials standing by waiting to help people. Do not call the Church and
do not call the Medical Examiner’s Office; they cannot take phone calls.
Physically go to the Family Assistance Center at the First Christian Church
located at NW 36™ and Walker”

As the Family Assistance Center was becoming operational, phone banks at
the different television stations were being manned by mental-health offi-
cials who were fielding calls from members of the community. The number
of fatalities had shocked everyone—even though the official death toll at
this time was barely eleven percent of the final figure. No one was fully
prepared emotionally for what was yet to come.
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To help meet the mental-health needs of the community following the
bombing, Project Heartland was established as a free crisis-intervention and
counseling service. The program was operated by the State Department of
Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services, and was provided funding for
two years by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). The pro-
gram was proclaimed by Tipper Gore, wife of Vice President Al Gore, as a
national model for dealing with tragedy. However, Project Heartland was
intended only for short-term crisis intervention. People needing long-term
help would have to be integrated into a mental health program in the com-
munity.

In assessing the need for counselors and recovery programs, experts deter-
mined that on average each person has four to six other persons who could
be considered close family, and another five or six close friends. This meant
that for every person who was injured or killed there would be approxi-
mately twelve secondary victims.

When considering the number of persons treated at area hospitals and
those killed in the explosions, these experts decided that the tip of the
mental-health iceberg involved approximately ten thousand primary and
secondary victims who would require some kind of counseling. The
remainder of those assessed to be in need of mental-health assistance were
the thousands of emergency, rescue, recovery, and relief personnel who
were traumatized by the scene, and their family members. The projected
numbers were staggering.

Additionally, these same experts concluded that even persons who had lost
no friend or relative in the bombing and had not worked at the bomb site
were equally victimized. It was thought that being unable to take part
directly in the rescue or relief efforts was nearly as traumatic as participat-
ing! The experts believed that uninvolved persons must feel extremely
guilty for not doing more, for not being there, or perhaps for not being vic-
tims themselves.

While many of these assertions represent incredible leaps of speculation
and assumption, the fact remains that many persons—directly and indirectly
involved, as well as those uninvolved—did indeed suffer great emotional
trauma and required assistance to regain their sense of balance and security.
But many more persons did not.

It is certainly not the intent here to denigrate the need for counseling or to
speak disrespectfully of those persons who did endure great anxiety and
stress. For those who sought help and received great comfort and relief
from the ministrations of psychologists, it is a great victory in their lives to
regain emotional balance. This fact should never be minimized.

Nevertheless, it is undeniable that not everyone who endured great emo-
tional trauma required the intrusive treatment provided by psychologists
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and counselors. Many persons resented such intrusions into their private
lives and feelings.

Although there was much talk about the need for individualized counseling,
group coping sessions did not always provide it. Some victims complained
that the FEMA-funded programs failed to recognize that people respond to
tragedy and trauma differently and failed to acknowledge that human cop-
ing mechanisms alone can actually resolve even major emotional stress.

Even among trained counselors there was division of opinion about the
severity of anticipated future mental-health problems. Dr. Ronald S. Krug,
chairman of the Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences at the
University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, remarked, “Research data
from other disasters around the world has indicated that if we don’t get to
people in the first three to six months, we can expect some rather pro-
longed effects from the bombing.”

Krug also stated that his main concern was for people who did not feel that
they needed any help and therefore did not receive treatment from psycho-
logical counselors. He seemed determined to convince those who were
not suffering that they should be or would be.

Shauna Struby of Contact Telephone Helpline assessed the state of the com-
munity: “I think we have a community that is grieving. It will be a long
process, and we need to allow ourselves to do that. It's okay to cry. It’s
okay to cry months afterward.”

Coordinator of the Red Cross Mental Health Response Effort, Dusty
Bowencamp, commented on the future: “Things that were important before
aren’t important now. It's going to be a very difficult time for a lot of
people. Many will have a delayed reaction to the tragedy. They will move
into the anger and depression phase. Family problems will arise in which
rescue workers will be exhausted and will lash out at their families, feeling
that if you weren’t on the scene, you simply cannot understand.”

Bowencamp spoke movingly of counseling rescue workers who had been
holding the hand of injured and trapped victims at the time the Murrah
Building was evacuated for the 10:30 a.m. bomb scare. When the workers
returned, many of the victims were dead. Those rescuers were enduring the
greatest possible degree of guilt, but it was stressed that these workers
needed to accept that if they could have removed the trapped victims, they
wotdd have done so. The people buried in the rubble of the Murrah Build-
ing were usually inextricably trapped. Even if the rescuers had stayed
during the evacuation and worked feverishly at removal efforts, the victims
might still have died. There was no way to assess the extent of the injuries
of those victims.

All rescue workers suffering from this kind of agony imagined that had they
stayed, the victims would have lived. There was no way to know for a
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certainty if such a thing was true. But for the rescue workers it was a mat-
ter of great personal importance that could never be fully resolved factually.
They were going to simply have to believe.

Allyn S. Friedman, the Executive Director for Red Rock Mental Health
Center, stated that many persons were and would be experiencing post-
traumatic stress syndrome. “The Murrah bombing is something that is
totally out of line with a stable, predictable society, and it raises all kinds of
doubits, fears, and some of our scariest feelings.

“Their life and their world have been disrupted and they are wondering
when, how, and if things are ever going to be normal. But when another
tragedy happens someplace else, it’s also likely to trigger a negative reaction
in many of those people who thought they had finally recovered from the
Oklahoma City bombing.”

After months of comments similar to these, people began to wonder if we
would observe a self-fulfilling prophecy. Surely those who were convinced
that they needed to be suffering anxiety would then manifest those symp-
toms. If post-traumatic stress syndrome was now going to be the normal
reaction to the bombing, were you abnormal if you were not experienc-
ing those symptoms? After several months it was reported that some
uninvolved persons had begun calling the counseling centers because they
were not feeling ill at ease. They felt there was something wrong with that
because all of the “experts” had told them they should be suffering more. It
was a sad state of affairs.

Ministers and trained counselors from the local churches took a less intru-
sive approach to treatment. The Rev. C. Dene Brown, director of Skyline
Urban Ministry, stated,“Our church has decided to take the approach that if
we run into a real need, we're going to try to do something about it. We will
be here if we are needed, but we will not intrude into the private lives of
people.”

Ministry counseling involved discussing, analyzing, talking, and prayer.
Other comfort rituals were invoked, including vigils, worship services,
prayer meetings, memorial services, and candlelight services. In addition,
ministers usually counseled one on one with victims and secondary victims
rather than in group settings, recognizing that each person’s relationship
with God is vitally important to the healing of the heart and must be
respected.

Rev. Joe Williams, head of the chaplaincy for the Baptist General Conven-
tion, worked for nineteen straight days at the Oklahoma City bomb site. He
also serves as the chaplain for the FBI in Oklahoma. “I had been through
some debriefing,” said Williams, “and I got through a lot of that. But after the
family memorial service I went back to the office still carrying that stuff

with me.
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“When I looked at my own granddaughter, I couldn’t see her as a whole
person. I could see her possibly being blown apart. But I'm one hundred
percent better now. Sometimes even the counselors need counseling. But
for everyone it has to be by choice, not by intrusion.”

Because so many public and private mental-health agencies were involved
in counseling, it has never been accurately determined how many persons
in the community have sought help. The number of workers from out of
state seeking mental-health assistance as a result of the bombing has never
been calculated.

Mental-health workers would continue to deal with the fears and grief of
the community for months following the bombing. For adults who felt in
need of help, the counseling was voluntary. Assistance and support were
sought when needed, and once emotional balance was regained, the coun-
seling program ceased for that individual.

But eventually government-funded programs were developed for school-age
children and were implemented on a long-term basis. Although participa-
tion was supposed to be optional, it did not always work out that way.

In events of such magnitude as the bombing of the Murrah Building, there
will always be a variety of reactions, and the adjustment to life following the
incident will be different for every individual. In the case of the children,
the majority suffered no after-effects at all.

While it is certainly true that some children were fearful and upset by the
graphic television coverage to which they were subjected for the month
following the bombing, when that constant barrage ceased, the children
regained their stability and their lives continued without that constant
stress. Only a few children were so deeply affected that they still suffered
from anxiety a year after the event. The children most affected were the
ones who had been injured in the bombing, had been near the bomb site at
the time of the explosions, or lost loved ones as a result of the bombing.
Each child was different, and each child handled the tragedy in a different
way.

Yet for some reason known only to the “experts;” all children were to be
lumped together, often in group sessions during school hours, with little
allowance made for individuality, specific need, or lack of need. The govern-
ment-paid professionals were about to take over the scene, and they did so
without considering the desires of the parents.

Many parents felt that they were themselves best equipped to console, com-
fort, and teach their own children how to deal with fear, anxiety, and grief.
Others preferred the teachings of scripture and a reliance on religious faith
as their source of comfort for their families. These personal choices were
not going to be seriously considered by the psychological program direc-
tors, and at times were completely ignored.
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Seven weeks after the bombing, U.S. Assistant Secretary of Education and
former Oklahoma City School Superintendent Thomas Payzant visited
Oklahoma City district schools and came away commenting how surpris-
ingly resilient the students were following the bombing. Even the youngest
children were well-adjusted and had handled the great tragedy with an
unexpected degree of maturity and acceptance.

Nevertheless, Payzant was certain that the children would need more help
coping during the summer when they were away from the schools, and
would surely need help during the following school year. Payzant never
fully explained why he believed that a child’s absence from school during
the summer vacation would automatically result in an increase in bomb-
related anxiety; nor did he elaborate on the assumption that well-adjusted
children would become emotionally unbalanced when more closely aligned
with their parents rather than with the schools—as would be the case dur-
ing the summer.

Of even greater puzzlement was Payzant’s belief that these same well-
adjusted children would automatically revert to fear-driven, emotional
imbalance when school reconvened in the autumn. It seemed as if he had,
without individual assessment or examination, already diagnosed the entire
student body with post-traumatic stress syndrome, and the manifestation of
the symptoms was going to conveniently coincide with the resumption of
classes in the public schools.

Although he could find no immediate need for a massive counseling pro-
gram—as witnessed by his own statements following his professional
observation of the emotional stability of the children—Payzant still met
with School Superintendent Betty Mason to discuss the implementation of
a two-part program: counseling for students and families and the continua-
tion of counseling training for teachers.

Payzant's plan—which would be implemented with the cooperation of
other government agencies such as the State Department of Mental
Health—was not going to be altered even if no one needed his help. Said
Payzant enthusiastically, “We're working on long-term plans to pull the
pieces together so we get the best mileage out of our dollar” Having found
little overall need for the psychological program for the children, the best
Payzant could do was extol its administrative sleekness.

There was a great deal of community concern about the counseling pro-
grams for children that were to be operated under the direction of the
public schools. No matter what course of action might be needed to deal
with the emotional aspects of the Murrah Building bombing—whether it
was psychological counseling, family conferences, prayer, or any other cop-
ing system—it was generally believed by the public that the decision for
that action should rest with the individual, and in the case of children, with

the parents.
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The issue of psychological counseling in the public schools became a mat-
ter of great controversy, and it continues to be a source of hot division and
irritation in the community even now. The post-bomb psychological pro-
grams for children continue to the present day, much to the distress of many
parents. This counseling has occurred at times in direct violation of the
requests of parents who did not want their children to participate in the
profiling, testing, assessing, and counseling administered by the public
school system and designed by government agencies.

The idea that any government-sponsored psychological program could
replace or perform more successfully than the loving nurture of devoted
parents was abhorrent to many. To those who relied deeply on faith, the
secular humanistic approach of psychology was seen as sheer quackery. To
those who had already formed deep and abiding bonds of love and trust
with their children, the psychologists were viewed as very unwelcome
intruders into private matters that were no one else’s business. Occasion-
ally the children themselves objected to the counseling and found the
sessions more confusing and upsetting than helpful.

It was also aptly observed that there were many children who had peace-
fully adjusted after the bombing, who had no nightmares, who had no
overwhelming deep-seated anxieties that needed to be “discovered” and
“overcome” by psychological testing or counseling. Some parents felt that
the constant dwelling on the fears the children were supposed to have—
when they did not have them—was quite harmful. Some children who had
been previously settled in their minds about the bombing began to feel
pressured by their peers and the counselors to admit they had fears or con-
fess that they were still upset.

But the issue that raised the hackles of more parents in the Oklahoma City
area than any other was the plan to provide psychological counseling for
preschool children—the toddlers in the government-licensed day-care
centers—regardless of the degree of the child’s exposure to the Murrah
Building bombing.

This is a situation that as of this writing has not been resolved. The public
school system, which is only marginally answerable to the parents, is con-
tinuing to do what it wants to do, with the complete blessing of Governor
Frank Keating, and parents who complain or object publicly are taking great
risks by doing so.

This controversy stems from a gut-level conflict between those who believe
that parents do the best parenting and those who believe that the govern-
ment can do a better job of child-rearing and has an obligation to do so.
This second view has been laid before the public for consideration in the
book by Hillary Clinton entitled It Takes a Village.

Parents concerned that government was usurping their parental rights met
to discuss their views. In a small meeting held in late April 1996, they were
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reminded of the statement made by Harvard psychiatrist Chester M. Pierce.
During the 1973 International Education Seminar, Pierce, speaking as an
expert in public education, said:“Every child in America entering school at
the age of five is mentally ill because he comes to school with certain alle-
giances to our founding fathers, toward our elected officials, toward his
parents, toward a belief in a supernatural being, and toward the sovereignty
of this nation as a separate entity. It’s up to you as teachers to make all
these sick children well—by creating the international child of the future”

Many parents found this reasoning offensive. It was particularly disturbing
to learn that Pierce was still an influential teacher at Harvard University
twenty-two years after making that statement. It worried parents that a man
of Pierce’s prestige influenced the policy decisions of the schools. Some
saw the FEMA-funded psychological programs for children as an extension
of Pierce’s philosophy.

There were other similar situations that drove parents to seek legal confir-
mation of their parenting rights. Congressman Steve Largent (R-Tulsa)
acquired 125 co-sponsors for his “Parental Rights and Responsibilities Act”
(5.984 and H.R. 1946) which says—among many other things—that “no fed-
eral, state, or local government shall interfere with or usurp the right of a
parent to direct the upbringing of the child of the parent.” This proposed
legislation remains in committee in both the United States Senate and the
House of Representatives at the time of this writing.

The supporters of government-funded and -directed psychological assis-
tance, especially for children, made tactical errors in their push for official
sanction. In their haste to convince the public that there were huge num-
bers of suffering parents and children in Oklahoma desperately in need of
their expertise, they failed to consider how this might be viewed by the
courts.

At the change-of-venue hearing held on January 30, 1996, federal authorities
struggled in vain to keep the trial of the bombing suspects in the State of
Oklahoma. The defense, believing that Oklahomans had been too affected
by the bombing to provide an impartial jury pool for the trial, entered into
evidence videotapes of the media coverage of the bombing, newspaper and
magazine articles, and poll results indicating that the populace had already
prejudged the defendants.

In their efforts to disprove the allegations of the defense, federal prosecu-
tors called to the stand the same experts who had for months been telling
the citizens of Oklahoma how much we were in need of their help and how
we could not adequately adjust to life after the bombing without their gov-
ernment-directed psychological programs. These experts were suddenly
forced to testify under oath that since April 19, 1995—a period of just over
nine months—only about 5000 persons had sought their assistance, not the
staggering numbers they had set before the public in their efforts to gain
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widespread support and approval. The number of persons treated was
barely 1.28% of the population of Oklahoma City, and was less than one
percent of the population of Oklahoma County.

Out of a state population of almost 3.2 million persons, the judge did not
believe that the alleged psychological suffering of the citizens was great
enough to merit a change of venue. He did, however, determine that the
media saturation had been sufficiently biased and overwhelming to have
already convicted the men accused prior to due process. The trial site was
moved to Denver, Colorado. The federal prosecutors and FEMA-funded psy-
chiatric authorities were left stewing in their own juices, waiting for the
next propaganda opportunity.

From time to time thereafter additional attempts were made to remind the
public just how much we had been emotionally scarred. A week before the
one-year anniversary of the bombing, KOCO Channel 5 aired a television
special entitled “Broken Smiles” which focused on the reaction of children
to the bombing. During this same period newspaper articles began appear-
ing that stated that Oklahoma schoolchildren should not be required to take
the annual standardized tests because they were still so upset.

Many Oklahoma City residents simply watched and shook their heads in dis-
belief. It had become obvious that the federal agencies could not have it
both ways. The ruling of the court had fairly well put to rest the idea of
continued, eternal suffering as a result of the bombing. Life was indeed
going on in spite of efforts to stop it in its tracks a year previously.

We all knew we had been scarred by the bombing. There was no denying it.
And yet the remarkable thing about a scar is that when you see it, you can
remember every detail of the event that caused it. But once the wound has
become a scar, it doesn’t hurt you any longer. The memory may linger, but
the pain diminishes until it too is just a memory.

Those in need of psychological assistance will surely seck it and find their
way out of whatever troubles them. Others will pray and believe God to
heal their hearts as well as their physical ailments. Others will recover fully
with nothing more than the blessing of the passage of time.

Those who have sought to “help” by forcing us to constantly relive the
anguish and fear of April 19, 1995, in the anticipation of removing that fear
are approaching the problem from a wrong perspective. Much of that con-
cern is surely well-intentioned. But one does not have to look far to find
federally-funded aid programs that are taken to extremes, fueled by a desire
to perpetuate and expand one’s job and one’s importance to those who will
become dependent. There are some who consider intrusive psychological
treatment techniques in the same league as systematized emotional torment
with a manipulative goal. There are others who call it mind control. And
there are some who simply call it evil.

175 é 7/29/96, 9:22 AM

©-



176 & Oklahoma City: Day One

Evil enters like a needle
and spreads like an oak tree.

— Ethiopian Proverb
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DRAGON'’S TEETH

Peripheral Damage and Local Reports

The afternoon of April 19 was now waning. It had been announced that
President Clinton and Attorney General Janet Reno would be making live
televised speeches to the nation about the Oklahoma City bombing at any
moment. A second nationally televised press conference was scheduled to
begin immediately following, featuring all of the local players and officials
from Oklahoma City. But as could be expected on such a day, nothing was
running on time.

The media was marching in place, waiting for our leaders to step up to the
microphone and address the tragedy of the day. While we waited, other
interviews and statements were offered. Some initial assessment had been
made of damage to the buildings surrounding the bomb site. It did not look
good. Structures within a five-mile radius of the Murrah Federal Building
had sustained varying degrees of damage, ranging from simple glass break-
age to total collapse.

Jeff Lazalier spoke with Assistant Fire Chief Jon Hansen about the peripheral
damage and what this might mean to the community. Asked Lazalier:“Are
there any other buildings that are in serious danger right now?”

“Yes,” replied Hansen, “across the street. There are some area buildings, as
you can see, that have some pretty significant structural damage. These
people are going to have to get structural engineers in those buildings to
check the integrity prior to letting their employees back in. Again, I think
Mayor Norick this afternoon will have an announcement concerning if
people want to stay out of downtown tomorrow.”
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Most seriously damaged were the buildings across the street from and
immediately behind the Murrah Building. The Federal Courthouse, the
Regency Tower Apartment Building, the Journal Record Building, the Okla-
homa Water Resources Board Building, and the YMCA sustained millions of
dollars worth of damage.

The Athenian Restaurant and a taxi dispatch garage located across the street
north of the Murrah Building and to the west of the Journal Record Building
were now nothing more than mounds of debris. No part of their architec-
ture could be salvaged.

Damage to the taxi garage located near NW 6" Street. Entry into this garage was extremely
dangerous, but the access was restricted only by crime scene tape which eventually weath-
ered away. Although federal officials thought it best to implode the remains of the Murrah
Building for “safety reasons,” collapsed buildings such as this garage and the Athenian Res-
taurant have not been removed or repaired—over a year after the explosions.

Residents of the YMCA and the Regency Tower would be displaced for
months following the explosions while the buildings were being restored.
At the expense of the owners of the Regency Tower, residents were tempo-
rarily housed in nearby hotels and motels for nearly five months before they
could move back into their apartments. In all, well over 200 buildings and
residences within several miles of the Murrah Building suffered damage.
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St. Joseph's Old Cathedral at 519 N. Harvey, located across the street west
and one-half block south of the Murrah Building, had its roof blown com-
pletely off, and historic stained-glass windows were shattered.

The stained-glass windows were destroyed at the First United Methodist
Church at 131 NW 4™ located across the street east and behind the Federal
Building, and the balcony inside the church had collapsed in pieces. In
addition, the skylight and other windows were blown out and the roof had
been lifted up from the sanctuary.

Very shortly after the explosions smoke billowed from the roof of Investor's
Capital Building at 217 N. Harvey, located two blocks south of the Murrah
Building. Glass had shattered throughout the building, and it appeared
there might have been some foundation shifting.

Buildings throughout the area had cracks up the walls, and windows were
destroyed in every building in the vicinity. Smaller brick buildings in the
downtown area had been completely demolished. The roofs of two multi-
storied parking garages collapsed.

A half mile from the explosions, glass and structural damage could be
observed in every direction. Abuelita Rosa Mexican Cafe, located more than
a half-mile north and west of the Federal Building, had glass broken in every
window. The Civic Center Music Hall, located a half mile to the southwest,
showed cracks in the walls.

Damage was sustained in businesses even beyond the half-mile radius of the
explosions. The Law Center, located north of the Federal Building at 915 N.
Robinson, was filled with flying glass as the building shook dangerously.

At Merkel X-Ray Company, 225 NW 9" workers were blown from their
chairs and windows were shattered throughout. Farther north, glass
exploded at Dr. Richard Clay’s office at 415 NW 11". Beyond that, the
Wesley Village Retirement Community, 300 NW 12" was shaken severely
and windows shattered.

The beautiful stained-glass windows at the First Baptist Church at 1201 N.
Robinson were destroyed. A worker in the church thought the building
was going to fall down because it shook so badly.

At a one-mile radius north of the Murrah Building, the force of the explo-
sions was still intense. At the Devore Law Office, 1318 N. Robinson, insula-
tion, ceiling tiles, and twisted metal came crashing down in the offices, and
flying debris sent workers scurrying under their desks for safety. The heavy
double doors of the First Lutheran Church at 1300 N. Robinson burst open
by the force of the blasts.

All of downtown Oklahoma City had been affected by the bombing. Later
that afternoon as I drove through the area, I saw glass damage from the
concussions as far away as NW 23 Street, which is approximately two
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miles north of the Federal Building and as far west as Pennsylvania Avenue,
which is about three miles west.

For miles in every direction around the Murrah Building you could hear the
sound of broken glass being crushed beneath the tires of all moving
vehicles. The streets of downtown Oklahoma City were literally carpeted
with shards of glass.

At the heart of this disaster was the Murrah Federal Building. For those
working at the bomb site on April 19, there was definite trauma. There was
shock and revulsion on an unimaginable scale. Most participants in the res-
cue operation sought some form of immediate emotional release after
leaving the bomb site, but wherever you went in the area, there were visible
reminders. For anyone with a desire to tell their story, there was always a
media representative ready and waiting with a microphone at the perim-
cter.

For persons at home following the coverage of the event on television, any
news of any kind was almost a form of comfort. It was better to know than
to wonder, because after the experience of the morning people were fright-
ened and confused. As horrifying and gruesome as the news was, it was far
better—and felt far safer—than to be at the mercy of one’s imagination.

KWTV reporter Cynthia Gunn interviewed two Oklahoma Highway Patrol
officers. One young officer was unidentified, the other was Craig Metcalf, a
trooper of many years’ experience. Ms. Gunn asked the questions that
everyone wanted to ask:“Tell us what you saw and what you were able to
do”

The younger officer responded first. “We saw just total devastation,” he said.
“There are people that you can’t get to. The building is not safe at this time,
and you don’t know where to start. We're just trying to get everybody
rounded up. Now we have a storm moving in, and the building is just not
secure.”

Ms. Gunn questioned Officer Metcalf:“You were telling me that the children
that you saw were the worst sight?”

“Yes, ma’am,” said Officer Metcalf. “We don’t know how many children are
in there. I carried two out that had expired. We don’t know how many
adults are in there. I carried five expired people out. As you can see, you've
got to be careful. The building is not structurally sound, and people are
doing their best. We got who we could. We were able to bring two people
alive out of there, and that made up for the five that I had to carry out.”

“And that is the real incentive, isn’t it?” asked Ms. Gunn. “Finding living sur-
vivors keeps you going?”
“We can hear them but we can’t get to them,” said the younger officer.

Metcalf continued, “Now the dogs are in there looking for them, trying to
help us out, but with this storm coming in, the building is not safe. You
don’t know where it's going to fall out from under you. But we're trying to
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Damage to the Athenian Restaurant located directly across the street from the Murrah Building,

This damage still stands over a year after the explosions.

get the people we can. Now we're changing shifts and letting fresh people
go in.”

The younger officer offered these comments. “It just gets worse the more
you look at it. It looks like a bomb shattered everything. The buildings
across the street are what are amazing to me. It blew desks back and
people in the [Journal Record] building were pinned behind their desks.

“[Officer Metcalf] went up further than I did, up to the third floor. The
problem was, we would get up to the third floor and they’d yell ‘Bomb!’
and we’d have to run back out. When I first got here, I ran three straight
blocks as hard as I could because we thought there was another bomb.”

“What was the most frightening moment for you in there?” asked Ms. Gunn.

Officer Metcalf thought gravely for a moment and answered. “When we
were trying to carry people out and they yelled ‘Bomb!” That was tough.
We had a lady in there that was still alive and we didn’t want to leave her.
They were yelling at us to come on and get out of there. But when you've
got a live person, it doesn’t make any difference. You try to stay with them.

“The worst part was having to leave her, but we did go back and get her.
She is alive and is on her way to one of the hospitals. That’s all I can tell you,
ma'am.”

“One thing we haven’t talked about,” said Ms. Gunn,“is the emotion you all
must feel. When you look at what someone did—deliberately killing
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people, maiming people, hurting people—how do you feel about what hap-
pened today in Oklahoma City at the Federal Building?”

The younger officer replied, “The first thing I told [Officer Metcalf] was,
who would have thought that in Oklahoma City it would have happened.
We've just never seen anything like it. We look at tornadoes all the time, and
this is nothing like a tornado. It blew the whole side of the building off, and
the building across the street that was two stories high has been leveled.”

A KFOR cameraman was interviewed by reporter Brad Riggins. The camera-
man had managed to get inside the perimeter and offered a report to the
public. He was the only member of the media who had been near the
ground-zero area since the 10:30 a.m. bomb scare, when all media were
removed from the scene.

“I rode in," said the cameraman, “with an emergency medical worker with-
out my camera to try to see what I could down there. When I did get down
there, it was unbelievable. It was the first time that I had actually seen the
damage. The closest I'd ever gotten was about two blocks away. But I was
at ground zero.

“There were still a lot of federal agents and there were dogs searching for
survivors or for bombs. The medical worker with me told me that he drove
by a little earlier today and looked into the side of one of the buildings and
actually saw a man still sitting at his desk like he was working, but he was
dead with the phone in his hand.

“There are still a lot of people there—a lot of activity—which was kind of
surprising to me. I figured most of the people would have been on the
inside of the building. But the whole downtown area is covered with emer-
gency personnel at this moment.”

In another interview, Larry Jones, founder and director of Feed the Children,
was asked,“What's the latest you can tell us about what your people are
doing?”

“I just came from the area,” replied Jones. “There just aren’t any words that
can express what's being said over there. There's basically very little hope
for those who are left in there when you see the magnitude of the bomb-
ing—what took place. They're getting ready to start bringing people out as
I speak now,and this is just a very, very sad moment, because as things have
settled down, everybody is facing the reality of the moment. There is going
to be a large number of body bags that are going to be brought in there. So
I think Oklahoma City needs to brace itself for the number of people that
have been killed in that building.”

In an unfortunate and inadvertent juxtaposition of media reports, KTOK
Radio AM 1000 then announced that 300 adult-sized body bags had been
requested by emergency workers on the scene, and 200 were being taken
into the perimeter at that time by rescue workers from Fort Sill.
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Upon hearing this news, an even more oppressive weight began to settle on
everyone. Motorists throughout the state began to drive with their head-
lights on as an indication of great mourning and deep grief.

Those headlights became the symbol for sympathetic hugs between strang-
ers on the streets and highways. To the Highway Patrol troopers and
National Guardsmen who manned